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The franchise is to operate a business that provides a unique proprietary format and process relating to the 
development and operation of a stand-alone fast casual restaurants serving premium Halal style cuisine (a 
“Franchise Business”). 

The total investment necessary to begin operation of a Shah’s Halal franchise is $207,000 to $410,000. This 
includes $40,000 to $55,000 that must be paid to the franchisor or affiliate. 

This disclosure document summarizes certain provisions of your franchise agreement and other information 
in plain English. Read this disclosure document and all accompanying agreements carefully. You must 
receive this disclosure document at least 14 calendar-days before you sign a binding agreement with, or 
make any payment to, the franchisor or an affiliate in connection with the proposed franchise sale. Note, 
however, that no governmental agency has verified the information contained in this document. 

You may wish to receive your disclosure document in another format that is more convenient for you. To 
discuss the availability of disclosures in different formats, contact Shah’s Halal Franchising at 
franchise@shahshalalfood.com. 

The terms of your contract will govern your franchise relationship. Don’t rely on the disclosure document 
alone to understand your contract. Read the entire contract carefully. Show your contract and this disclosure 
document to an advisor, like a lawyer or an accountant. 

Buying a franchise is a complex investment. The information in this disclosure document can help you 
make up your mind. More information on franchising, such as “A Consumer’s Guide to Buying a 
Franchise,” which can help you understand how to use this disclosure document, is available from the 
Federal Trade Commission. You can contact the FTC at 1-877-FTC-HELP or by writing to the FTC at 600 
Pennsylvania Avenue, NW, Washington, D.C. 20580. You can also visit the FTC’s home page at 
www.ftc.gov for additional information. Call your state agency or visit your public library for other sources 
of information on franchising. 

There may also be laws on franchising in your state. Ask your state agencies about them. 

Issuance Date: April 10, 2024 
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HOW TO USE THIS FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT 

Here are some questions you may be asking about buying a franchise and tips on how to find more 
information: 

QUESTION WHERE TO FIND INFORMATION 

How much can I earn? Item 19 may give you information about outlet sales, 
costs, profits, or losses. You should also try to obtain this 
information from others, like current and former 
franchisees. You can find their names and contact 
information in Item 20 or Exhibit G.  

How much will I need to invest? Items 5 and 6 list fees you will be paying to the franchisor 
or at the franchisor’s direction. Item 7 lists the initial 
investment to open. Item 8 describes the suppliers you 
must use.  

Does the franchisor have the financial 
ability to provide support to my business? 

Item 21 or Exhibit H includes financial statements. 
Review these statements carefully.  

Is the franchise system stable, growing, or 
shrinking? 

Item 20 summarizes the recent history of the number of 
company-owned and franchised outlets.  

Will my business be the only Shah’s 
Halal Restaurant in my area? 

Item 12 and the “territory” provisions in the franchise 
agreement describe whether the franchisor and other 
franchisees can compete with you.  

Does the franchisor have troubled legal 
history? 

Items 3 and 4 tell you whether the franchisor or its 
management have been involved in material litigation or 
bankruptcy proceedings.  

What’s it like to be a Shah’s Halal 
Restaurant? 

Item 20 or Exhibit G lists current and former licensees / 
franchisees. You can contact them to ask about their 
experiences.  

What else should I know? These questions are only a few things you should look for. 
Review all 23 Items and all Exhibits in this disclosure 
document to better understand this franchise opportunity. 
See the table of contents.  
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WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW ABOUT FRANCHISING GENERALLY 

Continuing responsibility to pay fees. You may have to pay royalties and other fees even if you are losing 
money. 

Business model can change. The franchise agreement may allow the franchisor to change its manuals and 
business model without your consent. These changes may require you to make additional investments in 
your franchise business or may harm your franchise business. 

Supplier restrictions. You may have to buy or lease items from the franchisor or a limited group of 
suppliers the franchisor designates. These items may be more expensive than similar items you could buy 
on your own. 

Operating restrictions. The franchise agreement may prohibit you from operating a similar business 
during the term of the franchise. There are usually other restrictions. Some examples may include 
controlling your location, your access to customers, what you sell, how you market, and your hours of 
operation. 

Competition from franchisor. Even if the franchise agreement grants you a territory, the franchisor may 
have the right to compete with you in your territory. 

Renewal. Your franchise agreement may not permit you to renew. Even if it does, you may have to sign a 
new agreement with different terms and conditions in order to continue to operate your franchise business. 

When your franchise ends. The franchise agreement may prohibit you from operating a similar business 
after your franchise ends even if you still have obligations to your landlord or other creditors. 

SOME STATES REQUIRE REGISTRATION 

Your state may have a franchise law, or other law, that requires franchisors to register before offering or 
selling franchises in the state. Registration does not mean that the state recommends the franchise or has 
verified the information in this document. To find out if your state has a registration requirement, or to 
contact your state, use the agency information in Exhibit B. 

Your state also may have laws that require special disclosures or amendments to be made to your franchise 
agreement. If so, you should check the State Specific Addenda. See the Table of Contents for the Location 
of the State Specific Addenda. 
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SPECIAL RISKS TO CONSIDER ABOUT THIS FRANCHISE 

Certain states require that the following risk(s) be highlighted: 

1. Out-of-State Dispute Resolution. The franchise agreement requires you to resolve 
disputes with us by litigation or arbitration in New York. Out-of-state dispute resolution 
may force you to accept a less favorable settlement for disputes. It may also cost you more 
to arbitrate with us in New York than in your own state. 

Certain states may require other risks to be highlighted. Check the “State Specific Addenda” listed on 
Exhibit A to see whether your state requires other risks to be highlighted. 
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ITEM 1:  THE FRANCHISOR AND ANY PARENTS, PREDECESSORS, AND AFFILIATES 

To simplify the language in this disclosure document, “Franchisor”, “Shah’s Halal”, “we”, “us” or 
“our” means Shah’s Halal Franchising Inc., the franchisor. “You” means the individual, corporation, or 
other entity that buys a Shah’s Halal Restaurant franchise. 

Franchisor, Parents, Predecessors, and Affiliates 

Shah’s Halal Franchising Inc. is a New York corporation. We conduct business under the name 
Shah’s Halal. Our principal business address is 6500 New Horizons Blvd., Amityville, NY  11701. We are 
wholly owned subsidiary of Shah’s Halal Food Partners, Inc. a New York corporation (“Shah’s Halal 
Food” or “Parent”).  Shah’s Halal Franchising, Inc. does not itself operate any fast casual style restaurants 
like those being offered to franchisees. 

We offer franchises for the development of fast causal style restaurants, specializing in providing 
premium halal style cuisine with a focus on meats, vegetables, and an array of sauces in the United States 
and have done so since 2005 (“Shah’s Halal Restaurant(s)”). We have never offered franchises in any 
other line of business. All intellectual property including, but not limited to the brand, logos, service marks, 
trademarks, slogans, symbols, and designs (the “Proprietary Marks”), systems, databases, technology, 
hardware, software, printers, and documentation are owned as described in Items 13 and 14 hereof and are 
available to us under license. 

Shah’s Halal Food was established in Queens New York in 2005 by Ibrahim, Shafiq, Rahimullah, 
and Khalid Mashriqi. The family operation began out of their home where they cooked their family’s 
signature Halal style cuisine and sold it from a food cart, in hopes of one day expanding and bringing their 
delicious food to customers across the country. With support from their local community, as well as the 
increase in demand for premium Halal style cuisine, Shah’s Halal Food was born. As Shah’s Halal Food 
and its affiliates continue to grow, the Mashriqi family emphasizes maintaining the utmost care in the 
preparation of their family recipes to ensure excellent customer experiences for customers of all 
communities. The Shah’s Halal Restaurant recipes and flavors come from the Middle East, more 
specifically Afghanistan, and all meats served are not only completely Halal, but are also processed and 
prepared under conformity with all USDA and Health regulations. Since 2005, Shah’s Halal Food and its 
affiliates have grown to now include food trucks, carts, and restaurants. Shah’s Halal Food and its affiliates 
also own and operate their own USDA processing facilities and manufacturing stations to provide services 
for all Shah’s Halal Restaurant locations. There are many reasons customers love Shah’s Halal Restaurants, 
but the team contributes their unwavering and continued success to the tested formula of a simple menu, 
quality food, affordable pricing, and a commitment to excellence in Halal style cuisine. 

Parent / Predecessor 

Our parent company, Shah’s Halal Food, is a New York corporation and maintains its principal 
place of business at 76-33 166th Street, Fresh Meadows, New York 11366. Our Parent was formed in New 
York in 2017. As of June 2020, our Parent does not operate any businesses similar to the Franchise 
Business. Our Parent has licensed the right to use the Proprietary Marks for their use by licensees in Shah’s 
Halal Restaurants. Our Parent has never offered franchises in any other line of business, and our Parent no 
longer offers licenses or franchises in this or any other line of business. 

Affiliates 

We are affiliated by common ownership with Shahs Palisades Inc. (“Shah’s Palisades”), a New 
York corporation which was organized in 2018 with its principal place of business at 4342 Palisades Center 
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Drive West Nyack, NY  10994. As of August 1, 2020, Shah’s Palisades owns and operates one (1) corporate 
restaurant similar to the Franchise Business. Shah’s Palisades has not offered franchises in any line of 
business. 

We are affiliated by common ownership with Shahs Hauppauge Inc. (“Shah’s Hauppauge”), a 
New York corporation which was organized in 2019 with its principal place of business at 918 E. Jericho 
Turnpike Suite 4, NY  11746. As of August 1, 2020, Shah’s Hauppauge owns and operates one (1) corporate 
restaurant similar to the Franchise Business. Shah’s Hauppauge has not offered franchises in any line of 
business. 

We are affiliated by common ownership with Shahs East Meadow Inc. (“Shah’s East Meadow”), 
a New York corporation which was organized in 2018 with its principal place of business at 1920 
Hempstead Turnpike East Meadow, NY  11554. As of August 1, 2020, Shah’s East Meadow owns and 
operates one (1) corporate restaurant similar to the Franchise Business. Shah’s East Meadow has not offered 
franchises in any line of business. 

We are affiliated by common ownership with Shahs Selden Inc. (“Shah’s Selden”), a New York 
corporation which was organized in 2017 with its principal place of business at 1245 Middle Country Road, 
Selden, NY  11784. As of August 1, 2020, Shah’s Selden owns and operates one (1) corporate restaurant 
similar to the Franchise Business. Shah’s Selden has not offered franchises in any line of business. 

We are affiliated by common ownership with Shahs Green Acres Mall Inc. (“Shah’s Green Acres 
Mall”), a New York corporation which was organized in 2018 with its principal place of business at 2034 
Green Acres Mall, Valley Stream, NY  11581. As of August 1, 2020, Shah’s Green Acres Mall owns and 
operates one (1) corporate restaurant similar to the Franchise Business. Shah’s Green Acres Mall has not 
offered franchises in any line of business. 

We are affiliated by common ownership with Taabid Food Corp. (“Taabid Food”), a New York 
corporation which was organized in 2017 with its principal place of business at 120-23 Liberty Avenue 
South Richmond Hill, NY  11419. As of August 1, 2020, Taabid Food owns and operates one (1) corporate 
restaurant similar to the Franchise Business. Taabid Food has not offered franchises in any line of business. 

We are affiliated by common ownership with Isa Halal Food Corp. (“Isa Halal Food”), a New 
York corporation which was organized in 2016 with its principal place of business at 3334 Hillside Avenue, 
New Hyde Park, NY  11040. As of August 1, 2020, Isa Halal Food owns and operates one (1) corporate 
restaurant similar to the Franchise Business. Isa Halal Food has not offered franchises in any line of 
business. 

We are affiliated by common ownership with Shah’s Halal Food, Inc. (“Shah Halal Food Corp”), 
a New York corporation with its principal place of business at 6530 Kissena Blvd, Flushing, NY  11367. 
As of August 1, 2020, Shah Halal Food Corp owns and operates a corporate restaurant similar to the 
Franchise Business. Shah Halal Food Corp has not offered franchises in any line of business. 

We are affiliated by common ownership with Shah’s Riverhead Inc. (“Shah’s Riverhead”), a New 
York corporation which was organized in 2019 with its principal place of business at 1767 Old Country 
Road, Riverhead, NY  11901. As of August 1, 2020, Shah’s Riverhead owns and operates one (1) corporate 
restaurant similar to the Franchise Business. Shah’s Riverhead has not offered franchises in any line of 
business. 

We are affiliated by common ownership with My Zam Zam Corp. (“My Zam Zam”), a New York 
corporation which was organized in 2013 with its principal place of business at 285 S Broadway #5, 
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Hicksville, NY  11801. As of August 1, 2020, My Zam Zam owns and operates one (1) corporate restaurant 
similar to the Franchise Business. My Zam Zam has not offered franchises in any line of business. 

We are affiliated by common ownership with Shahs Centereach Inc. (“Shah’s Centereach”), a 
New York corporation which was organized in 2018 with its principal place of business at Kew Gardens 
Road and Queens Boulevard, Kew Gardens, NY  11415. As of August 1, 2020, Shah’s Centereach owns 
and operates one (1) corporate restaurant similar to the Franchise Business. Shah’s Centereach has not 
offered franchises in any line of business. 

We are affiliated by common ownership with Shah’s Halal Food Duncan, Inc. (“Shah’s Duncan”), 
a Canadian entity which was organized in 2020 with its principal place of business at 65 Duncan Street,  
Toronto, ON M5V 2C5 Canada. As of August 1, 2020, Shah’s Duncan owns and operates one (1) corporate 
restaurant similar to the Franchise Business. Shah’s Duncan has not offered franchises in any line of 
business. 

We are affiliated by common ownership with Shah’s Management, Inc. (“Shah’s Management”), 
a New York corporation which was organized in 2020 with its principal place of business at 12 Hattie 
Court, Hicksville, NY  11801. Shah’s Management has never operated a business similar to the Franchise 
Business and has never offered franchises in any line of business. 

We are affiliated by common ownership with Shah’s Halal Food & Products, Inc. (“Shah’s Halal 
Food & Products”), a New York corporation which was organized in 2015 with its principal place of 
business at 13915 95th Avenue. Jamaica, NY  11435. Shah’s Halal Food & Products has never operated a 
business similar to the Franchise Business and has never offered franchises in any line of business. 

We are affiliated by common ownership with Shah’s Catering, Inc. (“Shah’s Catering”), a New 
York corporation which was organized in 2019 with its principal place of business at 285 S Broadway, 
Suite 5, Hicksville, NY  11801. Shah’s Catering has never operated a business similar to the Franchise 
Business and has never offered franchises in any line of business. 

We are affiliated by common ownership with Gul M Corp (“Gul M”), a New York corporation 
which was organized in 2015 with its principal place of business at 138-62 94th Avenue, Jamaica, NY 
11435. Gul M has never operated a business similar to the Franchise Business and has never offered 
franchises in any line of business. 

We are affiliated by common ownership with Gulib M LLC (“Gulib M”), a New York limited 
liability company which was organized in 2019 with its principal place of business at 13862 94th Avenue, 
Jamaica, NY  11435. Gulib M has never operated a business similar to the Franchise Business and has never 
offered franchises in any line of business. 

We are affiliated by common ownership with Shah’s Halal New Horizons Processing Inc. (“Shah’s 
Halal New Horizons”), a New York corporation which was organized in 2020 with its principal place of 
business at 13862 94th Avenue. Jamaica, NY 11435. Shah’s Halal New Horizons has never operated a 
business similar to the Franchise Business and has never offered franchises in any line of business. 

We are affiliated by common ownership with Gran Watan Inc. (“Gran Watan”), a New York 
corporation which was organized in 2011 with its principal place of business at 13862 94th Avenue, Jamaica, 
NY  11435. Gran Watan has never operated a business similar to the Franchise Business and has never 
offered franchises in any line of business. 
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Agent for Service of Process 

Our agents for service of process in the states which require franchise registration are disclosed in 
Exhibit C.  

The Franchise Offered 

The Shah’s Halal Restaurant franchise, which is being franchised to you as a Franchise Business, 
has developed a unique and distinctive system, owned by us (“System”).  

We are offering, under the terms of the Franchise Agreement, the opportunity to become a 
franchisee to develop and operate a business which sells premium halal style cuisine (the “Franchise 
Business”). The Franchise Business does not serve entrees or other food items. Your Franchise Business 
will operate in a designated territory offering a proprietary system we have developed for serving customers 
premium halal style food we have developed for our menu (the “Products”). The Products described herein 
are a sample of the Products that will be offered by the Franchise Business. 

If you own a Franchise Business, you will have access to the full range of products which have 
been created by us. Currently we have several different types of dishes that include chicken over rice, lamb 
over rice, falafel, gyros, freshly cut salads, as well as an array of sauces and toppings to choose from. 

You will not be permitted to offer rights to operate the Franchise Business to sub-franchisees. 

If you are an individual, you must become a newly organized corporate entity when you sign the 
Franchise Agreement, or shortly thereafter, and in all events prior to the time you open your Franchise 
Business, and your operating agreement or corporate bylaws must at all times state that your activities are 
confined exclusively to developing and operating the Franchise Business according to the Franchise 
Agreement. 

Competition 

There are companies such as The Halal Guys, Naz’s Halal Food, and Hamza & Madina Halal Food 
that offer Products similar to ours. However, your competitors will vary depending on your territory. 

Applicable Regulations 

The restaurant and food service industry is heavily regulated. Many of the laws, rules and 
regulations that apply to businesses generally have particular applicability to food service establishments. 
All Shah’s Halal Restaurants must comply with federal, state and local laws applicable to the operation and 
licensing of food service businesses, including all health, sanitation, no smoking, EEOC, OSHA, insurance, 
discrimination, employment, and sexual harassment laws. The Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 
requires readily accessible accommodations for disabled people and may affect your building construction, 
site design, entrance ramps, doors, seating, bathrooms, drinking facilities, etc. You must also obtain real 
estate permits, licenses, and operational licenses. You should consider the cost and time required to comply 
with these laws and regulations when evaluating a Shah’s Halal Restaurant franchise. 

The U.S. Food and Drug Administration, the U.S. Department of Agriculture and state and local 
health departments administer and enforce regulations that govern food preparation and service and 
restaurant sanitary conditions. State and local agencies inspect restaurants to ensure that they comply with 
these laws and regulations. Certain provisions of these laws impose limits on emissions resulting from 
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commercial food preparation. Compensation of restaurant employees (including minimum wage and 
overtime requirements) is governed by both federal and state laws. 

The Federal Clean Air Act and various state laws require certain state and local areas to meet 
national air quality standards limiting emissions of ozone, carbon monoxide and particles, including caps 
on emissions from commercial food preparation. Some state and local governments also regulate indoor air 
quality, including limiting the use of tobacco products in public places, such as restaurants. 

The United States enacted the “Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools 
Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001” (the “USA Patriot Act”). We are required to 
comply with the USA Patriot Act. To help us comply with the USA Patriot Act, we ask you in the Franchise 
Agreement to confirm for us that neither you nor your directors, officers, shareholders, partners, members, 
employees, or agents are suspected terrorists or persons associated with suspected terrorists or are under 
investigation by the U.S. government for criminal activity. You may review the Patriot Act and related 
regulations at: http://www.treasury.gov/offices/enforcement/ofac/sdn. 
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ITEM 2:  BUSINESS EXPERIENCE 

Khalid Mashriqi – Chief Executive Officer  

Khalid Mashriqi is the Chief Executive Officer of Shah’s Halal Franchising Inc. He has held this 
position with the company since it was founded in 2020. He also serves as the President and Treasurer of 
Shah’s Halal Food Partners, Inc., and has held these positions since the formation of Shah’s Halal Food 
Partners, Inc. in 2017.  He also is the co-owner and president of many of our affiliates. He currently serves 
in his positions out of the offices in Jamaica, New York, and Amityville, New York. 

 
Ibrahim Mashriqi – President 

Ibrahim Mashriqi is the President of Shah’s Halal Franchising Inc. He has held this position since 
the company was founded in 2020. In his role with Shah’s Halal Franchising Inc., Mr. Mashriqi manages 
store prototype and architectural designs which includes all layouts and operational flows and works with 
franchisees during the construction phase of their Franchise Businesses. As one of the founders of Shah’s 
Halal, Mr. Mashriqi also creates recipes and tests new options for Shah’s menu items and all of Shah’s 
products. Mr. Mashriqi has been an owner/shareholder of Gul M since 2015. Mr. Mashriqi currently serves 
in his position out of the offices in Jamaica, New York. 

 
Rahimullah Mashriqi – Vice President and Chief Operating Officer 

Rahimullah Mashriqi is the Vice President of Shah’s Halal Franchising Inc. He has held this 
position with the company since it was founded in 2020. Mr. Mashriqi is in charge of business operations, 
technology, accounting, and training. He also serves as the President and Treasurer of Shah’s Halal Food 
Partners, Inc. and has held these positions since the formation of Shah’s Halal Food Partners, Inc. in 2017.  
He also is the co-owner and president of many of our affiliates. He currently serves in his positions out of 
the offices in Amityville, New York. 

 
Shafiq Mashriqi – Treasurer / Founder 

Shafiq Mashriqi is the Treasurer of Shah’s Halal Franchising Inc.  He has held this position with 
the company since its formation in 2020.  In addition to company treasurer duties, Mr. Mashriqi works with 
vendors to ensure supply and inventory availability and works with logistics to ensure products are sent 
properly to their intended locations. Mr. Mashriqi is also involved in the franchisee site selection process. 
Mr. Mashriqi has also been an owner/shareholder of Gul M since 2015 and evaluates product quality and 
prices, utilizing his expertise in inventory, price trends, and marketing. The name “Shah’s” comes from 
Shafiq, as it was his childhood nickname. Mr. Mashriqi is one of the founders of Shah’s Halal, and he was 
the first person to ever serve the signature dishes of Shah’s Halal Food on the food cart in Richmond Hill. 
Since 2008, Mr. Mashriqi has served as President and owner of Gran Watan, managing and supplying all 
inventory and price trends. 

 
Dr. Khalida Mashriqi – Franchise Director 

Dr. Khalida Mashriqi is the Franchise Director of Shah’s Halal Franchising Inc., and she has held 
this position with the company since October 2023.  Dr. Mashriqi will oversee franchising and franchise 
compliance for Shah’s Halal, conduct initial meetings with prospective franchisees, and will manage the 
execution and management of franchise agreements.  Prior to joining Shah’s Halal, Dr. Mashriqi worked 
for the New York City Department of Education.  From 2007 to October 2015, Dr. Mashriqi was a library 
media specialist, and from October 2015 to October 2023, Dr. Mashriqi was an attendance teacher/officer, 
where she analyzed data to improve attendance policies and practices, working with parents and students 
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to improve attendance, and creating resources to support schools and students reach attendance goals. Dr. 
Mashriqi obtained a Masters in Library Science from Queens College in June 2005 and obtained her 
Educational Doctor Degree in Educational Administration from the University of Phoenix in June 2012. 
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ITEM 3:  LITIGATION 

No litigation information is required to be disclosed in this item. 
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ITEM 4:  BANKRUPTCY 

No bankruptcy information is required to be disclosed in this item. 
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ITEM 5:  INITIAL FEES 

Initial Fee 

The initial franchise fee for the right to operate a single full sized Franchise Business is between 
$40,000 and $60,000 (“Initial Franchise Fee”). If you are an honorably discharged veteran of the United 
States military that purchases a Franchise Business, we will discount your Initial Franchise Fee for your 
first Franchise Business by ten percent (10%). 

This fee is non-refundable and is (1) fully payable upon execution of the Franchise Agreement and 
(2) deemed fully earned by us upon receipt. 

Initial Inventory 

You will purchase from us or one of our Affiliates an initial proprietary inventory package for your 
Franchise Business. This initial proprietary inventory package contains the proprietary spices and other 
inventory items which are required to be purchased from us or one of our Affiliates pursuant to Item 8 
hereof prior to the opening of your Shah’s Halal Restaurant (the “Initial Proprietary Inventory 
Package”). The initial proprietary inventory package (“Initial Proprietary Inventory Package Fee”) cost 
is expected to between $10,000 to $30,000.  There are additional supplies such as certain perishable food 
items you will purchase from third-party suppliers. The Initial Proprietary Inventory Package may not 
include all the inventory and equipment required to operate your Shah’s Halal Restaurant. It is your 
responsibility to obtain the balance of any inventory and equipment necessary to operate the Shah’s Halal 
Restaurant. 
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ITEM 6:  OTHER FEES 

Type of Fee1 Amount Due Date Remarks 

Royalty 5% of Gross 
Revenue2  

Payable weekly. 
This will be 
collected on 
Monday of each 
week unless 
collected monthly 
as of the first week 
of the month. 

Royalty Fees are payable by 
automatic debit, and funds 
must be made available in 
your account for withdrawal. 
All weekly earnings reports 
are due by Sunday each week 
for the previous week. 

Proprietary Marketing 
Fund 

1% of Gross 
Revenue  

Payable weekly. 
This will be 
collected on 
Monday of each 
week unless 
collected monthly 
as of the first week 
of the month. 

We will use this to cover, 
among other things, collection 
of customer data, customer 
feedback and mystery 
shopping. All weekly earnings 
reports are due by Sunday 
each week for the previous 
week. 

Local Advertising and 
Marketing 

1% of Gross 
Revenue 

Must be spent 
monthly - paid 
directly to 
advertising vendors 

The amount you spend on 
marketing must be reported to 
us on a quarterly basis. This is 
in addition to your Marketing 
Fund contributions. Any 
advertising you propose to use 
must be approved by us. All 
advertising submitted to us for 
our review will become our 
property. 

Annual Conference Fee $500 per year, if 
established 

If established, we 
will bill you no less 
than 60 days before 
the annual 
conference. 

 

 

Technology and social 
media Fee 

In an amount to be 
determined, we 
reserve the right to 
implement a fee for 
these services. 

If applicable, 
payable on the 10th 
day of the month 
for the preceding 
month. 

We do not currently have a 
Technology and Social Media 
fee; if established we 
anticipate that the monthly fee 
will be approximately between 
1% and 2% of Gross Revenue. 
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Type of Fee1 Amount Due Date Remarks 

Insurance Cost of procuring 
insurance for you. 

If incurred If you do not provide proof of 
insurance for your Franchise 
Business, we may procure it 
on your behalf and charge you 
the cost of procuring this 
insurance, including an 
administrative fee of $2,500 
payable to us. 

Transfer Fee 50% of the then 
current initial 
franchise fee. 

Prior to 
consummation of 
the transfer 

Payable if you sell your 
franchise. 

Audit Fee Cost of the audit if 
we discover you 
have under reported 
by more than 5%. 

Upon demand  

Interest on Late 
Payments 

A late fee of not less 
than $30 per day 
while an amount is 
overdue. 

Upon demand Payable on all overdue 
amounts. 

Additional Onsite 
Training 

Our then-current 
additional training 
fee (currently $30 
per hour per 
instructor if in one 
of our New York 
Restaurants or $85 
per hour per 
instructor at your 
Shah’s Halal 
Restaurant) plus our 
expenses (including 
travel/airfare and 
hotel expenses if at 
your Shah’s Halal 
Restaurant). 

When required Additional periodic refresher 
or supplemental training as 
required by the Franchise 
Agreement (and franchisee 
performance) 

Renewal Fee 25% of the then 
current initial 
franchise fee. 

Prior to execution 
of the renewal 
documents. 

Payable if you renew your 
franchise. 

Prohibited Product or 
Service Fee 

$250 per day of use 
of unauthorized 
products or services. 

If incurred In addition to other remedies 
available to us. 

Costs and Attorneys’ 
Fees 

Will vary under 
circumstances 

Upon request If you default under a 
franchise or Area 



 

6-3 
Shah’s Halal FDD (2024) 

313520804v.1 

Type of Fee1 Amount Due Date Remarks 

Development Agreement, you 
must reimburse us for the 
expenses we incur (such as 
attorneys’ fees) in enforcing 
and/or terminating the 
agreement. 

Securities Offering Will vary under 
circumstances 

Upon request If you propose to make an 
offering of any securities, you 
must reimburse us for our 
reasonable costs (including 
attorneys’ fees and accounting 
fees) in evaluating your 
proposed offering. 

Indemnification Will vary under 
circumstances 

Upon request You must reimburse us for the 
costs we incur if we are sued 
or held liable for claims that 
arise from your operation of 
the Franchise Business or in 
connection with any offer of 
your securities, or for costs 
associated with defending 
claims that you used the 
trademarks in an unauthorized 
manner. 

 

Non-Compliance Fine $500 for the first 
violation if not 
corrected in 7 days; 
additional $1,000 if 
violation is not 
corrected within 30 
days; additional 
$3,000 if violation is 
not corrected within 
60 days 

If incurred In addition to other remedies 
available to us. 

Refurbishment of 
Franchise Business 

Not to exceed 
$75,000. 

 

Not more than once 
every five years 

We may require you to 
refurbish your Franchise 
Business to meet our then-
current image for all 
restaurants in the System.  

Supplier or Product 
Testing 

Actual costs At time of 
inspection 

Applies to new suppliers or 
supplies you wish to purchase 
that we have not approved. 
This fee is paid to third party 
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Type of Fee1 Amount Due Date Remarks 

vendors or to reimburse us if 
we have paid to third party 
vendors. 

Application Service 
Provider Fees 

To be determined Per month This will be paid to a third 
party that provides leased 
software and warehouse 
storage for sales records. 
There may also be fees 
required to be paid directly to 
POS provider. 

Violation of Non-
competition Covenant 

$500 per week As incurred If you violate the covenant not 
to compete in the Franchise 
Agreement. 

Promotional Expenses Varies As incurred You may be required to 
participate in System-wide 
promotional programs that we 
may develop that may include 
providing promotional food 
items to guests as part of the 
program(s). 

Gift Cards To be determined if 
program 
implemented 

As incurred If implemented, you must 
participate in our Gift Card 
program, which we or a third 
party may administer.  

Liquidated Damages Varies If we terminate the 
Franchise 
Agreement for 
cause 

Liquidated Damages equal to 
the average monthly royalties 
that you paid us during the 12 
months preceding termination 
multiplied by 24 or the number 
of months remaining in your 
franchise term, whichever is 
higher. 

Relocation Fee $2,500 If you request 
permission to 
relocate your 
Franchise Business 

This covers our costs related to 
your relocation request. 

 
1 Except as described below, all fees are uniformly imposed by us. All fees are payable to us and are non-
refundable. We may require that you participate in an electronic funds transfer program by which payments 
due us are paid or directed electronically from your bank. 

2 “Gross Revenue” means all revenue of the Franchise Business, including all sales of products and services 
to customers of the Franchise Business (including income related to catering and delivery services, and any 
sales or orders of food products or food preparation services provided from or related to the Franchise 
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Business), whether for cash or credit and regardless of collection in the case of credit. Gross Sales excludes 
excise, sales and use taxes, gross receipts taxes or similar taxes you pay based on revenues, if those taxes 
are separately stated when the customer is charged, and also excluding bona fide refunds actually paid to 
customers. 
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ITEM 7:  ESTIMATED INITIAL INVESTMENT 

FULL SIZED FRANCHISE BUSINESS 

Type of 
Expenditure 

Amount 
Method of 
Payment 

When due 
To whom 

payment is to be 
made 

Initial Franchise 
Fee 

$30,000 Lump Sum Upon execution of 
the Franchise 
Agreement 

Us 

Travel Expenses to 
Attend Training2 

$2,000 to $20,000 As Incurred As Incurred Third Parties 

Real Property3 $3,000 to $10,000 As agreed As agreed Landlord or land 
owner 

Build-
Out/Construction4 

$80,000 to 
$160,000 

As agreed As agreed Suppliers 

Fixture Package5 $30,000 to 
$50,000 

As agreed As agreed Suppliers 

Initial Inventory6 $10,000 to 
$30,000  

As incurred As incurred Us (or our 
Designated 
Affiliate) and 
Suppliers 

Marketing 
Supplies7 

$2,000 to $7,000 As incurred As incurred Suppliers 

Signage8 $10,000 to 
$28,000 

As arranged As arranged Suppliers 

Computer 
Hardware, 
Software, and POS 
System9 

$4,000 to $6,000 As arranged As arranged Suppliers 

Insurance10 $6,000 to $10,000 As arranged As arranged Insurance 
Agents/Brokers 

Licenses, Permits11 $1,000 to $3,000  As incurred As incurred Municipalities and 
other Government 
entities 

Grand Opening 
Campaign12 

$1,000 to $5,000 As incurred As incurred Insurance 
Agents/Brokers 

Legal & 
Accounting 

$3,000 to $6,000 As arranged As arranged Accountants, 
Lawyers, other 
Third Parties 
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Type of 
Expenditure 

Amount 
Method of 
Payment 

When due 
To whom 

payment is to be 
made 

Miscellaneous 
Opening Costs13 

$5,000 to $15,000 As incurred As incurred Third Party 
Suppliers 

Additional Funds 
– 3 Months14 

$10,000 to 
$30,000 

As incurred As incurred Employees, 
Suppliers, Utility 
Companies and 
Third Party 
Vendors 

TOTAL15 $207,000 to 
$410,000 

   

 
Notes: All payments to us are non-refundable and uniformly imposed unless otherwise stated. 

1 This is the initial franchise fee for a single unit only. See Item 5. 

2 You must pay for the salaries and benefits, travel expenses and other expenses while you and your 
management staff attend the training program. These will vary based on your location, quality of 
accommodation, wages, per diem allotment, seasonality of travel expenses, and number of staff members. 
The estimate in this table includes expenses for a minimum of 2, and up to 4 trainees. The low end of the 
range is the estimate for training that is local for the trainees and includes expenses for meals, but not travel 
or hotel. 

3 We expect that you will either purchase or lease the real estate for the Franchise Business. This estimate 
assumes that you will be renting a 1200 - 2000 square foot space. We expect most spaces will be 
approximately this size, but we may approve smaller spaces in our sole discretion. Your actual rent may 
differ based on market factors in your area. We do not lease or sell space to you. 

4 This amount is based on our prior experience and is the costs of converting a raw space which needs to be 
fully converted for use as a Franchise Business. 

5 This includes the cost of food and beverage equipment, registers, booths, tables, custom bar top, stools, 
small wares, office equipment and supplies. 

6 You must purchase an initial inventory as described in the manuals that meet our specifications. The size 
of your initial inventory will depend on factors such as the size of your Franchise Business and your 
expected customer base. This line item includes the Initial Proprietary Inventory Package Fee. 

7 You are required to do local marketing. Your marketing efforts will need to be tailored to your community 
and competitive situation. The cost of your marketing will vary based on local market conditions. 

8 This estimate is for the cost of purchasing signage for your Franchise Business that meets our 
specifications. 

9 This includes the cost of the computer hardware, peripherals, and software that will serve as your point-
of-sale computer system, cash drawer and the maintenance agreement for that system. 
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10 You must carry insurance. The amount set forth above represents an estimate of the premiums required 
for general liability, workers’ compensation, public liability and property damage, cyber risk and other 
insurance requirements. See Item 8 for more details. 

11 The range given provides our best estimate of the costs you will incur for business permits and licenses. 

12 You will be required to spend a certain amount of money on a Grand Opening Campaign. You must get 
our approval for all elements of the Grand Opening Campaign.  

13 Miscellaneous fees include additional supplies and products which may be specific to your location. 

14 This is an estimate of the amount of additional operating capital that you may need during the first three 
months after opening your Franchise Business. This is only an estimate, however, and there is no assurance 
that additional working capital will not be necessary during this start-up phase or after. 

This category includes estimated payroll, utilities, vendor, advertising, promotion, Royalties, Marketing 
Fund fees and similar costs during the initial phase of a new restaurant. This is only an estimate, however, 
and there is no assurance that additional working capital will not be necessary during this start-up phase or 
after.  

15 We relied on the experience we have operating corporate owned businesses similar to the Franchise 
Business to compile these estimates. 

There are no other direct or indirect payments in connection with the purchase of the franchise. We do not 
provide financing for the payment of any part of any fees or expenses. 
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ITEM 8:  RESTRICTIONS ON SOURCES OF PRODUCTS AND SERVICES 

Obligation to Purchase or Lease Products or Services from Shah’s Halal Franchising Inc. or an 
Affiliate 

Except for produce which is to be sourced locally, you must purchase all the food products your 
Franchise Business will sell from suppliers identified by us, including from our affiliates. At this time, all 
non-perishable food purchases must be made from our designated exclusive supplier Gul M. Corp. These 
purchases must be made through the distributor which we require. 

Our officers hold ownership interests in Gul M Corp.  Gul M. Corp.’s gross sales were 
approximately $13,120,986.37 in 2023.  We and/or our affiliate(s) may derive profit from the sales of these 
items to you. Other than Gul M. Corp., the officers of Shah’s Halal Food do not hold an ownership interest 
in any unaffiliated designated or approved suppliers.  

Obligation to Purchase or Lease Products and Services under the Shah’s Halal Food Restrictions 

There are certain foods, beverages and products that are selected by us for consistency in quality 
and other considerations. These items, such as certain brand name products, are manufactured or produced 
only by manufacturers or producers approved by us in writing. To ensure that you adhere to the uniformity 
requirements and quality standards associated with all the Shah’s Halal Restaurant franchises, you must 
purchase these items for your Franchise Business, but you may purchase them from any approved 
distributor that can supply them. We will provide a written list of these selected foods, beverages and 
products. We will also notify you of any additions to or deletions from this list. 

You must purchase certain foods, beverages and products that satisfy the written standards and 
specifications established by us. This requirement is necessary to ensure that you adhere to the uniformity 
requirements and quality standards associated with all the Shah’s Halal Restaurant franchises. We will 
provide you with written standards and specifications for the layout of your Shah’s Halal Restaurant 
premises, your equipment and signs, the décor and trade dress of your Franchise Business, and certain food 
and beverage items. We determine our uniformity and quality standards and specifications, in our sole 
discretion. We may modify our written standards and specifications, and you must comply with any 
modifications. You will be responsible for ensuring that all the foods, beverages and products selected by 
you will continue to conform to the standards and specifications established by us. 

You must purchase or lease certain foods, beverages, equipment, supplies and products required 
for your Shah’s Halal Restaurant franchise from suppliers approved by us. We will provide a written list of 
approved suppliers and the foods, beverages and products subject to approved supplier requirements and 
will notify you of any additions or deletions from this list. We reserve the absolute right to update or 
otherwise modify this list from time to time, in our sole discretion, upon written notice to you. If you want 
to purchase products subject to our approved supplier requirements from a supplier who has not been 
previously approved by us, then you must, at your expense, send to us representative samples or 
specifications of that supplier’s products or services, and certain other information about the supplier’s 
products and business that we may request. We will also have the right to inspect the supplier’s facilities 
and otherwise evaluate the proposed supplier and its products or services, and you must reimburse us for 
the expenses we incur to inspect and evaluate the supplier. Within thirty (30) days after receiving the 
necessary samples and information, we will notify you in writing as to whether the supplier’s products or 
services comply with the uniformity requirements, quality standards and specifications established by us, 
and whether the supplier’s business reputation, delivery performance, credit rating and other relevant 
information are satisfactory. If we do not respond in this time period, the supplier shall be deemed 
disapproved. The criteria for supplier approval are available to franchisees upon request. We reserve the 
right to approve or disapprove any requested supplier for any reason or no reason in our sole discretion. 
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In the future, you may be required to purchase other food, ingredients, supplies, merchandise, 
carpet, leasehold improvements, and/or decorations from us or our affiliates.  

We estimate that purchases of food, beverages and products that meet our standards and 
specifications and purchases from designated or approved suppliers will constitute up to 80% of your initial 
expenditures to open your Shah’s Halal Restaurant franchise, and approximately 60% of the annual ongoing 
expenditures to operate your Franchise Business. 

Obligation to Sign Exclusive Supply Agreement and Personal Guaranty with Gul M Corp. 

As a Franchisee, you will be required to sign an exclusive supply agreement with Gul M Corp. (the 
“Exclusive Supply Agreement”), as well as personal guarantees relating to the payment of fees payable to 
us and to Gul M Corp. (the “Personal Guaranty”). The Exclusive Supply Agreement and the Personal 
Guarantees are attached to the Franchise Agreement which is attached to this Franchise Disclosure 
Document as Exhibit D. 

Revenue from Franchisee Purchases 

During the 2023 fiscal year, we received no revenue or other material consideration from required 
purchases or leases by Shah’s Halal franchisees. During the 2023 fiscal year, our parent/predecessor Shah’s 
Halal Food Partners, Inc., received a total of $1,081,435.72 from licensing and ongoing royalty fees from 
licensees while Gul M Corp. received certain revenue from purchases by licensees of non-perishable food 
items and products. No other affiliates received revenue or other material consideration from required 
purchases or leases by Shah’s Halal franchisees. 

We do not negotiate purchase arrangements, including price terms, with any of your direct suppliers 
for your benefit, however, we do intend to negotiate purchase arrangements with our Product suppliers, 
which may benefit you indirectly. We reserve the right to negotiate rebates and other forms of compensation 
from suppliers. If we do, we may use any amounts that we receive from suppliers for any purpose we deem 
appropriate. 

We do not provide material benefits to you (for example, renewal or granting additional franchises) 
for purchasing particular products or services or using particular suppliers.  

We do not have any purchasing or distribution cooperatives at this time. We do not, and do not 
have plans to, negotiate purchase agreements with suppliers. 

Insurance 

You must obtain and maintain at your own expense the insurance coverage that we and your 
landlord (if applicable) periodically require, and you must meet the other insurance-related obligations in 
the Franchise Agreement. Currently, we require you to maintain the following coverages:  

(1) comprehensive general liability insurance for bodily injury, death and property damage 
caused by your operation of the Franchise Business, including employment practices 
liability coverage and contractual liability coverage, (not less than $1,000,000 each 
occurrence for bodily injury, death or property damage; not less than $1,000,000 each 
occurrence for personal and advertising injury; and $2,000,000 general aggregate);  
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(2) all risk property and casualty insurance, including fire coverage in an amount equal to the 
replacement cost value of cost of build out, improvements & betterments, equipment, 
furniture, fixtures & inventory;  

(3) business interruption insurance in sufficient amounts to cover 12 months of revenue but 
not less than $100,000 per year;  

(4) products liability and completed operation insurance (minimum coverage of $2,000,000);  

(5) worker’s compensation insurance state disability insurance and all other insurance required 
by law;  

(6) Cyber risk policy; 

(7) commercial umbrella liability insurance with limits which bring the total of all primary 
underlying coverages (comprehensive general liability, business interruption, products 
liability and employers’ liability) to not less than $5,000,000 total limit liability. This 
umbrella liability will provide at a minimum those coverages and endorsements required 
in the underlying policies; and 

(8) if you use a motor vehicle in the operation of your Franchise Business, business automotive 
coverage, including owned, hired, and non-owned vehicle liability (minimum coverage 
$1,000,000). 

We may require you to obtain insurance coverage for other risks or increase the required amount 
of coverage and require different or additional insurance during the Franchise Agreement term. Premiums 
will depend upon the insurance carrier’s charges, terms of payment and your loss history. Each insurance 
policy must: (1) name us and our affiliates as an additional named insureds and contain a waiver of all 
subrogation rights against us; (2) provide for thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to us of any material 
modification, cancellation, or expiration of the policy; (3) provide that coverage applies separately to each 
insured against whom a claim is brought; (4) contain no provision which limits coverage in the event of a 
claim by a party who is indemnified under the Franchise Agreement; (5) be primary; and (6) extend to and 
provide indemnity for all obligations assumed by you under the Franchise Agreement. You must obtain our 
approval of your insurance carriers and provide evidence of coverage as and when we may require. 
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ITEM 9:  FRANCHISEE’S OBLIGATIONS 

This table lists your principal obligations under the franchise and other agreements. It will help you find 
more detailed information about your obligations in these agreements and other items of this disclosure 
document. 

Obligation 
Section in Franchise 

Agreement 
Disclosure Document Item 

a. Site selection and acquisition/lease Articles II and VII Item 11 

b. Pre –opening purchase/leases Articles II, VII, VIII and IX Items 7 and 8 

c. Site development and other pre-
opening requirements 

Articles II, VII, VIII and IX Items 7 and 11 

d. Initial and ongoing training, and 
annual conference 

Articles VI and XX Item 11 

e. Opening Articles II, VI and VII Item 11 

f. Fees 
Articles V, VIII, IX, XI and 
XX 

Items 5 and 6 

g. Compliance with standards and 
policies/Operations Manual 

Articles VI, VIII, XI and XV Items 8, 11 and 14 

h. Trademarks and proprietary 
information 

Articles III, VIII and XI Items 13 and 14 

i. Restrictions on products/services 
offered 

Article VII and VIII Items 8 and 16 

j. Warranty and customer service 
requirements 

Not Applicable Not Applicable 

k. Territorial development and sales 
quotas 

Article I and Exhibit A Item 12 

l. Ongoing product/service purchases Article VIII Item 8 

m. Maintenance, appearance, and 
remodeling requirements 

Articles II, VIII, XV and XX Item 17 

n. Insurance Article XII Items 7 and 8 

o. Advertising Article IX Items 6 and 11 

p. Indemnification Article XIII Item 6 

q. Owner’s 
participation/management/staffing 

Articles VIII and XIX Item 15 

r. Records and reports Article X Item 6 
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Obligation 
Section in Franchise 

Agreement 
Disclosure Document Item 

s. Inspections and audits Articles VII and X Items 6 and 11 

t. Transfer Article XX Items 6 and 17 

u. Renewal Article IV Item 17 

v. post-termination obligations Article XVIII Item 17 

w. non-competition covenants Article XIV Item 17 

x. Dispute resolution Article XXIX Item 17 

y. Guaranty of franchisee obligations Exhibit B Item 15 
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ITEM 10:  FINANCING 

We do not offer direct or indirect financing. We do not guarantee your note, lease or other 
obligations. 
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ITEM 11:  FRANCHISOR’S ASSISTANCE, ADVERTISING, COMPUTER SYSTEMS, AND 
TRAINING 

Except as listed below, we are not required to provide you with any assistance. 

Pre-Opening Assistance 

Before you begin operation of the Franchise Business, we will: 

(1) designate the Territory (Section 1.1 of the Franchise Agreement); 

(2) review the site you select for your franchise to determine if it complies with requirements 
for the Franchise Business (Sections 2.1, 2.2 and 2.3 of the Franchise Agreement); 

(3) provide an initial training program in the establishment and operation of the Franchise 
Business. Initial training is described in more detail below and will be provided after you 
sign the franchise agreement (Section 6.1 of the Franchise Agreement); 

(4) provide you with guidelines and specifications for the operation and management of the 
Franchise Business that you must adopt, including construction and build-out, installation, 
repair, maintenance and safety procedures, record keeping, sales and marketing (Articles 2 
and 7 of the Franchise Agreement); 

(5) make available to you a copy of the Operations Manual, which will include standards and 
specifications for procedures, management, and operation of the Franchise Business 
(Section 11.1 of the Franchise Agreement);  

(6) provide you with a written or electronic schedule of all foods, food items, beverages, 
furniture, fixtures, supplies and equipment required for your Franchise Business (Sections 
7.1, 7.2, 7.8, 8.6 and 8.7 of the Franchise Agreement);  

(7) provide a list of the designated and approved suppliers for the products and services 
required by us for use or sale in your Franchise Business (Section 8.6 of the Franchise 
Agreement); 

(8) provide you and/or direct Gul M Corp to provide you with assistance in ordering opening 
inventory and supplies via our ordering system; 

(9) connect you with our design team, who will assist you with interior and exterior signage 
and other branding;.   

(10) license to you the right to use the Proprietary Marks in connection with the Franchise 
Business (Section 3.2 of the Franchise Agreement); and 

(11) provide guidelines regarding your promotional plan for your Grand Opening campaign 
(Section 7.4 of the Franchise Agreement). 

 We do not own any franchisee locations. Each franchisee must secure its own premises. 

We do not provide assistance with conforming the premises to local ordinances and building codes 
and obtaining any required permits. The permitting process and the actual construction, remodeling and 
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outfitting the premises is the responsibility of the franchisee, though we will offer whatever support possible 
by answering questions. 

We train two individuals at each franchisee, whether owners or managers. The hiring and training 
of employees is the responsibility of the franchisee. 

We may offer guidance with respect to the selling price for such goods, products and services; 
however, Franchisee is in no way bound to adhere to any such recommended or suggested price. Franchisee 
shall have the right to sell its products and provide services at any price that Franchisee may determine. 

Post-Opening Assistance 

During the operation of the Franchise Business, we will: 

(1) continue to provide you with guidelines, and assist you in the acquisition of items required 
to operate your Franchise Business (Sections 8.5 and 8.6 of the Franchise Agreement); 

(2) provide general advisory assistance, including site visits, as we believe necessary to help 
you in the ongoing operation, advertising and promotion of the Franchise Business (Section 
7.6 of the Franchise Agreement); 

(3) provide knowledge and expertise, as we deem appropriate, to help improve the 
performance of your Franchise Business (Section 7.3 of the Franchise Agreement); 

(4) provide you with the specifications for advertising and marketing materials you may use 
to promote your Franchise Business. You may not use advertising and marketing materials 
sourced from any supplier without first obtaining our written approval. (Article IX of the 
Franchise Agreement); 

(5) provide you with content for posting on Social Media pages, if we permit you to have a 
Social Media page. You may not make any social media posts without our consent, and we 
must have administrator rights for all social media accounts associated with the Franchise 
Business. (Section 9.6 of the Franchise Agreement); 

(6) provide you with updates, revisions and amendments to the Operations Manual as we deem 
necessary (Section 11.3 of the Franchise Agreement); 

(7) provide the names and addresses of newly approved and designated suppliers for the foods, 
beverages and products required by us to be used or sold in your Franchise Business 
(Section 8.10 of the Franchise Agreement); 

(8) legally protect the Marks and the System (Section 3.10 of the Franchise Agreement); 

(9) provide you with plans and specifications for any equipment and software installations 
(Section 7.1 of the Franchise Agreement); 

(10) administer and maintain the Marketing Fund in our discretion (Section 9.1 of the Franchise 
Agreement); and 

(11) if requested, we will send a consultant to train, assist and advise you on operations issues 
at the Franchise Business, as applicable (Section 7.3 of the Franchise Agreement). You 
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will reimburse us for Travel Expenses and pay the then-current per diem training fee for 
such consulting assistance. 

Proprietary Marketing Fund 

We administer and maintain a Proprietary Marketing Fund (the “Marketing Fund”) for national 
and global advertising programs with monies collected from franchisees and corporate stores. We will 
determine, in our sole discretion, when, how and where the payments deposited into the Marketing Fund 
will be spent. We select the types of media used and the location of the advertising campaigns administered 
through the Marketing Fund. We use or may use the following media: print, radio, television, telephone, 
smart phone, social media and Internet. We may also use the funds for general public relations and to 
otherwise obtain and build brand awareness. The focus is on national and international coverage and 
marketing development and will be handled in-house or outsourced to a professional advertising or public 
relations firm. We will not receive any compensation for providing services to the Marketing Fund, other 
than the reimbursement of ordinary and necessary expenses, which may include in-house staff. 

You must contribute one percent (1%) of your Gross Sales to the Marketing Fund. All franchisees 
and franchisor-owned operations will contribute on the same pro rata basis. At your request, we will make 
available to you an annual unaudited financial statement of the Marketing Fund. As we have just 
commenced franchising efforts, we have no prior year’s allocation of expenditures to disclose. 

We are not obligated to spend any amount of the Marketing Fund on marketing in your specific 
area. Any unspent amounts in the Marketing Fund will be saved for later spending. No percentage of the 
Marketing Fund will be used for the solicitation of franchisees; however, our advertising and marketing 
material may contain contact numbers for obtaining information about Shah’s Halal Restaurant franchises. 

Regional and Local Advertising 

You must spend at least one percent (1%) of your Gross Revenue on local advertising and 
marketing (“Local Marketing Expenditure”). You must, at our request, provide invoices or other 
supporting documentation to us to substantiate your Local Marketing expenditures. If you fail to meet this 
minimum requirement, you will pay the difference between what you should have spent and what you 
actually spent into the Marketing Fund. You will not establish a website or social media page for your 
Franchise Business including social media accounts or pages without our prior consent. 

Although we only require a Local Marketing Expenditure of one percent (1%), we strongly 
recommend that in order to maximize the chance of success of the Franchise Business, a larger percentage 
than the required one percent (1%) may be advantageous. 

We will provide you with the specifications for any advertising and marketing materials you use to 
promote your Franchise Business. However, you may not use advertising and marketing materials sourced 
from any other supplier without first obtaining our approval. All advertising placement is at your own 
discretion and cost.  

We currently do not have any cooperatives. However, if we choose to, we may designate a 
geographic area in which two (2) or more Franchise Businesses are located as a region in order to establish 
a cooperative. The cooperative’s members in any area will include all of the Franchise Businesses operating 
in that area (including us or our affiliates, if applicable). Each cooperative will be organized and governed 
in a form and manner, and begin operating on a date, that we determine. Each cooperative will operate in 
accordance with a written governing document which we may amend at any time upon written notice to the 
cooperative’s members. Each cooperative’s purpose is, with our approval, to administer advertising 
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programs and develop advertising, marketing and promotional materials for the area that the cooperative 
covers. You must become a member of any cooperative whose area includes your Franchise Business and 
must contribute to the cooperative the amounts determined by the cooperative.  

We currently have no advisory council composed of franchisees to advise us on our advertising 
policies. If we elect to establish an advisory council, you agree to participate in its activities and to pay any 
dues we may assess for administration of advisory council programs, and you will be responsible for your 
expenses incurred in connection with advisory council programs. You will be permitted to vote for 
franchisee representatives on the advisory council in accordance with guidelines that we may establish from 
time to time. Furthermore, we will have the option to modify or eliminate any advisory council that we may 
establish from time to time. 

If other Franchise Businesses are located in your area, you will be required to participate in any 
local advertising cooperative that we establish, if we require your participation. Your participation may 
include paying a pro rata share of any directory listing(s), which will count towards your local advertising 
requirement. 

You will be required to participate in marketing campaigns, including our loyalty program, if we 
establish one, under the terms we establish which we may change in our sole discretion. If established, your 
participation may include a requirement that you provide free food as incentives and rewards, as set forth 
in the loyalty program. We will administer any loyalty program established and we will make all decisions 
regarding its use, including all decisions regarding promotions, rewards, and incentives, which you may be 
required to provide at your own cost. We may discontinue the use of the loyalty program at any time. 

If you desire to use materials from sources other than us, you must send us for our review samples 
of any advertising, promotional and marketing material which we have not prepared or previously approved 
before you use them. If you do not receive written approval within 15 days after we receive the materials, 
they shall be deemed disapproved. You may not use any advertising or promotional materials that we have 
disapproved. 

Website 

We will maintain a corporate website to advertise, market and promote the Shah’s Halal Food 
business and our business worldwide, as well as franchise opportunities (the “Corporate Website”), which 
we periodically may update and modify. We will list your Shah’s Halal Restaurant location and other 
information related to your Franchise Business on our Corporate Website. You may not use any other 
Internet or mobile site, account or web pages in connection with the Franchise Business or otherwise 
containing or displaying the Marks, including but not limited to, YouTube, Facebook, Twitter, Snapchat, 
LinkedIn or Instagram without our approval and written consent.  

In addition, you cannot operate or build a website through other electronic media that provides 
content in the areas of the business that we operate even if the site does not mention Shah’s Halal Food or 
its affiliates or contain any of its information or branding, even if said site is not in connection with Shah’s 
Halal Food business without our written consent. 

We have the right to designate, approve, control or limit all aspects of your Franchise Business that 
you conduct over the Internet (“e-commerce”) including, without limitation, the URLs, domain names, 
website addresses, metatags, links, key words, e-mail addresses, bulletin boards, social media, chat rooms 
and any other means of electronic identification or origin (“e-names”) used in connection with your Shah’s 
Halal Restaurant business. We have final control and approval over all content and information on the 
Corporate Website as well as franchise subpages. We will own all intellectual property and other rights on 
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the Corporate Website and all information they contain (including but not limited to, the domain name or 
URL for Your Website, the log of “hits” by visitors, and any personal or business data that visitors supply, 
but excluding your proprietary information).  

All e-commerce activity will be conducted through the Corporate Website or a mobile application 
that we may develop at our discretion. You shall not be permitted to offer or sell any Products over the 
internet. 

You agree to comply with any additional policies and standards we issue periodically with respect 
to the Internet and e-commerce. Should we consent in writing to you advertising or usage of the Internet 
for your Franchise Business, you must supply us with the current usernames, passwords, credentials and 
other account information that you have used in connection with any accounts relating to any approved 
Internet usage of the Marks and we must have co-administrative rights to all web pages. 

Social Media Policy 

To ensure consistency and quality of the company’s message, we maintain and control all Social 
Media accounts associated with the Franchised Businesses.  If We were to allow Social Media Accounts 
You must comply with our Social Media Policy. 

Computer Requirements 

You must keep your books and business records according to our prescribed formats. To help your 
reporting to us and other communications, you must purchase or lease an electronic cash register in your 
restaurant. We will specify the point of sale (“POS”) system you must purchase or lease in our Operations 
Manual. You must also use our online ordering service (and, if we implement them, our online ordering 
service and/or mobile ordering service) which will be handled by a third party or third parties. The principal 
function of the system is to capture, track, and organize the customer orders and financial information 
including sales, taxes, inventory, and transactions. All items sold must be entered in the POS system.  

The computers and software used in your Franchise Business must meet the standards, 
specifications and requirements established by us in the Operations Manual(s) or otherwise in writing. You 
must purchase, equip, install and utilize in your Franchise Business computers and software obtained from 
us or our designated suppliers. The estimated initial cost for your computers and software ranges from 
$4,000 to $6,000.  

You are responsible for all maintenance costs associated with the computer hardware and computer 
software at your sole expense. We may require you to enter into software or computer maintenance 
contracts with third parties or our affiliate(s). We estimate that the cost of this obligation with generally 
range from $600 to $2000 per year. There is no contractual limitation on the frequency and cost of this 
obligation.  

You will arrange for broadband Internet service to facilitate electronic communication between us 
and you and maintain a high-speed internet connection attached to the POS system with a static IP address 
at all times, at your sole cost. You agree to give us, and acknowledge that we shall have, the free and 
unfettered right to retrieve any data and information from your computers as we deem appropriate, 
including electronically polling the daily information and other data of the Franchise Business. Your system 
must be interfaced with the system that we maintain at our offices and we will be able to access your 
registers to determine your daily receipts. There are no contractual limitations on our independent access 
to the information and data stored on the required cash register / computer system. You must obtain, provide 
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to us, and maintain an email address in order to allow us to communicate with you electronically and you 
must immediately advise us of any change in your email address.  

All data that you provide, that we download from your system, and that we otherwise collect from 
you is owned exclusively by us, and we will have the right to use that data in any way that we deem 
appropriate without compensating you. 

You must make such additions, upgrades, changes, modifications, substitutions and replacements 
to your computer hardware, software, telephone and power lines or other computer-related facilities as we 
may direct, and on the dates and within the times we specify. There are no contractual limitations on our 
right to require you to obtain upgrades and/or modifications, or the cost of these upgrades and/or 
modifications to you. Upon termination or expiration of the Franchise Agreement, any computer software, 
discs, drives and other storage media we provide must be returned to us in good condition, excepting normal 
wear and tear. 

You must ensure that you are maintaining a Payment Card Industry (“PCI”) compliant security 
service subscription to protect the confidentiality of information gathered from customers’ credit cards and 
other payment cards. The POS vendor may offer this service, however, if it does not or it discontinues this 
service you must enroll in a new service. We will designate the PCI compliant vendor that you must use 
and the security service subscription that you must subscribe to in the Operations Manual. 

Confidential Operations Manual 

We will loan you an operations manual (the “Operations Manual”), a 351-page manual, which is 
confidential and remains our property. We may modify the Operations Manual, but the modification will 
not alter your status and rights under the Franchise Agreement. The table of contents is attached as Exhibit 
F. 

Every two to five years, or as reasonably required to maintain the functionality of the Operations 
Manual, we may require you to pay reasonable costs for reproduction of a revised Operations Manual, 
which we will loan to you. 

Initial Training  

Our operational training program consists of a total of approximately two (2) weeks of instruction 
concerning all aspects of the operation and management of the Franchise Business, including review and 
discussion of the Operations Manual and other detailed aspects of the operation of your business. The cost 
for training your management team (up to two (2) members) is included in the Initial Franchise Fee. If you 
request that we provide our initial training program to additional trainees, whether before your Franchise 
Business opens or while it is operating, you must pay our then-current training fee for each additional 
trainee. The training will take place at the Shah’s Halal Restaurant location that we designate that is 
convenient for all parties. Our training program is mandatory and is conducted throughout the year on an 
“as-needed” basis. All training must be completed to our satisfaction. You must pay all expenses that you 
and your team incur while attending our training program and any refresher training program that we 
require, including travel, lodging, meals, and applicable wages. If you fail to complete our training program 
to our satisfaction, we have the right to terminate your Franchise Agreement without providing you a refund 
of the initial franchise fee. 

The materials that we use in our initial training program include our Confidential Operations 
Manual and other instructional materials that we believe are beneficial to the training process. Currently,  
the following is a general outline of the training, which is subject to change: 
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TRAINING PROGRAM 

Subject 
Hours of 

Classroom 
Training 

Hours of 
On-the-Job 

Training 
Location 

Salad Preparation and Use / 
Cleaning of Salad Machine 

0 9 Franchise restaurant; Company 
restaurant, Zoom (for classroom) as 
directed 

Deliveries 4 4 Franchise restaurant; Company 
restaurant, Zoom (for classroom) as 
directed 

Soda Fridge Preparation / 
Opening set-up 

 10 Franchise restaurant; Company 
restaurant, Zoom (for classroom) as 
directed 

Serving on Salad Station  9 Franchise restaurant; Company 
restaurant, Zoom (for classroom) as 
directed 

Serving on Steam Table 
Machine and Guest Greetings 

 12 Franchise restaurant; Company 
restaurant, Zoom (for classroom) as 
directed 

Sandwich Prep  9 Franchise restaurant; Company 
restaurant, Zoom (for classroom) as 
directed 

Cooking in Fryer; Rice, Fish, 
and Falafel Prep 

 6 Franchise restaurant; Company 
restaurant, Zoom (for classroom) as 
directed 

Cleaning Fryers and Changing 
Oil 

1 2 Franchise restaurant; Company 
restaurant, Zoom (for classroom) as 
directed 

Cleaning Grill, Dishes, and 
Front Service Station 

2 6 Franchise restaurant; Company 
restaurant, Zoom (for classroom) as 
directed 
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Subject 
Hours of 

Classroom 
Training 

Hours of 
On-the-Job 

Training 
Location 

Sweeping and Mopping 1 3 Franchise restaurant; Company 
restaurant, Zoom (for classroom) as 
directed 

Cleaning Windows, Walls, 
Shelves, and Walk-in 

 4 Franchise restaurant; Company 
restaurant, Zoom (for classroom) as 
directed 

POS and Online Order 
Receiving 

5 5 Franchise restaurant; Company 
restaurant, Zoom (for classroom) as 
directed 

Permitting, Delivery, and 
Inventory Management 

6 6 Franchise restaurant; Company 
restaurant, Zoom (for classroom) as 
directed 

Totals 19 85 Franchise restaurant; Company 
restaurant, Zoom (for classroom) as 
directed 

 
Training will be provided by the then-current corporate store manager, lead supervisor, or 

Rahimullah Mashriqi and Shafiq Mashriqi, whose biographies are in Item 2 above, or other experienced 
Shah’s Halal personnel we may designate. The individuals responsible for training will have at least three 
(3) years of experience working with Shah’s Halal. 

Video training is also provided—and required—prior to the Initial Training outlined above. These 
instructional videos may be accessed at any point during or after the training if requested. 

Site Selection  

You must operate the Franchise Business from the approved location within the Territory, which 
should be at least 1200 square feet in size and include sufficient space for among other things, an 
administrative desk space, and access to parking facilities. You must obtain our approval of the site you 
select for location of your Franchise Business. When you have found a site which you believe to be suitable 
for your Franchise Business, you must submit a completed site approval package to us (the “Site Approval 
Package”) and other materials which we may reasonably require. We will have thirty (30) days to approve 
or disapprove the site that you propose. 

Our site selection and/or acceptance is based on factors such as residential population, traffic counts 
and patterns, competing establishments, median income levels, availability of parking, rental and lease 
terms, physical configuration of the site and growth trends in the area. We are not obligated to approve any 
site selected, but we will not unreasonably withhold our approval of a site that meets the minimum criteria 
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for your business premises. You must sign a Conditional Assignment of Lease in a form designated by us. 
If you do not find a suitable site within six (6) months, we can terminate the Franchise Agreement and keep 
the Initial Franchise Fee. Our approval of your site is not a guaranty or warranty that the Franchise Business 
will be successful. 

Opening 

You may not open the Franchise Business until you and your staff (as required) have completed 
Initial Training and satisfied all of the other pre-opening obligations, including, securing all required 
licenses and insurance, hiring sufficient staff, ordering and receiving your Fixture Package and Initial 
Inventory, build out of the space in accordance with our System standards, and completing a grand opening 
campaign that we have approved. 

You must complete Initial Training and be ready to open within 6 months of the signing of the 
Franchise Agreement unless we agree to a later date in writing. This is the typical length of time required 
to open a Franchise Business. Your ability to obtain a lease, financing, or building permits; zoning and local 
ordinances; or delayed installation of equipment, fixtures, and signs may also affect when you open the 
Franchise Business. If you fail to open your Franchise Business by the required opening date designed in 
the Franchise Agreement, we can terminate the Franchise Agreement. 

We may require you to obtain a loan commitment for a working capital line of credit in an amount 
to support your Franchise Business as described in your Business Plan. If we impose this requirement, you 
must provide documentation that the loan commitment has been secured at least 30 days prior to opening.  

Annual Conference 

 We may choose to host an Annual Conference, although to date none have been scheduled. If and 
when an Annual Conference is planned, you will be notified. 

Gift Card Program 

We reserve the right to establish a program for all franchisees to sell or otherwise issue gift cards 
or certificates (together “Gift Cards”). If we establish this program, you must participate by offering Gift 
Cards to your customers and honoring all Gift Cards presented to you as payment for products, regardless 
of whether the Gift Card was issued by you or another franchisee. 
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ITEM 12:  TERRITORY 

You will not receive an exclusive territory. You may face competition from other franchisees, from 
outlets that we own, or from other channels of distribution or competitive brands that we control. The 
Franchise Agreement does not grant you any territorial rights beyond whatever geographic area identified 
in an exhibit to the Franchise Agreement. There will, however, be protected geographical territory 
(“Protected Territory”).  The Protected Territory, as designated in Exhibit A to the Franchise Agreement, 
will be an area up to five (5) miles surrounding the restaurant determined by shortest driving distance using 
Google Maps or a similar mapping program.  Except for Non-Traditional Sites as defined below and in 
Article 1.4 of the Franchise Agreement, Franchisor agrees not to establish another Franchised Business 
within the Franchisee’s Protected Territory. The Protected Territory will be a substantially smaller area 
around the Franchise Business if it is located in an urban or highly populated setting. For locations in urban 
or highly populated areas the Protected Territory may be an area of only several blocks around the location 
approved for the Franchise Business, and for locations in suburban areas the Territory may be up to a two-
mile area surrounding the restaurant, also determined by shortest driving distance using Google Maps or a 
similar mapping program. In all cases the Protected Territory will be set forth in the Franchise Agreement. 
During the term of the Franchise Agreement we will not, without your consent, establish or franchise 
another to establish a franchise within your Protected Territory under the Franchise Agreement except for 
the right to operate and to grant others the right to operate restaurants at “Non-Traditional Sites” (as defined 
in the Franchise Agreement) under any terms and conditions the Franchisor deems appropriate, regardless 
of proximity to the Franchise Business as provided in the Franchise Agreement. The designation of your 
Protected Territory does not mean that other Franchised Business may not solicit, market or advertise to 
customers within your Protected Territory. It solely means the Franchisor agrees not to establish Franchised 
Business within the Protected Territory. The relocation of any Franchise Business will be subject to our 
prior written approval, which may be withheld on whatever basis we determine is in our best interests. If 
we approve relocation of the Franchise Business, its new location must be within the Protected Territory. 

The Protected Territory granted to you is not dependent upon the achievement of a certain sales 
volume, market penetration or other contingency. There are no circumstances under which the protected 
area granted to you may be altered before the expiration or termination of the Franchise Agreement, without 
our mutual consent. 

Except as expressly limited by the terms of your Franchise Agreement, we and our affiliates retain 
all rights with respect to franchised businesses, the Proprietary Marks, and any goods and services outside 
of your Protected Territory, including: (a) to produce, offer and sell and to grant others the right to produce, 
offer and sell the services and/or goods offered at the Franchise Business and any other goods and services 
through similar or dissimilar channels of distribution under trade and service marks other than the 
Proprietary Marks and under any terms; (b) the right to operate or grant others the right to operate a Shah’s 
Halal Food franchise anywhere regardless of its proximity to your Franchise Business and on terms we 
deem appropriate; (c) to operate and to grant others the right to operate Shah’s Halal Restaurants at Non-
Traditional Sites anywhere under any terms and conditions we deem appropriate; and (d) the right to acquire 
and operate a business operating one or more restaurants and/or other food service businesses located or 
operated anywhere.  

You may sell our proprietary products and related merchandise to retail customers and prospective 
retail customers who live anywhere but who choose to visit the Franchise Business. You may not engage 
in any promotional activities or sell our proprietary products or similar products or services, whether 
directly or indirectly, through or on the Internet, the World Wide Web, or any other similar proprietary or 
common carrier electronic delivery system (collectively, the “Electronic Media”); through catalogs or 
other mail order devices sent or directed to customers or prospective customers located anywhere; or by 
telecopy or other telephonic or electronic communications, including toll-free numbers, directed to or 
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received from customers or prospective customers located anywhere. You may not place advertisements in 
printed media and on television and radio that are targeted to customers and prospective customers located 
outside of your Protected Territory. You may not sell our proprietary products to any business or other 
customer for resale. 

We and our affiliates may, and currently do, sell products under the Proprietary Marks within and 
outside your Protected Territory through various methods of distribution other than a dedicated Shah’s 
Halal Food franchise, including sales through channels of distribution such as the Internet, catalog sales, 
telemarketing, retail stores that sell food products and grocery stores, or other direct marketing sales 
(together, “Alternative Distribution Channels”). You may not use Alternative Distribution Channels to 
make sales outside or inside your Protected Territory. However, you may face competition from these 
Alternative Distribution Channels within your Protected Territory. 

Except for the Shah’s Halal Restaurants operated by us or our affiliates, neither we nor any parent 
or affiliate has established, or presently intends to establish, other franchised or company-owned businesses 
which sell our proprietary products or services under a different trade name or trademark, but we reserve 
the right to do so in the future, without first obtaining your consent. 

You have no options, rights of first refusal, or similar rights to acquire additional Franchise 
Businesses. 

 

REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY. 



 

13-1 
Shah’s Halal FDD (2024) 

313520804v.1 

ITEM 13:  TRADEMARKS 

Under the Franchise Agreement, we grant you the non-exclusive right to use the Proprietary Marks 
for the purposes of the Franchise Business. You may not use any of the Marks as part of your corporate or 
other entity name. You must also follow the instructions we provide for identifying yourself and for filing 
and maintaining the requisite trade name of fictitious name registrations. 

We license the right to use Proprietary Marks from Shah’s Marks LLC (“Licensor”). All of the 
Marks are licensed to us pursuant to a License Agreement with Licensor. (the “License Agreement”). In 
the License Agreement, Licensor authorizes us to use the Marks in connection with the offer, sale, and 
support of Franchise Businesses. The License Agreement does not contain any significant limitations on 
our right to use or license the Marks to you and may be terminated unilaterally by either party upon a 
material breach of the License Agreement. Upon termination of the License Agreement, we must 
immediately discontinue the use of the Marks, and no arrangement regarding the assignment of all of our 
franchise agreements licensing the use of the Marks to Licensor and Licensor’s assumption of all 
obligations under such agreements arising from and after their assignment is contained in the License 
Agreement. 

Licensor owns the following Marks that have been registered on the Principal Register of the 
USPTO: 

Proprietary Marks Serial 
Numbers 

Date of Filing Registration 
Number 

Registration Date 

 

 
98014063 

May 25th, 2023 7322784 March 5, 2023 

SHAH’S 98013922 May 25th, 2023 7333428 March 19, 2024 

 

97770701 Jan. 27th, 2023 7336051 March 26, 2024 

 

87029638 May 9, 2016 5100386 December 13, 2016 

 

86964339 April 5, 2016 5094614 December 6, 2016 
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88826887 March 9, 2020 6599948 Dec. 28, 2021 

 

88826844 March 9, 2020 6599947 Dec. 28, 2021 

 

88823944 March 6, 2020 6157617 Sep. 22, 2020 

 
There are no currently effective material determinations of the United States Patent and Trademark 

Office, the Trademark Trial and Appeal Board, the trademark administrator of any state or any court, nor 
are there any pending infringement, opposition or cancellation proceedings or material litigation involving 
the Proprietary Marks. There are no agreements currently in effect which significantly limit our right to use 
or license the use of the Proprietary Marks in any manner material to you. 

Your right to use the Proprietary Marks is derived solely from the Franchise Agreement and is 
limited to your development and/or operation of the Franchise Business in compliance with the applicable 
agreement and all applicable standards, specifications and operating procedures we prescribe during the 
term of the applicable agreement. Any unauthorized use of the Proprietary Marks by you constitutes a 
breach of the applicable agreement and an infringement of our rights in and to the Proprietary Marks. Your 
use of the Proprietary Marks and any goodwill established by this use will inure to our exclusive benefit. 
The Franchise Agreement confers no goodwill or other interests in the Proprietary Marks on you. All 
provisions of the Franchise Agreement applicable to the Proprietary Marks will apply to any other 
trademarks, service marks, commercial symbols and trade dress we authorize in writing for use by and 
licensed to you after you sign the applicable agreement. 

You must use the Proprietary Marks as the sole trade identification of the Franchise Business and 
must identify yourself in the form we prescribe as the independent owner of the Franchise Business. Unless 
authorized by us in writing, You may not use any Proprietary Mark or variation thereof as part of any 
corporate or trade name or with any prefix, suffix, or other modifying words, terms, designs, or symbols, 
or in any modified form. You may not use any Proprietary Mark in any manner we have not expressly 
authorized in writing. You must display the Proprietary Marks prominently in the manner we prescribe. 
You must give notices of trademark and service mark registrations that we specify and obtain business 
name registrations as required under applicable law. 

You must immediately notify us of any apparent infringement of or challenge to your use of any 
Proprietary Mark or claim by any person of any rights in any Proprietary Mark. You may not communicate 
with anyone except us and our counsel with respect to any infringement, challenge or claim. We will have 
sole discretion to take action as we deem appropriate in connection with any infringement, challenge or 
claim, and the sole right to exclusively control any litigation or other proceeding arising out of any 
infringement, challenge or claim relating to any Proprietary Mark. You must sign any and all instruments 
and documents, give assistance, and do any acts and things as may in the opinion of our counsel be 
necessary or advisable in order to protect and maintain our interests in any litigation or proceeding or 
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otherwise to protect and maintain our interests in the Proprietary Marks. We will reimburse you for the 
reasonable out-of-pocket expenses you incur and pay in complying with these requirements; except if any 
action we take with respect to any claim or proceeding results in any monetary recovery for you which 
exceeds your costs, then you must pay your own costs and share pro-rata in our costs up to the amount of 
the monetary recovery.  

The Franchise Agreement does not require us to take affirmative action when notified of any 
infringements of or challenges to the Proprietary Marks. We have the right to control any litigation or 
administrative proceedings involving the Proprietary Marks. We will indemnify you against and reimburse 
you for all damages for which you are held liable in any proceeding arising out of your use of any 
Proprietary Mark according to and in compliance with the applicable agreement, and for all costs you 
reasonably incur in the defense of any claim in which you are named as a party, if you have timely notified 
us of the claim, have given us sole control of the defense and settlement of any claim and have otherwise 
complied with the applicable agreement. If any action taken by us with respect to any claim or proceeding 
results in any monetary recovery for you which exceeds your costs, then you must pay your own costs and 
share pro-rata in our costs up to the amount of the monetary recovery. 

If it becomes advisable at any time in our sole judgment for you to modify or discontinue the use 
of any Proprietary Mark and/or for the Franchise Business to use one or more additional or substitute trade 
or service marks, you must immediately comply with our directions to modify or otherwise discontinue the 
use of the Proprietary Marks and/or to use one or more additional or substitute trademarks, service marks, 
logos or commercial symbols or substitute trade dress after our notice to you. Neither we nor our affiliates 
have any obligation to reimburse you for any expenditure you make in connection with any discontinuance 
or modification. 

As of the date of this disclosure document, we are not aware of either superior prior rights or 
infringing uses that could materially affect your use of the principal trademarks in any state. 

We intend to renew the registration and file all appropriate affidavits for the mark at the times 
required by law. 
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ITEM 14:  PATENTS, COPYRIGHTS, AND PROPRIETARY INFORMATION 

Patents and Copyrights 

We do not claim rights in any patents that are material to our business. However, we (and Licensor) 
claim common law copyrights in the Operations Manual, the menu designs, the training materials, the 
Corporate Website, and similar items used in operating the Franchise Business. Neither we nor Licensor 
have registered these copyrights with the United States Registrar of Copyrights.  

There currently are no effective determinations of the USPTO, United States Copyright Office or 
any court regarding any of the copyrighted works. No agreement limits our right to use or license the 
copyrighted works except to the extent they include trademarks licensed to us by Juju. We do not know of 
any infringing uses which could materially affect your use of the copyrighted works in any state. No 
agreement requires us to protect or defend the copyrighted works or Confidential Information (defined 
below), although we intend to do so when the action is in the best interests of our System. No agreement 
requires us to indemnify you for your expenses or damages if you are a party to an administrative or judicial 
proceeding involving the copyrighted materials.  

According to the Franchise Agreement, you acknowledge and agree (1) that we may authorize you 
to use certain copyrighted or copyrightable works in our discretion, (2) that the copyrighted works are our 
valuable property and of which we are the owner, and (3) that the rights granted to you are solely on the 
condition that you comply with the terms of the Franchise Agreement. You must acknowledge and agree 
that we own or are the licensee of the owner of the copyrighted works and will further create, acquire or 
obtain licenses for certain copyrights in various works of authorship used in connection with the operation 
of Franchise Businesses. The copyrighted works include the Operations Manual and may include all or part 
of the Proprietary Marks, trade dress and other portions of the Process. We intend that all works of 
authorship related to the Process and created in the future will be owned by us and copyrighted. 

Your right to use the copyrighted works is derived solely from the Franchise Agreement and is 
limited to the use of the copyrighted works according to and in compliance with the agreement and all 
applicable standards, specifications, and operating procedures we prescribe. You must ensure that all 
copyrighted works used bear an appropriate copyright notice under applicable copyright laws as we may 
prescribe in the Operations Manual specifying that we are the owner of the copyright. The Franchise 
Agreement confers no interest in the copyrighted works upon you, other than the right to operate the 
Franchise Business in compliance with the agreement. 

You must immediately notify us of any actual or apparent infringement of or challenge to any of 
the copyrighted works or claim by any person of any rights in the copyrighted works, and may not 
communicate with any person other than us and our counsel in connection with any infringement, challenge 
or claim. We shall have the sole discretion to take any action as we deem appropriate and the right to control 
exclusively any settlement, litigation, arbitration or administrative proceeding arising out of any alleged 
infringement, challenge or claim or otherwise relating to the copyrighted works. 

If it becomes advisable at any time in our sole judgment for you to modify or discontinue use of 
any of the copyrighted works and/or for you to use one or more additional or substitute copyrighted or 
copyrightable items, you agree to immediately comply with our directions to modify or otherwise 
discontinue the use of the copyrighted materials and/or to use one or more substitute materials. 

Confidential Information 

We possess and will further develop and acquire certain confidential and proprietary information 
and trade secrets including, but not limited to, the following categories of information, methods, techniques, 
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procedure, technologies, and knowledge that we, our affiliates, or our franchisees have developed or will 
develop (the “Confidential Information”) including: (1) methods, techniques, specifications, standards, 
policies, procedures, information, concepts and processes relating to knowledge of and experience in the 
development, operation, and franchising of the Franchise Business; (2) marketing and promotional 
programs for the Franchise Business and customer information; (3) recipes, cooking methods, and 
ingredient lists; (4) methods of operation; (5) knowledge of specifications for and knowledge of suppliers 
of certain materials, equipment and supplies for the Franchise Business; (6) operating results and financial 
performance of the Franchise Business; (7) the Operations Manual; and (8) the terms of the Franchise 
Agreement. 

Under the Franchise Agreement, we will disclose to you parts of the Confidential Information as 
are required for the development and operation of the Franchise Business during training and in the course 
of any guidance or assistance furnished to you. You may learn or otherwise obtain from us additional 
Confidential Information during the term of the Franchise Agreement. You must agree to disclose the 
Confidential Information to your Stakeholders and employees only to the extent permitted by the Franchise 
Agreement. 

You must acknowledge and agree that the Confidential Information is confidential to and a valuable 
asset of us and our affiliates, is proprietary, includes trade secrets of us and our affiliates and is disclosed 
to you on the condition that you agree that during and after the term of the applicable agreement you: 
(1) will not use the Confidential Information in any other business or capacity; (2) will maintain the absolute 
confidentiality of the Confidential Information; (3) will not make unauthorized copies of any portion of the 
Confidential Information disclosed in written or other tangible form; (4) will adopt and implement all 
reasonable procedures we prescribe to prevent unauthorized use or disclosure of the Confidential 
Information; and (5) will require all Stakeholders, spouses of Stakeholders, and all employees who have 
access to the Confidential Information to sign Confidentiality, Non-Competition, and Non-Solicitation 
Agreements in the form we approve and provide us, at our request, with signed copies of each agreement. 
Nothing contained in the Franchise Agreement will be construed to prohibit you from using the Confidential 
Information in connection with the operation of other Franchise Businesses according to a Franchise 
Agreement or other Agreements with us. 

If you have obtained our prior written consent, the restrictions on the disclosure and use of the 
Confidential Information shall not apply to the following: (a) information, methods, procedures, techniques, 
technology, and knowledge which are or become generally known, other than through deliberate or 
inadvertent disclosure by you; and (b) the disclosure of the Confidential Information in judicial or 
administrative proceedings to the extent that you are legally compelled to disclose information, provided 
you have notified us prior to disclosure and used your best efforts to obtain, and afforded us the opportunity 
to obtain, an appropriate protective order or other assurance satisfactory to us of confidential treatment for 
the information required to be so disclosed. 

If you develop any new concepts, processes, improvements, technology, or innovations 
(“Innovations”) solely relating to the Confidential Information, whether or not pursuant to a test we authorize, 
you must promptly notify us and provide us with all information regarding the Innovations, all of which shall 
become our property or the property of our affiliates and which may be incorporated into the Franchise Business 
without any payment to you. You, at your expense, must promptly take all actions we deem necessary or 
desirable to vest our ownership of such Innovations. We shall have no obligation to make any payment with 
respect to any such Innovations. You will not use, nor will you allow any other person or entity to use, any such 
Innovations without obtaining our prior written approval. We may refuse, defer or permit you to use such 
Innovations in your operation of the Franchise Business, based on the peculiarities of a particular Approved 
Location, density of population, business potential, or any other condition or circumstance. We shall have the 
right, in our sole discretion, to deny any such request we believe would not be in our best interests.  
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ITEM 15:  OBLIGATION TO PARTICIPATE IN THE ACTUAL OPERATION OF THE     
FRANCHISE BUSINESS 

The Franchise Agreement requires you to exert your full-time best efforts to develop and expand 
the market for Products and Services offered by the Franchise Business and to cooperate with us to 
accomplish the purposes of the Franchise Agreement. In that regard, you must not engage in any other 
business or activity that conflicts with your obligations under your Franchise Agreement. You must operate 
your Franchise Business in accordance with our System standards of service, advertising, promotion and 
management. You must comply with all our business policies, practices and procedures, including the 
operating times of your Franchise Business, as we prescribe in the Operations Manual, or otherwise in 
writing from time to time. 

If you open an individual unit, you must be the Operating Manager. The Operating Manager, must 
be identified in an exhibit to the Franchise Agreement and may be required under the terms of the Franchise 
Agreement to own an equity interest in you. The Operating Manager must have satisfactorily completed 
Initial Training. This includes attending and fully participating in the training sessions. 

You must hire and maintain an adequate number and level of management and other personnel 
required for the conduct of the Franchise Business. You are responsible for ensuring that your trainers, 
coaches, and other personnel are properly trained to perform their duties. As described in Item 14, we may 
require you to obtain confidentiality and non-competition agreements from your Operating Manager and 
certain of your employees. The Franchise Agreement requires that you acknowledge that we are not 
the employer for any employees you hire. You will be required to inform any employees that you are 
their employer and not us. 

Furthermore, if you are a business entity, each Owner must personally guarantee your obligations 
under the Franchise Agreement and also agree to be personally bound by, and personally liable for the 
breach of, every provision of the Franchise Agreement according to the Owner’s Guaranty attached to the 
Franchise Agreement. Your spouse is not required to execute a personal guaranty or a confidentiality and 
non-competition agreement relating to your franshise. 
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ITEM 16:  RESTRICTIONS ON WHAT THE FRANCHISEE MAY SELL 

You may only sell the foods, beverages and products specified or approved by us in writing. Selling 
foods, beverages and products that have not been specified or approved by us is a material breach of the 
Franchise Agreement and, if not cured, is grounds for penalties provided in the Franchise Agreement 
including but not necessarily limited to termination of the Franchise Agreement. You must sell the foods, 
beverages and products required by us. We can change the foods, beverages and products that you must 
offer at your Franchise Business. There is no limitation on our right to change the foods, beverages and 
products offered by the Franchise Business. You are not limited to whom you may sell your foods, 
beverages and products, but you may not sell any of the foods, beverages and products offered in connection 
with your Franchise Business on a wholesale basis, at any location other than your Franchise Business, 
including through the Internet, catalogue, mail order, telemarketing, or any other method of sales or 
distribution. 

We do not impose any restrictions or conditions that limit your access to customers, except that 
you may offer catering and delivery services only with the prior written approval of us and according to 
our standards and specifications. 

REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY. 

 

 



 

17-1 
Shah’s Halal FDD (2024) 

313520804v.1 

ITEM 17:  RENEWAL, TERMINATION, TRANSFER, AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

THE FRANCHISE RELATIONSHIP 

This table lists certain important provisions of the franchise and related agreements. You should 
read these provisions in the agreements attached to this disclosure document. 

Provision 
Article in the Franchise 

Agreement 
Summary 

a. Length of the franchise term IV 10 years. 

b. Renewal or extension IV One additional term of 10 years. 

c. Requirement for franchisee to 
renew or extend 

IV You have been in substantial 
compliance with agreement, pay 
renewal fee. You may have to remodel 
your location, at your expense. 

 

You may be asked to sign a contract 
with materially different terms and 
conditions than your original contract, 
pay the renewal fee, comply with any 
new training requirements and serve 
notice of intention to renewal not less 
than twelve (12) months nor more than 
eighteen (18) months prior to the 
expiration of the agreement. You may 
be required to sign a general release in 
favor of us. 

d. Termination by franchisee None. The Franchise Agreement does not 
provide for this. But you may seek to 
terminate on any grounds available to 
you at law. 

 

e. Termination by franchisor 
without cause 

Not Applicable Not Applicable 

f. Termination by franchisor 
with cause 

XVII We can terminate only if you commit 
any one of several listed violations 

g. “Cause” defined—curable 
defaults 

XVII 30 days for operations defaults, 30 days 
for monetary defaults, 24 hours for 
health code violations, as set forth in the 
Franchise Agreement 

h. “Cause” defined—non-
curable defaults 

XVII Conviction of a felony, abandonment, 
unapproved transfers, bankruptcy, 
assignment for benefit of creditors, 
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Provision 
Article in the Franchise 

Agreement 
Summary 

repeated violations; termination for 
cause of another contract between us 
and you. 

i. Franchisee’s obligations on 
termination/non-renewal 

XVIII Pay outstanding amounts, de-
identification, return of confidential 
information and other materials 
provided by us; pay liquidated damages. 

j. Assignment of contract by 
franchisor 

XX 
No restriction on our right to assign. 

k. “Transfer” by franchisee—
defined 

XX Includes transfer of contract, of assets or 
any ownership change. 

l. Franchisor approval of 
transfer by franchisee 

XX We have the right to approval all 
transfers. 

m. Conditions for franchisor 
approval of transfer 

XX Transferee qualifies, all amounts due are 
paid in full, you sign a general release in 
our favor, transferee completes training, 
transfer fee paid, then-current contract 
signed 

n. Franchisor’s right of first 
refusal to acquire franchisee’s 
business 

XX 
We can match any offer. 

o. Franchisor’s option to 
purchase franchisee’s business 

XX We can buy the business on termination 
or non-renewal for the price offered to 
you. 

p. Death or disability of 
franchisee 

XX and XXI Franchise must be assigned to approved 
buyer within 12 months or transferred to 
an heir or representative. 

q. Non-competition covenants 
during the term of the franchise. 

XIV Can’t divert business or operate a 
competing business anywhere. 

r. Non-competition covenants 
after the franchise is terminated 
or expires 

XIV 
No competing business for two years, 
within 100 miles. 

s. Modification of agreement XXXI No modifications generally except by 
signed writing but Operations Manual is 
subject to change. Revisions to the 
Operations Manual will not 
substantially increase your economic 
burden. 
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Provision 
Article in the Franchise 

Agreement 
Summary 

t. Integration/merger clause XXXI Only the terms of the Franchise 
Agreement and other related written 
agreements are binding (subject to 
applicable state law). Any 
representations or promises outside of 
the disclosure document and franchise 
agreement may not be enforceable. 

u. Dispute resolution by 
arbitration or mediation 

XXIX Either of us, as plaintiff, may choose to 
submit a dispute to a court or to 
arbitration. 

v. Choice of forum XXIX The state of  New York or such other 
venue as the parties may agree (subject 
to state law described in any applicable 
State Specific Addendum in Exhibit A). 

w. Choice of law XXIX New York law applies (subject to state 
law described in any applicable State 
Specific Addendum in Exhibit A). 

See any state specific riders or addenda attached as Exhibit A. 
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ITEM 18:  PUBLIC FIGURES 

We do not use any public figure to promote our franchise. 
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ITEM 19:  FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPRESENTATIONS 

The FTC’s Franchise Rule permits a franchisor to provide information about the actual or potential 
financial performance of its franchised and/or franchisor-owned outlets, if there is a reasonable basis for 
the information, and if the information is included in the disclosure document. Financial performance 
information that differs from that included in Item 19 may be given only if: (1) a franchisor provides the 
actual records of an existing outlet you are considering buying; or (2) a franchisor supplements the 
information provided in this Item 19, for example, by providing information about possible performance at 
a particular location or under particular circumstances. 

We do not make any representations about a franchisee’s future financial performance or the past 
financial performance of company-owned or franchised outlets. We also do not authorize our employees or 
representatives to make any such representations either orally or in writing. If you are purchasing an existing 
outlet, however, we may provide you with the actual records of that outlet. If you receive any other financial 
performance information or projections of your future income, you should report it to the franchisor’s 
management by contacting us at (309) 539-4585 ext. 105, the Federal Trade Commission, and the 
appropriate state regulatory agencies. 
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ITEM 20:  OUTLETS AND FRANCHISEE INFORMATION 

We do not have any franchises operating as of the date of this disclosure document, nor do we have 
any franchisees who have had a franchise agreement terminated, cancelled, or not renewed or who have 
otherwise voluntarily or involuntarily ceased to do business under a franchise agreement with us or who 
have not communicated with us within 10 weeks of the date of this disclosure document.  There are 
licensees operating a Shah’s Halal branded restaurant under a form of license agreement.  The following 
information reflects Outlets operating under a form of a license agreement. 

TABLE NO. 1 
Systemwide Outlet Summary 

For years 2020 to 2023 
 

Outlet Type Year 
Outlets at the Start 

of the Year 
Outlets at the End 

of the Year 
Net Change 

Licensed 

2020 3 8 +5 
2021 8 17 +9 
2022 17 28 +11 
2023 28 44 +16 

Company- Owned 

2020 8 9 +1 
2021 9 9 0 
2022 9 13 +4 
2023 13 14 +1 

Total Outlets 

2020 11 17 +6 
2021 17 26 +9 
2022 26 41 +15 
2023 41 58 +17 

 
TABLE NO. 2 

Transfers of Outlets from Licensees to New Owners (other than the Franchisor) 
For years 2020 to 2023 

State Year Number of Transfers 

All States 

2020 0 
2021 0 
2022 0 
2023 2 

Totals 

2020 0 
2021 0 
2022 0 
2023 2 
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TABLE NO. 3 
Status of Outlets 

For years 2020 to 2023 

State Year 
Outlets 
at Start 
of Year 

Outlets 
Opened 

Termi-
nations 

Non- 
Renewals 

Reacquired 
by 

Franchisor 

Ceased 
Operations- 

Other 
Reasons 

Outlets 
at End of 
the Year 

CA 

2020 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2021 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2022 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2023 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 

CT 

2020 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2021 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2022 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 
2023 1 3 0 0 0 0 4 

DE 

2020 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2021 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2022 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 
2023 01 1 0 0 0 0 2 

GA 

2020 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2021 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2022 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2023 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 

MA 

2020 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 
2021 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 
2022 1 1 0 0 0 0 2 
2023 2 2 0 0 0 0 4 

MD 

2020 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2021 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2022 0 2 0 0 0 0 2 
2023 2 2 0 0 0 0 4 

NJ 

2020 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2021 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2022 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 
2023 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 

NY 

2020 0 2 0 0 0 0 2 
2021 2 0 0 0 0 0 2 
2022 2 3 0 0 0 0 5 
2023 5 11 0 0 0 0 16 

PA 
2020 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2021 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2022 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
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State Year 
Outlets 
at Start 
of Year 

Outlets 
Opened 

Termi-
nations 

Non- 
Renewals 

Reacquired 
by 

Franchisor 

Ceased 
Operations- 

Other 
Reasons 

Outlets 
at End of 
the Year 

2023 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 

VA 

2020 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2021 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2022 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 
2023 1 3 0 0 0 0 4 

Totals 

2020 0 3 0 0 0 0 3 
2021 3 0 0 0 0 0 3 
2022 3 11 0 0 0 0 14 
2023 14 25 0 0 0 0 39 

TABLE NO. 4 
Status of Company-Owned Outlets 

For years 2020 to 2023 

State Year 
Outlets at 
Start of 
the Year 

Outlets 
Opened 

Outlets 
Reacquired 

From 
Licensee 

Outlets 
Closed 

Outlets Sold 
to Licensee 

Outlets at 
End of the 

Year 

Ontario, CAN 

2020 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2021 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2022 0 1 0 0 0 1 
2023 1 0 0 0 0 1 

NY 

2020 8 2 0 1 0 9 
2021 9 0 0 0 0 9 
2022 9 3 0 0 0 12 
2023 12 1 0 0 0 13 

Totals 

2020 8 2 0 1 0 9 
2021 9 0 0 0 0 9 
2022 9 4 0 0 0 13 
2023 13 1 0 0 0 14 

 
TABLE NO. 5 

Projected Openings 
as of December 31, 2023 

State 
License Agreements 

Signed But Outlet Not 
Opened 

Projected New 
Franchised Outlets in 

Next Fiscal Year 

Projected New Company-
Owned Outlets in Next 

Fiscal Year 
CA 0 1 0 
CT 2 8 0 
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State 
License Agreements 

Signed But Outlet Not 
Opened 

Projected New 
Franchised Outlets in 

Next Fiscal Year 

Projected New Company-
Owned Outlets in Next 

Fiscal Year 
GA 1 0 0 
IL 0 1 0 
IN 2 0 0 

MA 0 0 0 
MD 0 0 0 
NC 0 1 0 
NJ 0 1 1 
NY 0 2 1 
PA 1 0 0 
VA 1 3 0 

Totals 7 17 2 
 

If you buy this franchise, your contact information may be disclosed to other buyers when you 
leave the franchise system. In some instances, current and former franchisees sign provisions restricting 
their ability to speak openly about their experience with Shah’s Halal. You may wish to speak with current 
and former franchisees, but be aware that not all such franchisees will be able to communicate with you. 
There are currently no trademark-specific franchisee organizations associated with our system.  
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ITEM 21:  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Our fiscal year end is December 31.  Attached to this Disclosure Document are the financial 
statements of Shah’s Halal Food Partners, Inc., as of December 31, 2021, December 31, 2022, and 
December 2023.  The related statements of operations, changes in equity, and cash flows for Shah’s Halal 
Food Partners for each of the period of December 31, 2021-2023 are included in this Disclosure Document 
by reference. See Exhibit H. 

The financial statements of Shah’s Halal Food Partners, Inc. have been audited by Allied CPAs, 
P.C.   

Exhibit H also includes unaudited financial statements as of July 31, 2024. 

Our Parent, Shah’s Halal Food Partners, Inc., absolutely and unconditionally guarantees the 
performance of our obligations under the Franchise Agreement.  
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ITEM 22:  CONTRACTS 

The Franchise Agreement is Exhibit D to this disclosure document. The following contract forms 
are Exhibits to the Franchise Agreement:  

Exhibit B. Guaranty (to Franchisor) 

Exhibit C. Collateral Assignment of Lease 

Exhibit E. Internet, Website, and Telephone Listing Agreement 

Exhibit G. Franchise Acknowledgement 

Exhibit H._ Questionnaire 

Exhibit I. Training Completion Agreement and Release 

Exhibit J. Exclusive Supply Agreement 

Exhibit K. Guaranty (Exclusive Supplier) 

Exhibit L. Electronic Transfer Authorization 

Exhibit M. Power of Attorney 

Exhibit N. ADA Certificate 

The Following contracts and agreements are included as Exhibits: 

1. Current form of General Release (attached as Exhibit F). 
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ITEM 23:  RECEIPTS 

Our and your copies of the disclosure document receipt are on Exhibit J of this disclosure document. 

This Disclosure Document and the Franchise Agreement and any other documents to be delivered 
in connection herewith and therewith may be electronically signed, that any digital or electronic signatures 
(including pdf, facsimile or electronically imaged signatures provided by DocuSign or any other digital 
signature provider) appearing on this Disclosure Document and the Franchise Agreement or such other 
documents are the same as handwritten signatures for the purposes of validity, enforceability and 
admissibility, and that delivery of any such electronic signature to, or a signed copy of, this Disclosure 
Documents and the Franchise Agreement and such other documents may be made by facsimile, email or 
other electronic transmission. 

REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY. 

 

 



 

[EXHIBIT A] 
313520804v.1 

EXHIBIT A 
STATE SPECIFIC ADDENDUM 

The following are additional disclosures for the Franchise Disclosure Document of Shah’s Halal 
Franchising Inc. required by various state franchise laws. Each provision of these additional disclosures 
will not apply unless, with respect to that provision, the jurisdictional requirements of the applicable state 
franchise registration and disclosure law are met independently, without reference to these additional 
disclosures. 
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ADDENDUM TO DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT 
FOR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

 
 In recognition of the requirements of the California Franchise Investment Law, Cal. Corp. Code §§ 
31000-31516, and the California Franchise Relations Act, Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 20000-20043, the 
Franchise Disclosure Document for Shah’s Halal Franchising, Inc., in connection with the offer and sale of 
franchises for use in the State of California shall be amended to include the following: 
 
 1. Our website, http://shahshalalfood.com, has not been reviewed or approved by the 
California Department of Business Oversight. Any complaints concerning the content of the website may 
be directed to the California Department of Business Oversight at www.dbo.ca.gov. 
 
 2. THE CALIFORNIA FRANCHISE INVESTMENT LAW REQUIRES THAT A COPY 
OF ALL PROPOSED AGREEMENTS RELATING TO THE SALE OF THE FRANCHISE BE 
DELIVERED TOGETHER WITH THE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT. 
 
 3. SECTION 31125 OF THE CALIFORNIA CORPORATIONS CODE REQUIRES US TO 
GIVE YOU A DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT, IN A FORM CONTAINING THE INFORMATION THAT 
THE COMMISSIONER MAY BY RULE OR ORDER REQUIRE, BEFORE A SOLICITATION OF A 
PROPOSED MATERIAL MODIFICATION OF AN EXISTING FRANCHISE. 
 
 4. YOU MUST SIGN A GENERAL RELEASE IF YOU RENEW OR TRANSFER YOUR 
FRANCHISE. CALIFORNIA CORPORATIONS CODE § 31512 VOIDS A WAIVER OF YOUR 
RIGHTS UNDER THE FRANCHISE INVESTMENT LAW (CALIFORNIA CORPORATIONS CODE 
§§ 31000 THROUGH 31516). BUSINESS AND PROFESSIONS CODE § 20010 VOIDS A WAIVER OF 
YOUR RIGHTS UNDER THE FRANCHISE RELATIONS ACT (BUSINESS AND PROFESSIONS 
CODE §§ 20000 THROUGH 20043). 
 
 5. In Item 3, “Litigation,” shall be amended by the addition of the following paragraphs:  
 

Pursuant to California law, this Item does not include any information regarding 
the arrest of any person(s) that did not result in a conviction or plea of nolo 
contendere. 
 
Neither we, nor any person identified in Item 2 above, is subject to any currently 
effective order of any national securities association or national securities 
exchange (as defined in the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C. § 78a, 
et seq.) suspending or expelling such person from membership in such association 
or exchange. 
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 6. Item 17, “Renewal, Termination, Transfer and Dispute Resolution,” shall be amended by 
the addition of the following paragraph(s) at the conclusion of the Item: 
 

The following notice is required to be inserted in this Disclosure Document by the 
state of California whenever an applicable provision is included in a Franchise 
Agreement. We reserve the right to attempt to enforce all of the provisions listed 
below in which we indicate that “this provision may not be enforceable under 
California law.” 

 
California Business and Professions Code Sections 20000 through 20043 provide 
rights to the franchisee concerning termination, transfer or non-renewal of a 
franchise. If the Franchise Agreement contains a provision that is inconsistent with 
the law, the law will control. 
 
The Franchise Agreement provides for termination upon bankruptcy. This 
provision may not be enforceable under federal bankruptcy law (11 U.S.C. § 101, 
et seq.). 
 
The Franchise Agreement contains a covenant not to compete which extends 
beyond the termination of the franchise. This provision does not apply to 
franchisees located in California. 
 
The Franchise Agreement contains a provision that may be interpreted as a 
liquidated damages clause. Under California Civil Code Section 1671, certain 
liquidated damages clauses are unenforceable. 
 
The Franchise Agreement requires litigation or arbitration in New York is located 
with the costs being equally borne by each party. Prospective franchisees are 
encouraged to consult private legal counsel to determine the applicability of 
California and federal laws (such as Business and Professions Code Section 
20040.5, Code of Civil Procedure Section 1281, and the Federal Arbitration Act) 
to any provisions of a franchise agreement restricting venue to a forum outside the 
State of California. 
 
The Franchise Agreement requires application of the laws of New York. This 
provision may not be enforceable under California law. 

 
 7. Each provision of this Addendum to the Disclosure Document shall be effective only to 
the extent, with respect to such provision, that the jurisdictional requirements of the California Franchise 
Investment Law, Cal. Corp. Code §§ 31000 - 31516, and the California Franchise Relations Act, Cal Bus. 
& Prof. Code §§ 2000 - 20043, are met independently without reference to this Addendum to the Disclosure 
Document. 
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ADDENDUM TO FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT 
FOR THE STATE OF HAWAII 

 
In recognition of the requirements of the Hawaii Franchise Investment Law, Hawaii Rev. Stat. §§ 428E-

, et seq., the Franchise Disclosure Document for Shah’s Halal Franchising, Inc., for use in the State of 
Hawaii shall be amended as follows: 
 

THESE FRANCHISES WILL BE/HAVE BEEN FILED UNDER THE FRANCHISE INVESTMENT 
LAW OF THE STATE OF HAWAII. FILING DOES NOT CONSTITUTE APPROVAL, 
RECOMMENDATION OR ENDORSEMENT BY THE DIRECTOR OF COMMERCE AND 
CONSUMER AFFAIRS OR A FINDING BY THE DIRECTOR OF COMMERCE AND CONSUMER 
AFFAIRS THAT THE INFORMATION PROVIDED HEREIN IS TRUE, COMPLETE AND NOT 
MISLEADING. 
 

THE FRANCHISE INVESTMENT LAW MAKES IT UNLAWFUL TO OFFER OR SELL ANY 
FRANCHISE IN THIS STATE WITHOUT FIRST PROVIDING TO THE PROSPECTIVE 
FRANCHISEE, OR SUBFRANCHISOR, AT LEAST SEVEN DAYS PRIOR TO THE EXECUTION BY 
THE PROSPECTIVE FRANCHISEE OF ANY BINDING FRANCHISE OR OTHER AGREEMENT, OR 
AT LEAST SEVEN DAYS PRIOR TO THE PAYMENT OF ANY CONSIDERATION BY THE 
FRANCHISEE, OR SUBFRANCHISOR, WHICHEVER OCCURS FIRST, A COPY OF THE 
DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT, TOGETHER WITH A COPY OF ALL PROPOSED AGREEMENTS 
RELATING TO THE SALE OF THE FRANCHISE. 
 

THIS DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT CONTAINS A SUMMARY ONLY OF CERTAIN MATERIAL 
PROVISIONS OF THE FRANCHISE AGREEMENT. THE CONTRACT OR AGREEMENT SHOULD 
BE REFERRED TO FOR A STATEMENT OF ALL RIGHTS, CONDITIONS RESTRICTIONS AND 
OBLIGATIONS OF BOTH THE FRANCHISOR AND THE FRANCHISEE. 
 

Each provision of this Addendum shall be effective only to the extent, with respect to such provision, 
that the jurisdictional requirements of the Hawaii Franchise Investment Law are met independently without 
reference to this Addendum to the Disclosure Document. 
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ADDENDUM TO FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT 
FOR THE STATE OF ILLINOIS 

 
By reading this disclosure document, you are not agreeing to, acknowledging, or making any 

representations whatsoever to the Franchisor and its affiliates. 
 
Illinois law governs the Franchise Agreement. 

 
In conformance with Section 4 of the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act, any provision in a franchise 

agreement that designates jurisdiction and venue in a forum outside of the State of Illinois is void. However, 
a franchise agreement may provide for arbitration to take place outside of Illinois. 

 
Your rights upon Termination and Non-Renewal of an agreement are set forth in sections 19 and 

20 of the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act. 
 

In conformance with section 41 of the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act, any condition, stipulation 
or provision purporting to bind any person acquiring any franchise to waive compliance with the Illinois 
Franchise Disclosure Act or any other law of Illinois is void. 
 

No statement, questionnaire or acknowledgement signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection 
with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of: (i) waiving any claims under 
any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance on behalf 
of the Franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with 
the franchise.  
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ADDENDUM TO FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT 
FOR THE STATE OF INDIANA 

 
In recognition of the requirements of the Indiana Franchise Disclosure Law, Indiana Code 

§§ 23-2-2.5-1 to 23-2-2.5-51, and the Indiana Deceptive Franchise Practices Act, Indiana Code 
§§ 23-2-2.7-1 to 23-2-2.7-10, the Franchise Disclosure Document for Shah’s Halal Franchising, Inc., for 
use in the State of Indiana shall be amended as follows: 
 

1. Item 8, "Restrictions on Sources of Products and Services," shall be amended by the addition of 
the following language: 
 

Any benefits derived as a result of a transaction with suppliers for Indiana franchisees will be kept 
by us as compensation for locating suppliers and negotiating prices for you. 
 

2. Item 12, "Territory," shall be amended by the addition of the following paragraph: 
 

We will not compete unfairly with you within a reasonable area. 
 

3. Item 17, "Renewal, Termination, Transfer and Dispute Resolution," shall be amended by the 
addition of the following paragraphs at the end of the Item: 
 

The Indiana Deceptive Franchise Practices Act requires that any release executed by a Franchisee 
or transferor must not include any claims arising under the Indiana Franchise Disclosure Law or 
the Indiana Deceptive Franchise Practices Act. 
 
The Indiana Deceptive Franchise Practices Act requires that Indiana law govern any cause of action 
which arises under the Indiana Franchise Disclosure Law or the Indiana Deceptive Franchise 
Practices Act. 

 
4. No release language set forth in the Disclosure Document or the Franchise Agreement shall relieve 

us or any other person directly or indirectly form liability imposed by the laws concerning franchising of 
the State of Indiana. 

 
5. Each provision of this Addendum to the Disclosure Document shall be effective only to the extent, 

with respect to such provision, that the jurisdictional requirements of the Indiana Franchise Disclosure Law, 
Indiana Code §§ 23-2-2.5-1 to 23-2-2.5-51, and the Indiana Deceptive Franchise Practices Act, Indiana 
Code §§ 23-2-2.7-1 to 23-2-2.7-10, are met independently without reference to this Addendum to the 
Disclosure Document. 
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ADDENDUM TO FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT 
FOR THE STATE OF MARYLAND 

 
 The Franchise Disclosure Document for Shah’s Halal Franchising, Inc., for use in the State of 
Maryland shall be amended as follows: 
  
 1. Item 17, “Renewal, Termination, Transfer and Dispute Resolution,” shall be amended by 
the addition of the following language: 
 

The general releases required for renewal or transfer will not apply with respect to 
any claim you may have which arises under the Maryland Franchise Registration 
and Disclosure Law.  
 
You may bring a lawsuit in Maryland with respect to claims arising under the 
Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law. 
 
Any claims arising under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law 
must be brought within 3 years after the grant of the franchise. 
 
The Franchisee may sue in Maryland for claims arising under the Maryland 
Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law. 

 
 2. Item 17, “Renewal, Termination, Transfer and Dispute Resolution,” shall be amended by 
the addition of the following language to the summary of Provision “h”: 
 

Termination upon bankruptcy may not be enforceable under federal bankruptcy 
law, 11 U.S.C. Section 101 et seq. 

 
 3. Section “c.” of the table within Item 17, “Renewal, Termination, Transfer and Dispute 
Resolution” shall be amended by replacing, within the Summary Column, the item listed as “(e)” with the 
following: 
 

Provision 
Section in franchise or 

other agreement 
Summary 

c. Requirements for you to 
renew or extend 

¶ IV … (e) execute a general release, in a form 
satisfactory to us (this general release shall 
not apply to any liability under the 
Maryland Franchise and Disclosure Law); 

 
 5. Sections “v.” and “w.” of the table within Item 17, “Renewal, Termination, Transfer and 
Dispute Resolution,” shall be replaced with the following: 
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Provision 
Section in franchise or 

other agreement 
Summary 

v. Choice of forum ¶ XXIX  Litigation or arbitration will be held 
in the state where our headquarters 
is then located (currently, New 
York), except for claims arising 
under the Maryland Franchise 
Registration and Disclosure Law. 
For matters not covered by 
arbitration, litigation will be held in 
the state where our headquarters is 
then located (currently, New York), 
except for claims arising under the 
Maryland Franchise Registration 
and Disclosure Law. 

w.  Choice of law XXIX New York (except that claims under 
the Maryland Franchise 
Registration and Disclosure Law 
will be governed by Maryland law) 

 
6. No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgment signed or agreed to by a franchisee in 

connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any 
claims under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming 
reliance on any statement made by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf of the 
franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the 
franchise. 
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ADDENDUM TO FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT 
FOR THE STATE OF MINNESOTA 

 
 In recognition of the requirements of the Minnesota Franchises Law, Minn. Stat. §§ 80C.01 through 
80C.22, and of the Rules and Regulations promulgated thereunder by the Minnesota Commissioner of 
Commerce, Minn. Rules §§ 2860.0100 through 2860.9930, the Franchise Disclosure Document for Shah’s 
Halal Franchising, Inc., for use in the State of Minnesota shall be amended to include the following: 
 
 1. Item 13, “Trademarks,” shall be amended by the addition of the following paragraph at the 
end of the Item: 
 

Pursuant to Minnesota Stat. Sec. 80C.12, Subd. 1(g), we are required to protect 
any rights which you have to use our proprietary marks. 

 
 2. Item 17, “Renewal, Termination, Transfer and Dispute Resolution,” shall be amended by 
the addition of the following paragraphs: 
 

With respect to franchisees governed by Minnesota law, we will comply with 
Minn. Stat. Sec. 80C.14, Subds. 3, 4, and 5 which require, except in certain 
specified cases, that a franchisee be given 90 days’ notice of termination (with 60 
days to cure) and 180 days’ notice of non-renewal of the Franchise Agreement, 
and that consent to the transfer of the franchise not be unreasonably withheld. 

 
Pursuant to Minn. Rule 2860.4400D, any general release of claims that you or a 
transferor may have against us or our shareholders, directors, employees and 
agents, including without limitation claims arising under federal, state, and local 
laws and regulations shall exclude claims you or a transferor may have under the 
Minnesota Franchise Law and the Rules and Regulations promulgated thereunder 
by the Commissioner of Commerce. 

 
Minn. Stat. § 80C.21 and Minn. Rule 2860.4400(J) prohibit us from requiring 
litigation to be conducted outside Minnesota, requiring waiver of a jury trial, or 
requiring you to consent to liquidated damages, termination penalties or judgment 
notes. In addition, nothing in the Franchise Disclosure Document or agreement(s) 
can abrogate or reduce any of your rights as provided for in Minnesota Statutes, 
Chapter 80C, or your rights to any procedure, forum, or remedies provided for by 
the laws of the jurisdiction. 
 

 3.  The Franchise Agreement contains a provision that may be interpreted as a liquidated 
damages clause under Minnesota law. Certain liquidated damages clauses are unenforceable. 

 
 4.  No release language set forth in the Franchise Agreement shall relieve us or any other 

person directly or indirectly from liability imposed by the laws concerning franchising in the State of 
Minnesota. 
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 5. Each provision of this addendum shall be effective only to the extent, with respect to such 
provision, that the jurisdictional requirements of the Minnesota Franchises Law or the Rules and 
Regulations promulgated thereunder by the Minnesota Commission of Commerce are met independently 
without reference to this addendum to the Disclosure Document. 

 
REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY. 

 



 

[EXHIBIT A] 
Shah’s Halal FDD (2024) 

313520804v.1 

ADDENDUM TO FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT 
FOR THE STATE OF NEW YORK 

 
1. The following information is added to the cover page of the Franchise Disclosure Document: 

INFORMATION COMPARING FRANCHISORS IS AVAILABLE. CALL THE 
STATE ADMINISTRATORS LISTED IN EXHIBIT B OR YOUR PUBLIC 
LIBRARY FOR SERVICES OR INFORMATION. REGISTRATION OF THIS 
FRANCHISE BY NEW YORK STATE DOES NOT MEAN THAT NEW YORK 
STATE RECOMMENDS IT OR HAS VERIFIED THE INFORMATION IN THIS 
FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT. IF YOU LEARN THAT ANYTHING 
IN THIS FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT IS UNTRUE, CONTACT THE 
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION AND THE NEW YORK STATE 
DEPARTMENT OF LAW, INVESTMENT PROTECTION BUREAU, 120 
BROADWAY, 23RD FLOOR, NEW YORK, NEW YORK 10271.  

THE FRANCHISOR MAY, IF IT CHOOSES, NEGOTIATE WITH YOU ABOUT 
ITEMS COVERED IN THE FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT. 
HOWEVER, THE FRANCHISOR CANNOT USE THE NEGOTIATING 
PROCESS TO PREVAIL UPON A PROSPECTIVE FRANCHISEE TO ACCEPT 
TERMS WHICH ARE LESS FAVORABLE THAN THOSE SET FORTH IN THIS 
FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT. 

2. The following is to be added at the end of Item 3: 

Except as provided above, with regard to the franchisor, its predecessor, a person identified in Item 
2, or an affiliate offering franchises under the franchisor’s principal trademark: 

A. No such party has an administrative, criminal or civil action pending against that person 
alleging: a felony, a violation of a franchise, antitrust, or securities law, fraud, embezzlement, 
fraudulent conversion, misappropriation of property, unfair or deceptive practices, or comparable 
civil or misdemeanor allegations. 

B. No such party has pending actions, other than routine litigation incidental to the business, 
which are significant in the context of the number of franchisees and the size, nature or financial 
condition of the franchise system or its business operations. 

C. No such party has been convicted of a felony or pleaded nolo contendere to a felony charge 
or, within the 10-year period immediately preceding the application for registration, has been 
convicted of or pleaded nolo contendere to a misdemeanor charge or has been the subject of a civil 
action alleging: violation of a franchise, antifraud, or securities law; fraud; embezzlement; 
fraudulent conversion or misappropriation of property; or unfair or deceptive practices or 
comparable allegations. 

D. No such party is subject to a currently effective injunctive or restrictive order or decree 
relating to the franchise, or under a Federal, State, or Canadian franchise, securities, antitrust, trade 
regulation or trade practice law, resulting from a concluded or pending action or proceeding brought 
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by a public agency; or is subject to any currently effective order of any national securities 
association or national securities exchange, as defined in the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, 
suspending or expelling such person from membership in such association or exchange; or is 
subject to a currently effective injunctive or restrictive order relating to any other business activity 
as a result of an action brought by a public agency or department, including, without limitation, 
actions affecting a license as a real estate broker or sales agent. 

3. The following is added to the end of the “Summary” sections of Item 17(c), titled “Requirements 
for franchisee to renew or extend,” and Item 17(m), titled “Conditions for franchisor approval of 
transfer”: 

However, to the extent required by applicable law, all rights you enjoy and any causes of 
action arising in your favor from the provisions of Article 33 of the General Business Law 
of the State of New York and the regulations issued thereunder shall remain in force; it 
being the intent of this proviso that the non-waiver provisions of General Business Law 
Sections 687(4) and 687(5) be satisfied. 

4. The following language replaces the “Summary” section of Item 17(d), titled “Termination by 
franchisee”: You may terminate the agreement on any grounds available by law. 

5. The following is added to the “Summary” sections of Item 17(v), titled “Choice of forum,” and 
Item 17(w), titled “Choice of law”: 

The foregoing choice of law should not be considered a waiver of any right conferred upon 
the franchisor or upon the franchisee by Article 33 of the General Business Law of the 
State of New York. 

 
6. There are circumstances in which an offering made by us would not fall within the scope of the 
New York General Business Law, Article 33, such as when the offer and acceptance occurred outside the 
state of New York. However, an offer or sale is deemed made in New York if the franchisee is domiciled 
in or the franchise will be operated in New York. We are required to furnish a New York prospectus to 
every prospective franchisee who is protected under the New York General Business Law, Article 33. 
 
7. Modifications that we make to our Operations Manual as permitted by the Franchise Agreement 
will not impose an unreasonable economic burden on you. 
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ADDENDUM TO FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT 
FOR THE STATE OF NORTH DAKOTA 

 
 In recognition of the requirements of the North Dakota Franchise Investment Law, N.D. Cent. 
Code, §§ 51-19-01 through 51-19-17, and the policies of the office of the State of North Dakota Securities 
Commission, the Franchise Disclosure Document for Shah’s Halal Franchising, Inc., shall be amended by 
the addition of the following language: 
 
 1. The North Dakota Securities Commissioner has held the following to be unfair, unjust, or 
inequitable to North Dakota franchisees (Section 51-19-09, N.D.C.C.): 
 

A.  Restrictive Covenants: Franchise Disclosure Documents which disclose 
the existence of covenants restricting competition contrary to Section 9-08-06, 
N.D.C.C., without further disclosing that such covenants will be subject to this 
statute. 
 
B. Situs of Arbitration Proceedings: Franchise agreements providing that the 
parties must agree to arbitrate disputes at a location that is remote from the site of 
the franchisee’s business. 
 
C. Restriction on Forum: Requiring North Dakota franchisees to consent to 
the jurisdiction of courts outside of North Dakota. 
 
D. Liquidated Damages and Termination Penalties: Requiring North Dakota 
franchisees to consent to liquidated damages or termination penalties. 
 
E. Applicable Laws: Franchise agreements which specify that any claims 
arising under the North Dakota franchise law will be governed by the laws of a 
state other than North Dakota. 
 
F. Waiver of Trial by Jury: Requiring North Dakota franchisees to consent 
to the waiver of a trial by jury. 
 
G. Waiver of Exemplary and Punitive Damages: Requiring North Dakota 
franchisees to consent to a waiver of exemplary and punitive damages. 
 
H. General Release: Requiring North Dakota franchisees to execute a 
general release of claims as a condition of renewal or transfer of a franchise. 

 
 2. Each provision of this Addendum to the Disclosure Document shall be effective only to 
the extent, with respect to such provision, that the jurisdictional requirements of the North Dakota Franchise 
Investment Law, N.D. Cent. Code, §§ 51-19-1 through 51-19-17, are met independently without reference 
to this Addendum to the Disclosure Document. 
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ADDENDUM TO FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT 
FOR THE STATE OF RHODE ISLAND 

 
In recognition of the requirements of the Rhode Island Franchise Investment Act, §§ 19-28.1-1 through 

19-28.1-34, the Franchise Disclosure Document for Shah’s Halal Franchising, Inc., for use in the State of 
Rhode Island shall be amended as follows: 
 
1. Item 17, "Renewal, Termination, Transfer and Dispute Resolution," shall be amended by the 
addition of the following paragraph at the end of the Item: 
 

§ 19-28.1-14 of the Rhode Island Franchise Investment Act provides that "A provision in a franchise 
agreement restricting jurisdiction or venue to a forum outside this state or requiring the application of 
the laws of another state is void with respect to a claim otherwise enforceable under this Act." 

 
2. No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgment signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection 
with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims under 
any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance on any 
statement made by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf of the franchisor. This 
provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the franchise. 
 
3. Each provision of this Addendum shall be effective only to the extent, with respect to such 
provision, that the jurisdictional requirements of the Rhode Island Franchise Investment Act §§ 19-28.1-1 
through 19-28.1-34, are met independently without reference to this Addendum to the Disclosure 
Document. 
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ADDENDUM TO FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT 
FOR THE COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA 

 
In recognition of the requirements of the Virginia Retail Franchising Act, Va. Code Ann. § 13.1-564, 

the Franchise Disclosure Document for Shah’s Halal Franchising, Inc., for use in the Commonwealth of 
Virginia shall be amended as follows: 

 
 Pursuant to Section 13.1-564 of the Virginia Retail Franchising Act, it is unlawful for a franchisor to 
use undue influence to induce a franchisee to surrender any right given to him/her under the franchise. If 
any provision of the Franchise Agreement involves the use of undue influence by the franchisor to induce 
a franchisee to surrender any rights given to him/her under the franchise, that provision may not be 
enforceable. 
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ADDENDUM TO FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT 
FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

 
 In recognition of the requirements of the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act, Wash. 
Rev. Code §§ 19.100.180, the Franchise Disclosure Document for Shah’s Halal Franchise, Inc., in 
connection with the offer and sale of franchises for use in the State of Washington shall be amended to 
include the following: 
 
 1. Item 17, “Renewal, Termination, Transfer and Dispute Resolution,” shall be amended by 
the addition of the following paragraphs at the conclusion of the Item: 
 

The state of Washington has a statute, RCW 19.100.180, which may supersede the 
license agreement in your relationship with the franchisor including the areas of 
termination and renewal of your franchise. There may also be court decisions 
which may supersede the license agreement in your relationship with the franchisor 
including the areas of termination and renewal of your license. 
 
In any arbitration involving a franchise purchased in Washington, the arbitration 
site shall be either in the state of Washington, or in a place mutually agreed upon 
at the time of the arbitration, or as determined by the arbitrator. 
 
In the event of a conflict of laws, the provisions of the Washington Franchise 
Investment Protection Act, Chapter 19.100 RCW shall prevail. 
 
A release or waiver of rights executed by a franchisee shall not include rights under 
the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act except when executed 
pursuant to a negotiated settlement after the agreement is in effect and where the 
parties are represented by independent counsel. Provisions such as those which 
unreasonably restrict or limit the statute of limitations period for claims under the 
Act, rights or remedies under the Act such as a right to a jury trial may not be 
enforceable. 
 
Transfer fees are collectable to the extent that they reflect the franchisor’s 
reasonable estimated or actual costs in effecting a transfer. 
 

2. No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgment signed or agreed to by a franchisee in 
connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any 
claims under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming 
reliance on any statement made by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf of the 
franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the 
franchise. 

 
3. Each provision of this addendum to the Disclosure Document shall be effective only to the 

extent, with respect to such provision, that the jurisdictional requirements of the Washington Franchise 
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Investment Protection Act, Wash. Rev. Code §§ 19.100.180, are met independently without reference to 
this addendum to the Disclosure Document. 
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EXHIBIT B 
LIST OF STATE ADMINISTRATORS 

Listed here are the names, addresses and telephone numbers of the state agencies having 
responsibility for franchising disclosure/registration laws and for service of process. We may not yet be 
registered to sell franchises in any or all of these states. 

 
CALIFORNIA 
Commissioner of the Department of Financial 
Protection and Innovation 
Department of Financial Protection and 
Innovation 
320 West Fourth Street, Suite 750 
Los Angeles, California  90013-2344 
(213) 876-7500 
Toll Free: (866) 275-2677 

NEW YORK 
New York State Department of Law 
Investor Protection Bureau, Franchise Section 
28 Liberty Street, 21st Floor 
New York, New York  10005 
(212) 416-8236 

FLORIDA 
FDACS 
Division of Consumer Services 
Attn: Business Opportunities 
P.O. Box 6700 
Tallahassee, FL 32314-6700 

TEXAS 
Secretary of State 
Registrations Unit 
P.O. Box 13193 
Austin, TX 78711-13193 

ILLINOIS 
Chief, Franchise Bureau 
Attorney General’s Office 
500 South Second Street 
Springfield, Illinois  62701 
(217) 782-4465 

RHODE ISLAND 
Department of Business Regulation 
Securities Division — Franchise Section 
1511 Pontiac Avenue, Bldg. 69-2 
Cranston, Rhode Island  02920 
(401) 462-9500 

INDIANA 
Secretary of State 
Securities Division 
302 West Washington, Room E111 
Indianapolis, Indiana  46204 
(317) 232-6681 

KENTUCKY 
Office of the Attorney General 
Consumer Protection Division 
1024 Capital Center Drive 
Frankfort, KY 40601-8204 

MARYLAND 
Securities Commissioner 
Office of the Attorney General 
Securities Division 
200 St. Paul Place 
Baltimore, Maryland  21202 
 

VIRGINIA 
State Corporation Commission 
Division of Securities and Retail Franchising 
1300 East Main Street, 9th Floor 
Richmond, Virginia  23219 
(804) 371-9051 
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MICHIGAN 
Department of Attorney General 
Franchise Section 
G. Mennen Williams Building 
525 W. Ottawa Street 
P.O. Box 30736 
Lansing, Michigan  48909 
(517) 335-7622 

WASHINGTON 
Department of Financial Institutions 
Division of Securities 
P.O. Box 41200 
Olympia, Washington  98504-1200 
(360) 902-8715 
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EXHIBIT C 
LIST OF AGENTS FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS 

The following officials or state agencies are designated as our agent for service of process in 
accordance with applicable state laws. We may register in one or more of these states. There may be states 
in addition to those listed below in which Shah’s Halal Franchising, Inc., has appointed an agent for service 
of process. 

 
CALIFORNIA 
Commissioner of the Department of Financial 
Protection and Innovation 
Department of Financial Protection and 
Innovation 
320 West Fourth Street, Suite 750 
Los Angeles, California  90013-2344 

NEW YORK 
Secretary of State 
Department of State 
123 William Street 
New York, New York  10038-3804 

FLORIDA 
Florida Department of Financial Services 
Service of Process—Office of the General 
Counsel 
200 E. Gaines Street 
Tallahassee, FL 32399-4201 

TEXAS 
Service of Process, Secretary of State 
P.O. Box 12079 
Austin, TX 78711-2079 (if regular mail) 
James E. Rudder Building 
1019 Brazos, Room 105 
Austin, TX 78701 (if FedEx or overnight mail) 

ILLINOIS 
Attorney General 
500 South Second Street 
Springfield, Illinois  62701 

RHODE ISLAND 
Director, Department of Business Regulation 
Securities Division — Franchise Section 
1511 Pontiac Avenue, Bldg. 69-2 
Cranston, Rhode Island  02920 

INDIANA 
Secretary of State 
Securities Division, Franchise Section 
302 West Washington, Room E111 
Indianapolis, Indiana  46204 

KENTUCKY 
Office of the Secretary of State 
700 Capital Avenue 
P.O. Box 718 
Frankfort, KY 40602 

MARYLAND 
Maryland Securities Commissioner 
200 St. Paul Place 
Baltimore, Maryland  21202-2020 
(410) 576-7786 

VIRGINIA 
Clerk, State Corporation Commission 
1300 East Main Street 
Richmond, Virginia  23219 

MICHIGAN 
Department of Licensing and Regulatory 
Affairs 
Director of the Corporations, Securities & 
Commercial Licensing Bureau 
2407 N. Grand River Avenue 
Lansing, Michigan  48906 

WASHINGTON 
Director of Financial Institutions 
Department of Financial Institutions 
P.O. Box 41200 
Olympia, Washington  98504-1200 
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EXHIBIT D 
FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

 

 

 

FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

 FRANCHISEE: 

  

  

 

FRANCHISE LOCATION: 

  

 

DATE OF AGREEMENT: 
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SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING INC. 
 

FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

THIS FRANCHISE AGREEMENT, made this ___ day of _________ 20__, by and between 
Shah’s Halal Franchising Inc., a New York corporation with a mailing address of 12 Hattie Court, 
Hicksville, NY 11801 (hereinafter referred to as the “Franchisor” “we”, “us” or “our”) and 
_______________________ with an address of _____________________________ (hereinafter referred 
to as “Franchisee” “you” or “your”). 

This Agreement is a non-exclusive license to operate a Shah’s Halal restaurant business granted by 
us and to you.  

CONTRACT SCHEDULE 

A. Location of the Restaurant: The approved location of the Restaurant is set forth in Exhibit A.  (If 
no location is indicated in Exhibit A, the parties shall sign a revised Exhibit A when the location 
has been approved by the Franchisor in accordance with Section 1.2 of the Franchise Agreement 

B. Protected Territory: As described in Exhibit A. 

C. Term:  Ten (10) years from the date hereof until _______________, 20__. 

D. Initial Franchise Fee:  Thirty Thousand Dollars ($30,000). 

E. Royalty Fee:  5% of Gross Revenue  

F. Proprietary Marketing Fund: One percent (1%) of Gross Revenue. 

G. Local Advertising and Marketing:  One percent (1%) of Gross Revenue. 

H. Address for notice to FRANCHISEE shall be at the Restaurant, unless another address is inserted 
here:___________________________________ 
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ARTICLE I 
GRANT OF FRANCHISE 

 
1.1 Grant and Protected Territory 

Subject to the terms and conditions contained herein, the Franchisor hereby grants to Franchisee 
the right to own and operate a “Shah’s Halal” restaurant at the premises approved by the Franchisor in 
accordance with the provisions of this Agreement (the “Franchised Business”), and to use the Marks in the 
operation thereof. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the Franchisor shall not establish nor 
license anyone other than Franchisee to establish any Franchised Business under the System within the 
territory specified in Exhibit “A” (“Protected Territory”). 

1.2 Site Selection Timeframe 

Unless an approved location has been selected by Franchisee at the time this Agreement is executed, 
Franchisee shall select the location of the Franchised Business, subject to the Franchisor’s approval, within 
ninety (90) days after the effective date of this Agreement. 

1.3 No Change of Franchise Location 

The franchise location described in Exhibit “A” may not be altered or changed by the Franchisee 
without Franchisor’s prior written approval, which must be requested in writing. In order to change location, 
the Franchisee must be current in all obligations to Franchisor, whether under this Agreement or any other 
Agreement, and must not be in default under this or any other agreement with Franchisor. In the event that 
Franchisee’s request to change location is approved, the Franchisee will be required to sign our then-current 
form of Franchise Agreement for a term equal to the term equal to the remaining term of this Agreement. 
Unless we grant you a term that is longer than the remaining term under this Franchise Agreement, you will 
not be required to pay an Initial Franchise Fee for the relocated Franchised Business. However, you will be 
required to pay us a Relocation Fee of twenty-five hundred dollars ($2500) upon execution of the new 
Franchise Agreement. 

1.4 Rights Reserved to Franchisor 

Except as expressly limited by Section 1.1, Franchisor and its affiliates retain all rights with respect 
to the establishment and operation of Franchised Businesses and the use of the Marks outside of 
Franchisee’s Protected Territory, including, without limitation: 

(i.) to establish and operate and to grant others the right to establish and operate a a Shah’s 
Halal restaurant or other venue offering and selling premium halal style cuisine and other similar and related 
goods and services through similar or dissimilar channels of distribution under trade and service marks 
other than the Marks and under any terms and conditions Franchisor deems appropriate; 

(ii.) to produce, offer and sell, and to grant others the right to establish and operate a Shah’s 
Halal restaurant or other venue offering and selling premium halal style cuisine and other similar and related 
goods and services through dissimilar channels of distribution under the Marks and under any terms and 
conditions the Franchisor deems appropriate; 

(iii.) to operate and to grant others the right to operate Shah’s Halal restaurants at “Non-
Traditional Sites” under any terms and conditions the Franchisor deems appropriate, regardless of proximity 
to the Franchised Business. As used in this Agreement, Non-Traditional Sites shall include, without 
limitation, military bases, hotels, high school and college campuses, airports, train stations, travel plazas, 
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toll roads, beaches, parks and other seasonal facilities, government buildings and establishments, prisons, 
hospitals, convenience stores, cafeterias, snack bars, trucks, casinos, sports or entertainment venues or 
stadiums, and retail locations being sublet under a lease to a master concessionaire, whether currently 
existing or constructed or established subsequent to the date hereof;  

(iv.) to sell products under the Marks at locations other than a franchised business such as 
grocery stores or other stores which offer packaged products; and 

(v.) to acquire and operate a business operating one or more food services businesses located 
or operating anywhere. 
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ARTICLE II 
DEVELOPMENT AND OPENING OF THE FRANCHISED BUSINESS 

 
2.1 Franchised Business Premises 

(vi.) Franchisee shall operate the Franchised Business from a site located in the Protected 
Territory. Franchisee shall acquire or lease within ninety (90) days from the date of execution of this 
Agreement, an approved premises for the Franchised Business. The Franchisor shall have the right in its 
sole discretion, to require: 

(1) Franchisee to execute a Site Addendum Agreement in the form attached hereto; 

(2) Franchisee to conditionally assign such lease to the Franchisor (with the consent of the 
lessor, if required) by conditional lease assignment provisions in form annexed to Franchise Agreement as 
Exhibit “C” in order to secure performance of any and all of Franchisee’s liabilities and obligations to the 
Franchisor; or 

(3) That such lease contains substantially the following provisions: 

a. “Anything contained in this lease to the contrary notwithstanding, Lessor 
agrees that without its consent, this lease and the right, title and interest of the Lessee hereunder may be 
assigned by the Lessee to Shah’s Halal Franchising Inc., a New York corporation or its designee.” 

b. “Lessee hereby agrees that Lessor may, upon the written request of Shah’s 
Halal, disclose to Shah’s Halal all reports, information or data in Lessor’s possession respecting sales made 
in, upon or from the leased premises.” 

c. “Lessor shall give written notice to Shah’s Halal (concurrently with the 
giving of such notice to Lessee) of any default by Lessee under the lease and Shah’s Halal shall have the 
right, in its sole discretion, to cure any such default. Such notice shall be sent to Shah’s Halal at its 
headquarters, or such other address as Shah’s Halal may from time to time specify in writing to Lessor.” 

2.2 Approval of Lease Terms 

The Franchisor shall also have the right to approve the terms of any lease for the premises of the 
Franchised Business. In the event the Franchisor cures any default by Franchisee under such lease, the total 
amount of all costs and payments incurred by the Franchisor in effecting such cure shall be immediately 
due and owing by Franchisee to the Franchisor, including, but not limited to, any attorney’s fees. 

2.3 Execution of Lease and Acceptance by Franchisee 

Franchisee’s execution of a lease for the location for his/her Franchised Business shall constitute 
acceptance by Franchisee of such location and site and the terms of such lease and shall constitute a waiver 
of any claim or rights against the Franchisor relating to Franchisee’s choice of such site and location and 
of the terms of such lease. 

2.4 Prototype Plans and Specifications 

The Franchisor will provide Franchisee prototype or protostyle plans and specifications for 
Franchisee’s Franchised Business reflecting the Franchisor’s requirements for dimensions, exterior design, 
interior design and layout, image, building materials, fixtures, equipment, furniture, signs and decor. 
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Franchisee agrees to use one of Franchisor’s approved architecture and engineering firms to prepare a full 
construction/design plan set for the Franchised Business. 

2.5 Development of Franchised Business 

Within ninety (90) days after obtaining possession of the premises of the Franchised Business and 
having been furnished with the above-described plans and specifications, Franchisee will do or cause to be 
done the following: 

(vii.) Secure all financing required to fully develop the Franchised Business; 

(viii.) Prepare, at Franchisee’s expense, and submit to the Franchisor for approval (which 
approval may be granted or withheld at the Franchisor’s sole discretion) any proposed modifications to the 
Franchisor’s prototype or protostyle plans and specifications, which may be modified only to the extent 
necessary to comply with applicable ordinances, building codes, permit requirements and lease or deed 
requirements and restrictions, all such modifications being subject to prior notification to, and approval by, 
the Franchisor; 

(ix.) Obtain all required building, utility, sign, health, sanitation and business permits and 
licenses, and any other required permits and licenses; 

(x.) Construct all required improvements to the premises, purchase and install all required 
fixtures and equipment and decorate the premises with required branded décor in compliance with plans 
and specifications approved by the Franchisor; and 

(xi.) Purchase, in accordance with the Franchisor’s specifications and requirements, an opening 
inventory of proprietary food items, Products, ingredients and other products and supplies required for the 
opening of the Franchised Business. 

2.6 Franchisee’s Duties in Developing the Franchised Business 

Franchisee agrees that Franchisee will do or cause to be done the following with respect to the 
development of the Franchised Business: 

(i) obtain all required construction and sign permits and licenses; 

(ii) complete the construction of all required improvements to the premises and decorate the 
premises in accordance with Franchisor’s specifications; 

(iii) purchase or lease and install all fixtures, furnishings, equipment, signs and the opening 
food and beverage inventory and operating supplies and required branded merchandising 
materials and other materials in accordance with Franchisor’s specifications. 

Franchisee shall use his/her best efforts to complete development and have the Franchised Business 
ready to open within one hundred eighty (180) days after Franchisee executes this Agreement. Franchisee 
may, at his/her option, purchase or lease equipment for the Franchised Business. 

2.7 Fixtures, Equipment, Furniture and Signs 

Franchisee agrees to use in the construction and operation of the Franchised Business only those 
brands, types or models of construction and decorating materials, fixtures, equipment, furniture and signs 
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that the Franchisor has approved for the Franchised Business as meeting its specifications and standards for 
quality, design, appearance, function and performance. Franchisee further agrees to place or display at the 
premises of the Franchised Business only such signs, emblems, lettering, logos and display materials that 
are from time to time approved in writing by the Franchisor. Franchisee may purchase approved types or 
models of construction and decorating materials, fixtures, equipment, furniture and signs from any supplier 
approved or designated by the Franchisor (which may include the Franchisor and/or its affiliates). If 
Franchisee proposes to purchase any type or model of construction or decorating material, fixture, 
equipment, furniture or sign not then approved by the Franchisor, and/or any such item from any supplier 
which is not then approved by the Franchisor, Franchisee shall first notify the Franchisor in writing and 
shall submit to the Franchisor sufficient specifications, photographs, drawings and/or other information or 
samples for a determination by the Franchisor of whether such brand or type of construction or decorating 
material, fixture, equipment, furniture or sign complies with its specifications and standards. The Franchisor 
may, in its sole discretion, refuse to approve any such item(s) and/or supplier(s) that does not meet the 
Franchisor’s standards or specifications. 

2.8 Franchised Business Opening 

(i.) Franchisee agrees not to open the Franchised Business until: 

The Franchisor determines that the Franchised Business has been constructed and equipped in accordance 
with approved plans and specifications; 

(1) Training of Franchisee and his/her manager(s) has been completed to the Franchisor’s 
reasonable satisfaction; 

(2) The Initial Franchise Fee and all other amounts due to the Franchisor under this 
Agreement and any other related agreements to which he is a party have been paid; 

(3) The Franchisor has been furnished with copies of all insurance policies required 
by Article XII hereof, or such other evidence of insurance coverage as the Franchisor requests; and 

(4) Franchisor’s personnel are available to assist and be present at the opening of the 
Franchised Business if the Franchisor, in its sole discretion, deems it necessary. 

(ii.) The Franchisee agrees to have the Franchised Business ready to open for business within 
one hundred eighty (180) days after Franchisee executes this Agreement. Final approval by the Franchisor 
of the opening of the Franchised Business shall be given in writing and shall be in the Franchisor’s sole 
discretion. Franchisee agrees to open the Franchised Business for business within ten (10) days after receipt 
of such written notice from Franchisor. 

2.9 Relocation of Franchised Business 

If Franchisee’s lease for the premises of the Franchised Business terminates without fault of 
Franchisee, or if the premises are damaged, condemned or otherwise unusable, or if in the reasonable 
judgment of the Franchisor and Franchisee there is a change in the character of the location of the 
Franchised Business sufficiently detrimental to its business potential to warrant its relocation, the 
Franchisor shall grant permission to Franchisee for relocation of the Franchised Business to a location 
approved by the Franchisor. Any such relocation shall be at Franchisee’s sole expense, including payment 
of Franchisor’s then-current relocation fee. 
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2.10 De-identification of Original Approved Location 

In the event of a relocation of the Franchised Business, Franchisee shall promptly remove from the 
first Franchised Business premises, and discontinue using for any purposes, any and all signs, fixtures, 
furniture, posters, furnishings, equipment, menus, advertising materials, stationery supplies, forms and 
other articles which display any of the Marks or any distinctive features or designs associated with Shah’s 
Halal. Furthermore, Franchisee shall, at his/her expense, immediately make such modifications or 
alterations as may be necessary to distinguish the first Franchised Business so clearly from its former 
appearance and from other Shah’s Halal restaurants and to prevent any possibility of confusion therewith 
by the public (including, without limitation, removal of all distinctive physical and structural features 
identifying Shah’s Halal and removal of all distinctive signs and emblems). Franchisee shall, at his/her 
expense, make such specific additional changes as the Franchisor may reasonably request for this purpose. 
If Franchisee fails to initiate immediately or complete such alterations within such period of time as the 
Franchisor deems appropriate, Franchisee agrees that the Franchisor or its designated agents may enter the 
premises of the first Franchised Business and adjacent areas at any time to make such alterations, at 
Franchisee’s sole risk and expense, without responsibility for any actual or consequential damages to the 
property of Franchisee or others, and without liability for trespass or other tort or criminal act. Franchisee 
expressly acknowledges that his/her failure to make such alterations will cause irreparable injury to the 
Franchisor and consents to entry, at Franchisee’s expense, of an ex-parte order by a court of competent 
jurisdiction authorizing the Franchisor or its agents to take such action, if the Franchisor seeks such an 
order. Compliance with the foregoing shall be a condition subsequent to the Franchisor’s approval of any 
relocation request by Franchisee, and in the event complete de-identification of the first Franchised 
Business premises is not promptly and completely undertaken, the Franchisor may then revoke its 
permission for relocation and declare a default under this Agreement pursuant to Article XVII hereof. 
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ARTICLE III 
PROPRIETARY MARKS AND GOODWILL 

3.1 Definition of “Marks” 

When used in this Agreement, “Marks” mean the trademarks and service marks which are used to 
identify the Shah’s Halal franchised businesses and to distinguish them from that of any other business, and 
the trademarks, service marks, trade names, logos and commercial symbols as may be designated by the 
Franchisor from time to time for use in connection with the System. 

3.2 Authorized Use of Marks 

Franchisee is authorized to use the Marks, goodwill and trade secrets in the operation of the 
Franchised Business only at the approved location. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as 
authorizing or permitting their use at any other location or for any other purpose except as may be authorized 
in writing by Franchisor. Franchisee understands and agrees that the limited license to use the Marks granted 
hereby applies only to such proprietary marks as are designated by Franchisor, and which are not 
subsequently designated by Franchisor as being withdrawn from use, together with those which may 
hereafter be designated by Franchisor in writing. Franchisee expressly understands and agrees that he/she 
is bound not to represent in any manner that he/she has acquired any ownership or equitable rights in any 
of the Marks by virtue of the limited license granted hereunder, or by virtue of Franchisee’s use of any of 
the Marks. 

3.3 Ownership of Marks 

Franchisee acknowledges that the ownership of all of the Marks, goodwill and trade secrets remains 
solely with the licensor of Franchisor or the Franchisor and that Franchisee shall not register or attempt to 
register the Marks or to assert any rights in them other than as specifically granted in this Agreement. 

3.4 Additional Rights 

At Franchisor’s request, Franchisee shall assign, transfer or convey to Franchisor, in writing, all 
additional rights, if any, that may be acquired by Franchisee as a result of its use of Marks. 

3.5 Rights to Use Marks 

Franchisee shall only use the Marks, logos, trade styles, color combinations, designs, signs, 
symbols and slogans of Franchisor, and only in the manner and to the extent specifically permitted by this 
Agreement or in any manuals, directives or memos (hereinafter collectively referred to as “Confidential 
Operations Manuals”) prepared by Franchisor. Franchisee shall not use any confusingly similar Marks in 
connection with its franchise or any other business in which it has an interest. 

3.6 Approval of Items Using the Marks 

Franchisor reserves the right to approve all signs, memos, stationery, business cards, advertising 
material forms and all other objects and supplies using the Marks. All advertising, publicity, point of sale 
materials, signs, decorations, furnishings, equipment, or other materials employing the words “Shah’s 
Halal” shall be in accordance with this Agreement and the Confidential Operations Manuals, and Franchisee 
shall obtain Franchisor’s approval prior to such use. 
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3.7 Modification of Marks 

If it becomes advisable at any time, in the discretion of Franchisor, to modify or discontinue use of 
any Mark and/or to adopt or use one or more additional or substitute proprietary marks, then Franchisee 
shall be obligated to comply with any such instruction by Franchisor. In such event and at Franchisor’s 
direction, Franchisee shall adopt, use and display only such new or modified Marks and shall promptly 
discontinue the use and display of outmoded or superseded marks, at Franchisee’s expense. Franchisee 
waives any other claim arising from or relating to any proprietary mark change, modification or substitution. 
Franchisor will not be liable to Franchisee for any expenses, losses or damages sustained by Franchisee as 
a result of any proprietary mark addition, modification, substitution or discontinuation, except that 
Franchisor will reimburse Franchisee for his/her direct, reasonable expenses related to changing the 
Franchised Business’ signage. Franchisee covenants not to commence or join in any litigation or other 
proceeding against Franchisor for any of these expenses, losses or damages. 

3.8 Expiration or Termination of this Agreement 

Upon the expiration, termination or non-renewal of this Agreement, Franchisee shall immediately 
cease using the Marks, color combinations, designs, symbols or slogans; and Franchisor may cause 
Franchisee to execute such documents and take such action as may be necessary to evidence this fact. After 
the effective date of expiration, termination or non-renewal, Franchisee shall not represent or imply that 
Franchisee is associated with Franchisor. To this end, Franchisee irrevocably appoints Franchisor or its 
nominee to be Franchisee’s attorney-in-fact to execute, on Franchisee’s behalf, any document or perform 
any legal act necessary to protect the Marks from unauthorized use. Franchisee acknowledges and agrees 
that the unauthorized use of the Marks will result in irreparable harm to Franchisor for which Franchisor 
may obtain injunctive relief, monetary damages, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs. 

3.9 Notification of Infringement 

Franchisee shall immediately notify Franchisor of any apparent infringement of or challenge to 
Franchisee’s use of the Marks, or any claim, demand, or suit based upon or arising from the unauthorized 
use of, or any attempt by any other person, firm, or corporation to use, without authorization, or any 
infringement of or challenge to, any of the Marks. Franchisee also agrees to immediately notify Franchisor 
of any other litigation instituted by any person, firm, corporation or governmental entity against Franchisor 
or Franchisee. 

3.10 Franchisor to Defend 

Franchisor and/or the licensor shall undertake the defense or prosecution of any litigation 
concerning Franchisee that relates to any of the Marks or that, in Franchisor’s or the licensor’s judgment, 
may affect the goodwill of the System; and Franchisor may, in such circumstances, undertake any other 
action which it deems appropriate. Franchisor shall have sole and complete discretion in the conduct of any 
defense, prosecution or other action it chooses to undertake. In that event, Franchisee shall execute those 
documents and perform those acts which, in the opinion of Franchisor, are necessary for the defense or 
prosecution of the litigation or for such other action as may be undertaken by Franchisor. 

3.11 Limited License 

In order to develop and maintain high uniform standards of quality and service and to protect the 
reputation and goodwill of Franchisor, Franchisee agrees to do business and advertising using only the 
Marks designated by the Franchisor. Franchisee shall not do business or advertise using any other name. 
Franchisee is not authorized to and shall not use the Marks or the words “Shah’s Halal” by itself, or anything 
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confusingly similar as part of your corporate or other legal name or as a part of the legal name of any 
corporation, partnership, proprietorship or other business entity to which Franchisee is associated, or with 
a bank account, trade account or in any legal or financial connection, or as part of any e-mail address, 
domain name, social medial accounts, or other identification of you or your business, in any medium. In all 
approved uses of the Marks on your business forms such as your letterhead, invoices, order forms, receipts, 
and contracts, you must identify yourself as our franchisee and your business as independently owned and 
operated. 

3.12 Franchisor’s Right to Inspect 

In order to preserve the validity and integrity of the Marks, and to assure that Franchisee is properly 
employing them in the operation of Franchisee’s business, Franchisor and its agents shall have the right at 
all reasonable times to inspect Franchisee’s business, financial books and records, and operations. 
Franchisee shall cooperate with and assist Franchisor’s representative in such inspection. 

3.13 Trademark Notices 

Franchisee shall be required to affix the SM, ™ or ® symbol (as applicable) upon all advertising, 
publicity, signs, decorations, furnishings, equipment or other printed or graphic material employing the 
words “Shah’s Halal” or any other of the Marks, whether presently existing or developed in the future. 

3.14 No Right to Deny Use 

Franchisee acknowledges that it does not have any right to deny the use of the Marks to any other 
franchisees. In consideration therefor, Franchisee shall execute all documents and take such action as may 
be requested to allow Franchisor or other franchisees to have full use of the Marks. 

3.15 Claim of Prior Use 

If, during the term of this Agreement, there is a claim of prior use of the “Shah’s Halal” name or 
any other of the Marks in the area in which Franchisee is doing business or in another area or areas, 
Franchisee shall so use any of Franchisor’s other Marks in such a way and at Franchisor’s discretion in 
order to avoid a continuing conflict. 

3.16 Indemnification by Franchisor 

The Franchisor agrees to indemnify Franchisee against, and to reimburse Franchisee for, all 
damages for which he is held liable in any proceeding in which Franchisee’s use of any Mark pursuant to 
and in compliance with this Agreement is held to constitute trademark infringement, unfair competition or 
dilution, and for all costs reasonably incurred by Franchisee in the defense of any such claim brought against 
him or in any such proceedings in which he is named as a party, provided that Franchisee has timely notified 
the Franchisor of such claim or proceedings, has otherwise complied with this Agreement and has tendered 
complete control of the defense of such to the Franchisor. If the Franchisor defends such claim, the 
Franchisor shall have no obligation to indemnify or reimburse Franchisee with respect to any fees or 
disbursements of any attorney retained by Franchisee. 

3.17 Identification of Franchisee 

During the term of this Agreement and any renewal or extension hereof, Franchisee shall identify 
itself as the owner of the Franchised Business in conjunction with any use of the Marks, including, but not 
limited to, on invoices, order forms, receipts, business stationery, contracts with all third parties or entities, 
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as well as the display of such notices in such content and form at such conspicuous locations as the 
Franchisor may designate in writing. In addition, Franchisee shall ensure that all employees understand that 
they are employees of Franchisee and have no relationship, employment or otherwise, with the Franchisor. 

REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY. 
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ARTICLE IV 
TERM AND RENEWAL 

4.1 Initial Term 

Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the initial term of this franchise shall be for a 
period commencing upon the execution of this Agreement (the “Initial Term”) and conclude on the ten (10) 
year anniversary of the date of execution of this Agreement. 

4.2 Right to Renewal Term 

Subject to the conditions specified in Section 4.3 hereof, the Franchisee shall have the right to 
renew this Agreement for a period of ten (10) years from the date of the expiration of the Initial Term. 

4.3 Conditions to Renewal 

The Franchisee’s right of renewal pursuant to Section 4.2 above shall be subject to the following 
conditions precedent: 

(i.) Neither this Agreement nor the lease agreement shall have been terminated for any reason, 
and that the lease is renewable; 

(ii.) The Franchisee shall not be in default of any provision of this Agreement, any amendment 
hereof or successor hereto, any other agreement between Franchisor or any subsidiary and/or affiliated 
corporation and Franchisee has substantially complied with all of the terms and conditions of such 
agreements during their terms; 

(iii.) The Franchisee shall have served notice of its intention to exercise its right of renewal not 
less than twelve (12) months nor more than eighteen (18) months prior to the expiration of the Initial Term; 

(iv.) The Franchisee shall have affected the improvements to his/her Franchised Business and 
its operations required by the Franchisor pursuant to Section 4.4 below; 

(v.) The Franchisee has satisfied all monetary obligations due and owing to Franchisor, any 
subsidiary of Franchisor and/or any affiliated corporations of Franchisor and Franchisee has timely met 
these obligations throughout the term of this Agreement and any other agreement in effect and any renewals 
thereof; 

(vi.) Franchisee shall execute, upon renewal, Franchisor’s then-current form of Franchise 
Agreement, which agreement shall supersede this Agreement in all respects and terms, and which may 
differ from the terms of this Agreement, including, without limitation, a higher royalty fee and higher 
advertising contribution; 

(vii.) Franchisee shall execute a general release, in a form prescribed by Franchisor on any and 
all claims against Franchisor, any subsidiary of Franchisor and/or affiliated corporation of Franchisor, and 
their respective officers, directors, agents and employees.  The form of release is Exhibit N; 

(viii.) Franchisee shall comply with Franchisor’s then-current reasonable qualification and 
training requirements; and 

(ix.) Franchisee shall remit to Franchisor a renewal fee equal to twenty five percent (25%) of 
the then current initial franchise fee. 
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4.4 Renewal Report 

Upon receipt of a notice to renew from the Franchisee pursuant to Section 4.2 hereof, the Franchisor 
shall prepare a renewal report which report shall be completed within three (3) months of the receipt of said 
notice and shall specify the modifications and improvements and repairs, if any, required by the Franchisor 
and which Franchisee must make to his/her Franchised Business which must be in conformity with the then 
existing standards, and specifications pertaining to his/her Franchised Business. All amounts spent on 
repairs are subject to annual increases based upon increases in the Consumer Price Index (“CPI”).  

4.5 Franchisor’s Right to Deny Renewal 

The Franchisor expressly reserves the right to deny Franchisee’s renewal in the event that 
Franchisee abandons his/her Franchised Business or in the event the Franchisee ceases to operate and 
maintain his/her Franchised Business in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 

4.6 Extension of this Agreement 

In the event Franchisee shall continue to operate his/her Franchised Business following the 
expiration, termination or non-renewal of this Agreement for any reason, with the express or implied 
consent of Franchisor, such continuation shall be construed to be an extension of the term hereof only from 
month-to-month, terminable by either party on no more than thirty (30) days’ notice to the other party and 
otherwise in accordance with all of the provisions of this Agreement. 

4.7 Notice of Expiration 

If applicable law requires us to give you notice of expiration of this Agreement at a specified time 
prior to such expiration, and we have not done so, then the term of this Agreement will be extended to the 
date following which our notice has been given and the legally required notice period has expired. 
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ARTICLE V 
INITIAL AND CONTINUING FEES PAYABLE TO FRANCHISOR 

5.1 Initial Franchise Fee 

In consideration of the execution of this Agreement and Franchisor’s granting to Franchisee the 
franchise covered hereby, Franchisee agrees to pay to Franchisor an Initial Franchise Fee of Thirty 
Thousand Dollars ($30,000) (the “Initial Franchise Fee”), payable upon the execution of this Agreement, 
which sum shall be deemed fully earned by Franchisor upon receipt thereof and is non-refundable. 

5.2 Royalty Fee 

In consideration of this franchise granted hereby, the services to be provided by Franchisor 
hereunder, the right to prepare and sell the Products, to the general public, and for the use of the Marks 
during the term hereof and any subsequent renewals, Franchisee shall pay to Franchisor, in addition to the 
Initial Franchise Fee stated herein, a royalty fee equal to five percent (5%) of the gross sales generated by, 
from, or through the Franchisee’s Franchised Business (“Royalty Fee”). 

5.3 Definition of “Gross Sales” 

For the purposes of determining the royalties to be paid hereunder, “Gross Sales” shall mean the 
total selling price of all services and products and all income of every other kind and nature related to the 
Franchised Business, whether for cash or credit and regardless of collection in the case of credit. In the 
event of a cash shortage, the amount of Gross Sales shall be determined based on the records of the 
electronic cash register system and any cash shortage shall not be considered in the determination. Gross 
Sales shall expressly exclude the following: 

(i.) Sums representing sales taxes collected directly from customers, based upon present or 
future laws of federal, state or local governments, collected by Franchisee in the operation of the Franchised 
Business, and any other tax, excise or duty which is levied or assessed against Franchisee by any federal, 
state, municipal or local authority, based on sales of specific merchandise sold at or from the Franchised 
Business, provided that such taxes are actually transmitted to the appropriate taxing authority; 

(ii.) Franchisor may, from time to time, authorize certain other items to be excluded from Gross 
Sales. Any such permission may be revoked or withdrawn at any time in writing by Franchisor in its 
discretion. In addition to the foregoing, the following are included within the definition of “Gross Sales” 
described except as noted below: 

(1) The full value of Products furnished to Franchisee’s employees as an incident to their 
employment except that the value of any discounts extended to such employees may be credited 
against Gross Sales during the reporting week in which the Products were furnished for the 
purpose of determining the amount of Gross Sales upon which the Royalty Fee is due; and 

(2) All proceeds from the sale of coupons, gift certificates or vouchers; provided that at the time 
such coupons, gifts certificates or vouchers are redeemed the retail price thereof may be 
credited against Gross Sales during the reporting week in which such coupon, gift certificate 
or voucher is redeemed for the purpose of determining the amount of Gross Sales upon which 
the Royalty Fee is due. 
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5.4 Payment Date 

(i.) Royalty Fees are due and payable monthly within the first five days of the following month 
(the date payment is made being the “Payment Date”). Franchisee shall remit Royalty Fees, Advertising 
Fees and any other monies owed to Franchisor hereunder via electronic funds transfer or other comparable 
means. Franchisee shall comply with the procedures established by the Franchisor and/or to perform such 
acts and deliver and execute such documents as may be necessary to assist in or accomplish such electronic 
method of payment. 

(ii.) Franchisee agrees that he/she shall, at all times throughout the term of this Agreement, 
maintain a minimum balance of Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000.00) in the Franchisee’s bank account 
against which such electronic funds transfer shall be drawn for the Franchised Business operated under this 
Agreement. 

(iii.) Franchisor may require payment by other than automatic debit, and Franchisee must 
comply with Franchisor’s payment instructions. If Franchisee does not report the Franchised Business’ 
Gross Sales in accordance with Section 10.1(a) hereof, Franchisor may debit Franchisee’s account for one 
hundred twenty percent (120%) of the last Royalty Fee that Franchisor debited. If the Royalty Fee 
Franchisor debits is less than the Royalty Fee Franchisee actually owes, Franchisor will debit Franchisee’s 
account for the balance on a day it specifies. If the Royalty Fee Franchisor debits is greater than the Royalty 
Fee Franchisee actually owes, Franchisor will credit the excess against the amount it otherwise would debit 
from Franchisee’s account during the following week. 

5.5 Interest on Overdue Amounts 

Royalty Fees or any and all other payments provided for in this Agreement not received by 
Franchisor within fifteen (15) days of the Payment Date shall be subject to late fee of not less than $30 per 
day while an amount is overdue or the maximum commercial contract interest rate permitted by law. 

5.6 Acceptance by Franchisor 

Acceptance by Franchisor of the payment of any Royalty Fee or any and all other payments 
provided for in this Agreement shall not be conclusive or binding on Franchisor with respect to the accuracy 
of such payment until two (2) years after the effective date of termination or non-renewal of this Agreement. 
Acceptance of any payment on account of Royalty Fees or any and all other payments provided for in this 
Agreement does not constitute any waiver of Franchisor’s rights under Article XVII or XVIII hereof. 

5.7 Application of Payments 

Franchisor will have sole discretion to apply any payments from you to any of your past due 
indebtedness for Royalty Fees, Marketing Fees, interest or any other indebtedness. This provision does not 
constitute consent to late payments or an agreement to extend credit. 

5.8 Franchisee May Not Withhold or Off-set Payments 

Franchisee’s obligations for the full and timely payment of the Royalty Fees and all other amounts 
provided for in this Agreement shall be absolute, unconditional and fully earned by Franchisor, except in 
those instances where Franchisor is in breach hereunder and has failed to cure such breach although 
obligated to do so. Franchisee shall not delay or withhold the payment of all or any part of the fees for any 
reason, put the same in escrow or set-off same against any and all claims or alleged claims Franchisee may 
allege against Franchisor. 
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5.9 Set Off Option 

Franchisor may set off against any money owed by Franchisor or Franchisor’s Affiliate(s) to 
Franchisee or Franchisee’s Affiliate(s) pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise. This right to set off will 
continue until Franchisee has paid, satisfied or discharged all monies, debts or liabilities due or owing to 
Franchisor and Franchisor’s Affiliates. Franchisee hereby irrevocably authorizes Franchisor or Franchisor’s 
Affiliate to deduct from any monies payable by Franchisor or Franchisor’s Affiliate to Franchisee or 
Franchisee’s Affiliate(s) pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise any monies due or owing to Franchisor 
or Franchisor’s Affiliates by Franchisee or Franchisee’s Affiliate from time to time. If in Franchisee’s 
jurisdiction set-off is not possible due to the local laws Franchisor or Franchisor’s Affiliate(s) will hold 
monies due to Franchisee or Franchisee’s Affiliate as a lien, free from interest, until such time as Franchisee 
or Franchisee’s Affiliate(s) have paid all monies owed by Franchisee or Franchisee’s Affiliate to Franchisor 
or Franchisor’s Affiliate(s). 
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ARTICLE VI 
TRAINING AND COMMENCEMENT OF BUSINESS 

6.1 Initial Training Program 

(i.) Prior to opening the Franchised Business, at most two (2) managers, at least one of whom 
shall be a partner from the ownership group, shall attend Franchisor’s initial training program, which shall 
be conducted at the Shah’s Halal restaurant location that we designate as convenient for all parties, or at 
another location designated by Franchisor, and shall complete said training course to Franchisor’s 
satisfaction. All training must be completed to Franchisor’s satisfaction. If this Agreement is for 
Franchisee’s second or subsequent Franchised Business, we may reduce at our sole discretion the number 
of managers required to complete training to three and/or not require a member of the ownership group to 
attend training, but in any event a trained and approved manager must be on duty at all times that your 
Franchised Business is open.  

(ii.) The initial pre-opening manager training for up to two persons is included in the initial 
franchise fee. However, without regard to the number of managers trained prior to opening the Franchised 
Business, all trainings subsequent to opening the Franchised Business shall be subject to Franchisor’s then-
current training fees.  

(iii.) Franchisee shall be responsible for all travel and living expenses which Franchisee and 
his/her managers incur in connection with the initial training program and any refresher classes, as well as 
wages and expenses for the managers. In the event Franchisee fails to complete the aforesaid training 
program, the Franchisor shall have the right to terminate this Agreement without providing a refund of the 
Initial Franchise Fee. 

(iv.) During the training program, Franchisee shall receive instruction, training and education 
in the operation of the Franchised Business and indoctrination into the System. At the completion of the 
training program, Franchisee must execute the Training Completion Agreement and Release (Exhibit H to 
this Agreement). 

(v.) If Franchisee requests that Franchisor provide its training program to additional trainees, 
whether before the Franchised Business opens or while it is operating, Franchisee shall pay Franchisor’s 
then-current training fee not later than seven (7) days prior to the commencement of the training session, in 
addition to paying all trainees’ out-of-pocket expenses and applicable wages. 

(vi.) In addition, the Franchisor may, in its sole discretion, assign one or more representative 
who will travel to Franchisee’s location for a period of approximately fourteen (14) days to conduct a pre-
opening and/or post-opening training program. Franchisee agrees to reimburse Franchisor for the expenses 
incurred by such representatives while providing opening training and assistance, including, but not limited 
to, travel, lodging and meals. In addition, Franchisee shall pay the Franchisor’s then-current training fee for 
any training at Franchisee’s location. 

6.2 Refresher Training 

Franchisee shall attend such periodic refresher and supplemental training programs or meetings at 
such locations as Franchisor may from time to time direct. Franchisor may designate that attendance at such 
program is mandatory for Franchisee (or one of its owners) and Franchisee’s manager. All expenses of 
Franchisee incur in connection with attendance at any such refresher or supplemental training programs or 
meetings shall be borne solely by Franchisee. 
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6.3 Franchised Business Staff 

Franchisee shall maintain at all times during the term of this Agreement, or any renewal thereof, a 
staff of trained employees sufficient to operate the Franchised Business in accordance with this Agreement 
and the Franchisor’s standards. Franchisee agrees that Franchisor is not the employer for any employees 
Franchisee hires. All management, personnel and training requirements are at Franchisee’s discretion and 
are Franchisee’s sole responsibility. Franchisor shall have the right to hold Franchisee solely liable and 
responsible for any breach of this agreement or failure to follow the System by any employee of Franchisee. 

6.4 General Manager 

If a partner in the Franchisee ownership group has acceptable prior experience, that partner may be 
the general manager of the first location. If no partner has the acceptable prior experience, or if that partner 
is not available to manage the store operations on a full-time basis, Franchisee shall be required to hire a 
general manager who possesses acceptable experience consistent with industry standards. Such general 
manager shall be required to complete Franchisor’s training program to Franchisor’s satisfaction. 
Franchisee shall pay the Franchisor’s then-current training fee for any new general manager training. 
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ARTICLE VII 
OBLIGATIONS OF FRANCHISOR 

7.1 Prototype Plans and Specifications 

In order to assist Franchisee in constructing his/her Franchised Business, Franchisor shall furnish 
to Franchisee a set of prototypes or protostyle plans and specifications for the Franchised Business, 
including requirements for exterior and interior design, layout, equipment and sign placement and decor 
scheme, all as included in the System. 

7.2 Construction Assistance 

Franchisee agrees that he/she shall use the architects and/or engineers designated by Franchisor, at 
Franchisee’s expense, to prepare all construction and build-out plans required for construction of all 
leasehold improvements at the Franchised Business. Franchisee shall engage a contractor, of which 
Franchisor reserves the right to approve, to construct the leasehold improvements at the Franchised 
Business according to the plans prepared for Franchisee and approved by Franchisor. 

7.3 Pre-opening Assistance; Additional Assistance 

(ii) Franchisor shall make available to Franchisee any further assistance that Franchisor may deem is 
required, based on the experience and judgment of Franchisor, in pre-opening, opening and initial business 
operation of the Franchised Business, which assistance shall conform to that furnished to other existing 
franchisees.  

(iii) If, during the term of this Agreement, Franchisee requests that Franchisor provide additional assistance 
on-site at the Franchised Business, then Franchisee shall pay Franchisor’s then-current per fees and associated 
costs for each representative/trainer that Franchisor sends to the Franchised Business, and Franchisee shall 
reimburse each representative’s expenses, including, but not limited to, travel, lodging and meals. 

7.4 Grand Opening Advertising 

Franchisor shall assist Franchisee with his/her grand opening advertising program and ongoing 
local marketing programs. 

7.5 Continuing Advice 

Franchisor shall maintain an advisory relationship with Franchisee including ongoing telephone 
consultation to aid in the proper and effective operation of the System, the frequency and duration of which 
shall be in the sole discretion of Franchisor. Such operating assistance may consist of advice and guidance 
with respect to: 

(i.) Methods and operating procedures of a Franchised Business; 

(ii.) Additional dessert and beverage products and services authorized for sale by the 
Franchised Business; 

(iii.) Selection, purchasing and storage of food products, beverages and other approved 
products, materials and supplies; 
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(iv.) The establishment and operation of administrative, bookkeeping, accounting, inventory 
control, sales and general operating procedures for proper operation of the Franchised Business; and 

(v.) Advertising and promotion for the Franchised Business. 

7.6 Inspection 

Franchisor or its designees or agents shall visit and inspect, from time to time, the Franchised 
Business and evaluate the proper execution of the System, and confer with Franchisee and his/her managers 
in connection therewith in order to assist in the proper business operation of the Franchised Business. 
Franchisor or its designees or agents shall have the absolute right to make inspections at such times and 
frequencies, during normal business hours, as Franchisor may determine. Franchisee and his/her managers 
and employees will cooperate with Franchisor’s representatives in such inspections, render such assistance 
to them as they may reasonably request and immediately correct any failure to comply with the System and 
this Agreement as brought to Franchisee’s attention by such representative. 

7.7 Maintenance of Standards 

Franchisor shall use its reasonable efforts to require maintenance of high and uniform standards in 
the execution of the System at all Franchised Businesses utilizing the System, thus protecting and enhancing 
the reputation of Franchisor and the Marks. However, because complete and detailed uniformity under 
many varying conditions might not be possible or practical, Franchisee acknowledges that Franchisor 
specifically reserves the right and privilege, as we deem best, to vary the System for, and to provide different 
levels of service to, any franchisee or affiliate owned location, based upon the peculiarities of any condition 
or factors that Franchisor considers important to that franchisee’s successful operation. Franchisee shall 
have no right to require Franchisor to grant Franchisee a similar variation or accommodation or to provide 
the same level of service. 

7.8 Proprietary Items 

In order to insure that the distinguishing characteristics of the System are uniformly maintained, 
Franchisor may establish from time to time standards for certain proprietary food items, products, 
equipment, commodities and supplies for the use of same by Franchisee in the execution of the System and 
may, in conjunction therewith, develop new proprietary food items, products, programs and develop new 
equipment and new techniques which Franchisee shall be required to use and/or purchase in the operation 
of his/her Franchised Business. The purchase of any new equipment will not materially increase the 
economic burden of Franchisee. 

7.9 No Representation of Success 

Neither Franchisor’s approval of a specific location for Franchisee’s Franchised Business, nor any 
other service provided by Franchisor pursuant to this Article shall be deemed a representation, warranty or 
judgment by Franchisor as to the likely success of the Franchisee’s Franchised Business at such location 
with the specified personnel or as to the relative desirability of such location in comparison to others that 
might have been available to Franchisee. 

7.10 Sale of Proprietary Items 

Franchisor or its designees may sell to franchisees all of Franchisor’s requirements of certain 
proprietary food items, as is stated in Article VIII hereof, unless prevented from so doing by Force Majeure 
(as described in Article XXVI below), governmental restrictions, labor disputes, inability to obtain or 
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manufacture supplies or products, or other contingency or situation. Under these circumstances, the 
Franchisor will not be responsible or liable for any business losses or interruption, and Franchisee, during 
these situations, may seek alternate, but approved, sources of supply, provided such products meet 
Franchisor’s specifications as to quality and availability. 

7.11 Minimum and Maximum Prices 

With respect to the offer and sale of all menu and beverage items, Franchisor may from time to 
time offer guidance with respect to the selling price for such goods, products and services; however, 
Franchisee is in no way bound to adhere to any such recommended or suggested price. Franchisee shall 
have the right to sell its products and provide services at any price that Franchisee may determine. 
Franchisee shall execute any instruments or other writings required by Franchisor to facilitate the provision 
of such products and services. If Franchisee elects to sell any or all its products or merchandise at any price 
recommended by Franchisor, Franchisee acknowledges that Franchisor has made no guarantee or warranty 
that offering such products or merchandise at the recommended price will enhance Franchisee’s sales or 
profits. 
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ARTICLE VIII 
OBLIGATIONS AND DUTIES OF FRANCHISEE 

8.1 Grand Opening Advertising 

Franchisee shall make any grand opening advertising expenditures as may be required by 
Franchisor, Franchisee’s landlord and/or by the terms of Franchisee’s lease. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
Franchisee shall expend not less than five thousand dollars ($5,000) on such grand opening advertising 
campaign. Franchisee shall obtain Franchisor’s approval of the grand opening advertising campaign before 
such campaign is conducted. 

8.2 Management and Operation of the Franchised Business 

(i.) Franchisee or a designated and approved manager (“Operating Manager”) shall, during 
the term of this Agreement and any renewal thereof, devote full time, energy and best efforts to the 
management and operation of the Franchised Business hereunder, except as otherwise approved in writing 
by Franchisor, including, but not limited to, keeping the Franchised Business operating and open for 
business at the times specified in the Confidential Operations Manuals or as required by Franchisee’s lease. 

(ii.) Franchisee shall, at Franchisee’s sole expense, retain at all times during the term of this 
Agreement a certified public accountant to actively oversee management the books of the Franchised 
Business. Franchisor shall have the right to contact Franchisee’s certified public accountant to request 
reports and information that Franchisor has the right under this agreement to request from Franchisee. 

8.3 Maintenance of the Franchised Business 

Franchisee shall maintain, at his/her own expense, at all times, the interior and exterior of his/her 
Franchised Business and all fixtures, furnishings, signs and equipment in the highest degree of cleanliness, 
orderliness, sanitation and repair, as determined by Franchisor, and to make no material alteration, addition, 
replacement or improvement in or to the interior or exterior of the Franchised Business without the prior 
written consent of Franchisor, except that Franchisee shall be required to periodically renovate, refurbish 
and update his/her Franchised Business so that it is in substantial conformity with the Franchisor’s then-
current design. Franchisor shall not require Franchisee to renovate, refurbish and/or update the Franchised 
Business more frequently than every five (5) years during the term of this Agreement, and shall not require 
Franchisee to expend greater than fifty thousand dollars ($50,000) on such periodic renovation, 
refurbishment and/or updates. 

8.4 Testing by Franchisor 

Franchisee agrees to allow Franchisor, from time to time, to obtain and take samples of products 
and supplies from the Franchised Business for testing by the Franchisor in order to assure that Franchisee 
complies with Franchisor’s reasonable standards and specifications. 

8.5 Standards of Operation 

Franchisee agrees to maintain a high moral and ethical standard in the operation and conduct of the 
Franchised Business so as to create and maintain goodwill among the public for the name “Shah’s Halal” 
and supervise and evaluate the performance of its staff to ensure that each render competent, efficient and 
quality service to the general public. 
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8.6 Approved Products and Services 

Franchisee recognizes that it is essential to the proper operation of the Franchised Business, and to 
the preservation and promotion of its reputation and acceptance by the public at large, that standards of 
quality be maintained. Franchisee therefore agrees, as part of the consideration for this Agreement, that 
Franchisee will at all times sell or offer for sale to retail customers, only the Products as shall meet the 
reasonable specifications and standards from time to time approved in writing by Franchisor, as permitted 
by law, and as permitted under the lease. In furtherance thereof, Franchisee shall be required to purchase 
from Franchisor or its designee any new Products, which may be introduced from time to time by Franchisor 
and be required to offer same to the consuming public for its consumption and shall offer any method of 
delivery, such as in-store, and delivery, as Franchisor shall designate in the Confidential Operations 
Manual. 

8.7 Approved Suppliers 

(i.) In connection with the operation of the Franchised Business, the Franchisee is required to 
purchase certain items of equipment, if applicable, and also certain products and food supplies, containers, 
packaging supplies, paper goods and other product service items for the preparation and service of the 
Products from sources designated by the Franchisor. Franchisee’s obligations under this shall be satisfied 
so long as Franchisee equips the Franchised Business and keeps it maintained in accordance with 
Franchisor’s strict specifications and standards for the Franchised Business.  

(ii.) In the event that Franchisee proposes to purchase any brand, type, and/or model of 
products, supplies, or services which are not then approved by Franchisor, Franchisee will first notify 
Franchisor and will submit to Franchisor, on Franchisor’s request, sufficient written specifications, 
photographs, drawings, samples, and/or other information for a determination by Franchisor of whether the 
brand, type, and/or model of products, supplies, or services complies with Franchisor’s specifications and 
standards, which determination will be made and communicated to Franchisee in writing within sixty (60) 
days after receipt of the necessary samples and information. In the event Franchisor does not respond within 
sixty (60) days Franchisee’s request is deemed denied. Franchisor does not make the criteria for approving 
suppliers available to franchisees. Franchisor may approve or disapprove a supplier or item in Franchisor’s 
sole discretion. Franchisor may charge the Franchisee a reasonable testing fee and will decide within a 
reasonable time after receiving the required information whether Franchisee may purchase items from such 
supplier. Upon Franchisor’s approval of your proposed item and/or supplier, Franchisor will permit 
Franchisee to contract with the alternative supplier. Franchisor may revoke approval of a supplier or a 
particular item at any time in Franchisor’s sole discretion by notifying Franchisee and/or the supplier in 
writing of the revocation of approval. 

(iii.) In connection with the operation of the Franchised Business, the Franchisee is required to 
purchase certain other products, beverages and other similar products and other items offered for 
consumption as stated in the Confidential Operations Manual. Franchisee’s obligation under this Section 
8.7 shall be satisfied so long as Franchisee purchases the stated products from sources of supply designated 
by Franchisor. Although it shall not be construed as an attempt to unreasonably limit the sources from 
which Franchisee may procure certain products, beverages, and other similar items, it is the intention of the 
Franchisor that such items conform to the Franchisor’s strict standards and strict specifications of consistent 
quality and uniformity. Therefore, Franchisor requires Franchisee to purchase such products, beverages, 
and other items from sources designated by the Franchisor. Franchisor shall not be obligated to approve 
any suppliers.  

(iv.) Franchisor and Franchisor’s affiliates have the right to receive payments from suppliers on 
account of their actual or prospective dealings with Franchisee and other franchisees and to use all amounts 
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received without restriction for any purposes Franchisor deems appropriate. Franchisee also understands 
that, if Franchisor or Franchisor’s affiliates sell items to Franchisee, Franchisor and Franchisor’s affiliates 
may make a profit on the items. 

8.8 No Representation or Warranty 

Franchisee acknowledges that in purchasing or leasing supplies, equipment and/or materials from 
suppliers approved by Franchisor, FRANCHISOR EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS ANY WARRANTIES 
OR REPRESENTATIONS AS TO THE CONDITION OF SAME, INCLUDING WITHOUT 
LIMITATION, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTIES AS TO MERCHANTABILITY OR 
FITNESS FOR ANY INTENDED PURPOSE. FRANCHISEE AGREES TO LOOK SOLELY TO 
THE MANUFACTURER OR SUPPLIER OF SAME IN THE EVENT OF ANY DEFECTS 
THEREIN.  

8.9 Independent Professional Judgment 

The parties acknowledge and agree that System Standards, Manuals, and any other training, 
specifications, standards and operating procedures related to the services provided by the Franchised 
Business are not intended to limit or replace Franchisee, Franchisee’s Operating Principal’s or Franchisee’s 
Manager’s professional judgment in supervising and operating the Franchised Business. The Manuals, 
System Standards and other training, specifications, standards and operating procedures represent only the 
minimum standards and Franchisee’s Operating Principal, Manager and other professionals are solely 
responsible for ensuring that the Franchised Business performs in accordance with all applicable 
requirements and standards of care. Except as to the operating standards and requirements as set forth in 
the Operations Manual, nothing in this Agreement shall obligate Franchisee’s Operating Principal, Manager 
or other professionals to perform any act that is contrary to Franchisee’s or their professional judgment, 
applicable standards of care or any laws or regulations; provided, however, that you must notify us 
immediately upon your determination that any specification, standard or operating procedure is contrary to 
Franchisee’s or their professional judgment. 

8.10 Changes in Approved Products or Services 

Franchisee shall only sell or offer for sale such products as described by the Franchisor, from time 
to time. 

8.11 Compliance with Terms of Agreement 

Franchisee shall comply with all the terms, conditions, requirements, covenants and agreements in 
this Agreement and any renewals thereof and supply Franchisor with such information (in addition to that 
otherwise provided for in this Agreement) as may be reasonably requested by Franchisor. 

8.12 Signage 

Franchisee shall use the signage as required by Franchisor. Franchisee shall only employ 
Franchisor’s designated supplier to reproduce Franchisee’s signage using Franchisor’s format and 
specifications. This provision shall not constitute a license of any copyright or trademark to the prospective 
printer of such signage. Any changes in the Products advertised or used at the Franchised Business shall be 
approved in writing by Franchisor prior to use. At the Franchisor’s discretion the signage format may 
contain advertising reference to other franchises.  
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8.13 Taxes 

Franchisee shall promptly pay, when due, all taxes levied or assessed, including without limitation 
federal income taxes, sales taxes, unemployment taxes and all indebtedness to Franchisor incurred by 
Franchisee in the conduct of the business licensed by this Agreement. 

8.14 Compliance with Laws 

Franchisee shall comply with all federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations, and shall timely 
obtain any and all permits, certificates, or licenses necessary for the full and proper conduct of the business 
licensed by this Agreement, including, without limitation, operation licenses, licenses to do business and 
fictitious name registrations. 

8.15 Notification of Claim 

Franchisee shall notify Franchisor, in writing, within five (5) days of the commencement of any 
action, claim, suit or proceeding, and of the issuance of any order, writ, injunction, suit or proceeding, 
award or decree of any court, agency or other governmental instrumentality which may adversely affect the 
operation or financial condition of the Franchised Business. 

8.16 No Right to Bind Franchisor 

Franchisee shall not pledge Franchisor’s credit or bind Franchisor to any obligation, nor shall it 
hold itself out as being authorized to do so. 

8.17 Attire 

In order to further enhance Franchisor’s product and format, Franchisee shall require all personnel 
working at the Franchised Business and interacting with customers to wear appropriate and professional 
attire consistent with Franchisor’s attire policy and as set forth in the Confidential Operations Manual. 

8.18 Compliance with Applicable Governmental Authorities 

Franchisor and Franchisee understand and agree that the operation of the Franchised Business, 
maintenance of its premises and equipment, conduct and appearance of its personnel, and the preparation 
and sale of products therefrom are all regulated by governmental statutes and regulations. To this end, the 
Franchisor and Franchisee agree that Franchisee owes an obligation to the patrons of his/her Franchised 
Business, Franchisor to fully and faithfully comply with all those applicable governing authorities, and all 
of the same are made a part of this Franchise Agreement as if fully described herein. It is further agreed 
that in the event any product dispensed at the Franchised Business evidences adulteration from the standards 
of Franchisor’s food items or is in violation of applicable law or regulations or in the event the food items, 
premises, equipment, personnel or operation of the Franchised Business fail to be maintained in accordance 
with the governmental requirements incorporated in this Franchise as aforesaid, Franchisee shall 
immediately close his/her Franchised Business, terminate selling operations thereat, destroy all 
contaminated or adulterated products and eliminate the source thereof and remedy all unsanitary conditions 
present, reopening for business only after Franchisor’s inspection and laboratory analysis from samples 
obtained for that purpose by Franchisor, evidence a compliance with the applicable governmental 
requirements and with the standards of Franchisor. In the event Franchisee or his/her agents or employees 
fails or refuses to comply with all of the foregoing remedial measures or in the event of any repetition of 
any adulteration or palming off or failure of sanitation in the Franchised Business: 
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(i.) The non-prevailing party shall pay the costs and expenses, including attorneys’ fees, of 
both parties, incurred in enforcing the provisions of this Subsection. The remedies presented herein are in 
addition to and not in substitution for those stated in Article XXIII of this Franchise Agreement. 

(ii.) In furtherance of the foregoing, Franchisee must submit copies of all health, sanitation or 
other regulatory agency inspection reports to Franchisor immediately upon receipt thereof. 

8.19 Market Research 

The Franchisor may, from time to time, conduct market research and testing to determine consumer 
trends and the salability of new products and services. Franchisee agrees to cooperate by participating in 
the Franchisor’s market research programs, test marketing new products and services in the Franchised 
Business and providing the Franchisor with timely reports and other relevant information regarding such 
market research. In connection with any such test marketing, Franchisee shall purchase a reasonable 
quantity of the tested products and effectively promote and make a reasonable effort to sell such products. 

8.20 Prohibited Product Fine 

In the event Franchisee sells any products or performs any services that Franchisor has not 
prescribed, approved or authorized, it shall be considered a material default under this Agreement and good 
cause for the Franchisor to terminate this Agreement.  Franchisee shall also be liable to Franchisor in the 
amount of $250 per day for use or sale of unauthorized products or services.  The Franchisor’s right to 
terminate the Franchisee shall be in addition to all other remedies available to Franchisor under this 
Agreement or at law. 

8.21 Non-Compliance Fine 

In the event that Franchisee breaches any provision of this Agreement, any material provision of 
the Confidential Operations Manual, or any other agreement between Franchisor and Franchisee or any of 
its subsidiary or affiliate corporations, and upon notice from Franchisor (and without cure within seven (7) 
days), Franchisee shall pay to Franchisor, on demand, a non-compliance fine equal to Five Hundred Dollars 
($500). If the violation is not corrected within thirty (30) days of Franchisor’s notice, and upon notice from 
Franchisor, Franchisee shall pay to Franchisor, on demand, an additional non-compliance fine equal to One 
Thousand Dollars ($1,000). If the violation is still not corrected within sixty (60) days of Franchisor’s 
notice, and upon notice from Franchisor, Franchisee shall pay to Franchisor, on demand, an additional non-
compliance fine equal to Three Thousand Dollars ($3,000). Franchisee shall not be obligated to pay 
Franchisor any fine under this provision where Franchisee has paid a Prohibited Product Fine under Section 
8.20 for the same violation. The Non-Compliance Fine shall be in addition to all other remedies available 
to Franchisor under this Agreement or at law. 

8.22 Gift Cards 

If implemented by Franchisor, Franchisee shall sell or otherwise issue gift cards or certificates 
(together “Gift Cards”) that have been prepared utilizing the standard form of Gift Card provided or 
designated by Franchisor, and only in the manner specified by Franchisor in the Confidential Operations 
Manual or otherwise in writing. Franchisee shall fully honor all Gift Cards that are in the form provided or 
approved by Franchisor regardless of whether a Gift Card was issued by Franchisee or another franchise in 
the System. Franchisee shall sell, issue, and redeem (without any offset against any Royalty Fees) Gift 
Cards in accordance with procedures and policies specified by Franchisor in the Confidential Operations 
Manual or otherwise in writing, including those relating to procedures by which Franchisee shall request 
reimbursement for Gift Cards issued by other franchises and for making timely payment to Franchisor, 
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other operators of franchises, or a third-party service provider for Gift Cards issued from the Franchised 
Business that are honored by Franchisor or other franchise operators. 

8.23 Information Security 

Franchisee must implement all administrative, physical, and technical safeguards necessary to 
protect any information that can be used to identify an individual, including names, addresses, telephone 
numbers, e-mail addresses, employee identification numbers, signatures, passwords, financial information, 
credit card information, biometric or health data, government-issued identification numbers, and credit 
report information (“Personal Information”) in accordance with applicable law and industry best practices. 
It is entirely your responsibility (even if we provide you any assistance or guidance in that regard) to confirm 
that the safeguards you use to protect Personal Information comply with all applicable laws and industry 
best practices related to the collection, access, use, storage, disposal, and disclosure of Personal 
Information. If you become aware of a suspected breach or actual breach of security or unauthorized access 
involving Personal Information, you will notify us immediately and specify the extent to which Personal 
Information was compromised or disclosed. 

8.24 Innovations 

All ideas, concepts, techniques, or materials relating to a Franchised Business, whether or not 
protectable intellectual property and whether created by or for Franchisee or Franchisee’s Owners or 
employees, must be promptly disclosed to Franchisor and will be deemed to be Franchisor’s sole and 
exclusive property, part of the System, and works made-for-hire for Franchisor. To the extent any item does 
not qualify as a “work made-for-hire” for Franchisor, by this Section Franchisee assigns ownership of that 
item, and all related rights to that item, to Franchisee and agrees to sign, and cause Franchisee’s employees 
and other agents to sign, whatever assignment or other documents Franchisor requests to evidence 
Franchisor’s ownership or to help Franchisor obtain intellectual property rights in the item. 
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ARTICLE IX 
ADVERTISING AND PROMOTIONAL ACTIVITIES 

9.1 Marketing Fund Contributions 

Recognizing the value of marketing and the importance of the standardization of promotions and 
public relations programs to the furtherance of the goodwill and public image of the System and the Marks, 
Franchisee agrees to contribute to a system-wide advertising and promotional Marketing Fund (the 
“Marketing Fund”) during the term of this Agreement, and on a monthly basis payable at the same time and 
in the same manner as the Royalty Fee, an amount Franchisor determines that will not exceed one percent 
(1%) of Franchisee’s Gross Sales.  

9.2 Local Advertising 

Franchisee agrees to spend one percent (1%) of his/her monthly Gross Sales on local advertising. 
This amount is in addition to any Marketing Fund contributions. If other Shah’s Halal restaurants are located 
in Franchisee’s area, Franchisee must participate in any local advertising cooperative that Franchisor 
establishes or causes to be formed, if Franchisor requires Franchisee’s participation. Such participation may 
involve, for example, paying a pro rata share of the cost of yellow pages advertising (or equivalent) placed 
on behalf of Franchisee and other Shah’s Halal restaurants. Franchisee may not solicit business through the 
use of an 800 (or other toll-free) number, direct mail, internet advertising or other advertising method 
without Franchisor’s prior written consent. 

9.3 Franchisor Must Approve Advertising Materials 

Franchisee must submit to Franchisor, for its approval, all materials to be used for local advertising, 
unless they have been approved before or they consist only of materials Franchisor provided. All materials 
containing the Marks must include the designation trademark ™, registered trademark ®, service mark SM, 
copyright ©, as applicable, or any other designation Franchisor specifies. If Franchisee does not receive 
written or oral disapproval of any materials submitted within fifteen (15) days from the date Franchisor 
receives the materials, the materials are disapproved. Any materials submitted to Franchisor for its approval 
will become Franchisor’s property, and there will be no restriction on Franchisor’s use of such materials. 
Franchisor may require Franchisee to withdraw and/or discontinue the use of any promotional materials or 
advertising, even if previously approved. Franchisor must make this requirement in writing, and Franchisee 
has five (5) days after receipt of Franchisor’s notice to withdraw and/or discontinue use of the materials or 
advertising. Franchisee’s submission of advertising for approval does not affect his/her right to determine 
the prices at which Franchisee sells his/her services or products. Franchisee must include in any significant 
display advertisements, and in marketing materials for the Franchised Business, in conformance with 
standards in the Confidential Operations Manual, a notice that the Franchised Business is individually 
owned and operated. Subject to any legal restrictions, Franchisee also must display or make available, in 
the reception area of the Franchised Business, marketing materials that Franchisor provides to Franchisee 
about the purchase of Shah’s Halal franchises, but Franchisee has no responsibility or authority to act for 
Franchisor in franchise sales. 

9.4 Telephone Listings 

Franchisee acknowledges and agrees that Franchisor will own all rights to and interest in all internet 
websites and each telephone number and telephone directory listing used by Franchisee that is associated 
in any manner with the Franchised Business and/or with any Mark (“Telephone Listing”). Franchisee 
acknowledges and agrees that all goodwill arising from or in connection with the use of each website or 
Telephone Listing will inure to Franchisor’s benefit. Promptly after the expiration, termination, repurchase 
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or transfer of the franchise, and at Franchisee’s own expense, Franchisee will notify all telephone companies 
with whom he/she has any Telephone Listing and direct them to transfer the Telephone Listing to Franchisor 
or to any person(s) Franchisor designates, and Franchisee will execute any and all documents necessary to 
complete these transfer(s). On the execution of this Agreement, Franchisee will sign a telephone transfer 
consent and authorization, in a form substantially similar to Exhibit E, granting Franchisor the authority to 
change, transfer or terminate Franchisee’s Telephone Listing(s) on Franchisee’s behalf. Franchisor will use 
this authorization only if Franchisee does not comply fully with this Section 9.4 after the expiration, 
termination, repurchase or transfer of the franchise. 

9.5 Website 

The Franchisee shall not maintain a World-Wide Website or otherwise maintain a presence or 
advertise on the Internet or any other public computer network in connection with the Franchised Business 
without Franchisor’s prior written approval, which Franchisor may withhold for any reason or no reason. 
Franchisee agrees to submit to Franchisor for approval before use, true and correct printouts of all Website 
pages Franchisee proposes to use in his/her website in connection with the Franchised Business. Franchisee 
understands and agrees that Franchisor’s right of approval of all such Web materials is necessitated by the 
fact that such Web materials will include and be inextricably linked with Franchisor’s Marks. Franchisee 
may only use materials which Franchisor has approved. Franchisee’s Website shall conform to all of 
Franchisor’s Website requirements, whether stated in the Confidential Operations Manuals or otherwise. 
Franchisee agrees to provide all hyperlinks or other links that Franchisor requires. If Franchisor grants 
approval for a Website, Franchisee may not use any of the Marks at the site except as Franchisor expressly 
permits. Franchisee may not post any of Franchisor’s proprietary, confidential or copyrighted material or 
information on his/her Website without Franchisor’s prior written consent. If Franchisee wishes to modify 
the approved site, all proposed modifications must also receive Franchisor’s prior written approval. 
Franchisee explicitly understands that he/she may not post on his/her Website any material which any third 
party has any direct or indirect ownership interest in (including, without limitation, video clips, 
photographs, sound bites, copyrighted text, trademarks or service marks, or any other text or image which 
any third party may claim intellectual property ownership interests in). Franchisee agrees to list on his/her 
Website any Website maintained by Franchisor, and any other information Franchisor requires in the 
manner Franchisor dictates. Franchisee agrees to obtain Franchisor’s prior written approval for any internet 
domain name and/or home page address. The requirement for Franchisor’s prior written approval described 
in this Section will apply to all activities on the Internet or other communications network to be conducted 
by Franchisee, except that Franchisee may maintain one or more E-mail addresses and may conduct 
individual E-mail communication without Franchisor’s prior approval as provided above if he/she proposes 
to send advertising to multiple addresses via E-mail. 

9.6 Social Media 

Franchisee shall comply with any Social Media policy issued by the Franchisor, whether 
incorporated into the Confidential Operations Manual as an addendum or otherwise communicated by 
Franchisor in writing at any time.  Franchisor may grant Franchisee the right to maintain, or may require 
Franchisee to maintain, or may prohibit the franchisee from maintaining an independent social media 
presence for the Franchised Business through websites such as Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, Tik Tok, 
Foursquare, and the like.  Any such account shall be the property of Franchisor.  If granted the right to 
operate such an account, Franchisee must grant Franchisor permanent access to all such social media 
accounts, including the right to edit, post, delete, and revise content.  Franchisee shall provide and update 
a list of all passwords necessary for such access to Franchisor.  Unless otherwise stated in a social media 
policy, all Franchisee content on such social media websites shall constitute local marketing materials for 
purposes of Section 9.2 above.  
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9.7 Participation in Promotions 

Franchisor may, at its discretion, institute promotional programs to include franchised locations. 
Franchisee is required and agrees to participate in any promotional program instituted by the Franchisor, at 
Franchisor’s sole discretion. Such promotional programs may be regional, national, or international, and 
Franchisee is required to participate as directed by Franchisor. Franchisee may be required to purchase 
materials, provide free products to guests, or to otherwise incur expenses as part of a promotional program 
or programs, and Franchisee shall bear these costs. Franchisor shall have full discretion to initiate, continue, 
modify, or cancel any promotional program at any time. 
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ARTICLE X 
REPORTS TO FRANCHISOR 

10.1 Books and Records 

Franchisee shall keep full, complete and accurate books and accounts in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles and in accordance with the System, and Franchisee shall: 

(i.) Submit to Franchisor concurrently with the payment of the Royalty Fees, on a form 
supplied or approved by Franchisor, a signed and verified statement of Gross Sales in cash, credit and/or 
other charges, and when Franchisee is tied into the computerized cash register system such reports shall be 
transmitted electronically; 

(ii.) Submit to Franchisor within five (5) days after the end of each month, a monthly profit and 
loss report for the Franchised Business for such month; 

(iii.) Submit to Franchisor within sixty (60) days after the close of each twelve (12) month period 
an annual profit and loss statement for the Franchised Business for such year and a balance sheet for the 
Franchised Business as of the end of such year, reviewed by an independent certified public accountant. 
Franchisor may randomly select a franchisee or franchisees who will be required to have an audited 
financial statement prepared by a certified public accountant selected by the franchisee, but who shall be 
acceptable to Franchisor, which opinion may be qualified only to the extent reasonably acceptable to the 
Franchisor; 

(iv.) Submit to Franchisor a copy of all of Franchisee’s Federal, State and Local tax returns of 
any kind or nature; and a certificate from said accountant that all Social Security payments, taxes and fees 
required to be paid by Franchisee have been paid and that there is no reason to believe that Franchisee’s 
corporate status, if Franchisee is a corporation, limited liability company or other entity, has been impaired; 
and 

(v.) Submit to Franchisor such other periodic forms and reports as may be reasonably 
prescribed by Franchisor. 

10.2 Maintenance of Accounting Records 

Franchisee shall preserve for a period of not less than three (3) years all accounting records and 
supporting documents relating to the Franchisee’s business under this Agreement. 

10.3 Sales Records 

(i.) Franchisee shall record, in a manner approved and designated by Franchisor at the time of 
receipt, all sales of all products sold by Franchisee from his/her Franchised Business in a computerized cash 
register of a type designated by Franchisor, or on any other machine or recording device recommended or 
approved in advance by Franchisor. 

(ii.) Franchisee shall maintain an internet connection of adequate connectivity, speed, and 
capacity to permit Franchisor to access Franchisee’s computerized point of sale system, and shall allow 
Franchisor access to such computerized point of sale system at all times. Franchisee shall install and 
maintain a wireless internet system available to guests, approved by Franchisor, if Franchisor so requires 
in the Confidential Operations Manual. 
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(iii.) Franchisee shall install and maintain a security camera system approved by Franchisor 
which enables Franchisee and Franchisor to observe active camera feeds in the Franchised Business. 

10.4 Audit 

In order to determine whether Franchisee is complying with this Agreement, the Franchisor or its 
designated agents shall have the right, at any time during reasonable business hours, to examine at its 
expense the books, records, cash control devices, income tax returns, bank statements, sales records of the 
Franchised Business, and the books and records of any corporation, limited liability company or partnership 
which owns the franchise. Franchisor shall also have the right, at any time, to have an independent audit 
made of the books of Franchisee. If an inspection or audit should reveal that Gross Sales and/or payments 
have been understated in any report to Franchisor, by five percent (5%) or more, then Franchisee shall, 
upon fifteen (15) days’ notice, pay to Franchisor the amount understated upon demand, with interest thereon 
as described in Section 5.5, and in addition reimburse Franchisor for any and all costs and expenses 
connected with the inspection (including without limitation, reasonable accounting and attorneys’ fees, 
travel expenses, room and board and compensation of employees of the Franchisor). The foregoing 
remedies shall be in addition to any other remedies Franchisor may have hereunder or under applicable law. 
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ARTICLE XI 
CONFIDENTIALITY 

11.1 Loan of Confidential Operations Manual 

Franchisor shall lend to Franchisee, a confidential operations manual published by Franchisor (the 
“Confidential Operations Manual”) which includes, in part, the business procedures, technical advice 
and rules and regulations for operating the business, and incorporates by reference training manuals which 
Franchisor may lend to Franchisee at the initial training. The Confidential Operations Manual shall be 
provided to Franchisee upon execution of this Agreement and payment of applicable Franchise Fee. 

11.2 Franchisee’s Acknowledgments 

Franchisee acknowledges and agrees that: 

(i.) The Confidential Operations Manual is the property of the Franchisor during the term of 
this Agreement and any renewal hereof; 

(ii.) The Confidential Operations Manual contains Confidential Information which Franchisee 
will protect as a trade secret, and that its loss will cause substantial damage to Franchisor and other 
franchisees, although the amount of such loss would be incalculable with any degree of accuracy; 

(iii.) Franchisee shall not reprint or reproduce any portion of the Confidential Operations 
Manual for any reason whatsoever;  

(iv.) If Franchisee misplaces, destroys, or otherwise loses possession of the Confidential 
Operations Manual, Franchisee shall be obligated to pay to Franchisor a Replacement Manual Fee of Five 
Hundred Dollars ($500.00); and 

(v.) Upon termination of this Agreement for any reason, the Confidential Operations Manual, 
including any and all paper and electronic copies, will be immediately returned to Franchisor. 

11.3 Modifications to Confidential Operations Manual 

Franchisor may reasonably add to or otherwise modify the Confidential Operations Manual, from 
time to time, whenever it considers such additions or modifications desirable to improve or maintain the 
standards of the System and the efficient operation thereof, or to protect or maintain the goodwill associated 
with the “Shah’s Halal” name and Marks or to meet competition, provided such additions or modifications 
are system-wide in nature and do not substantially increase Franchisee’s economic burden. 

11.4 Incorporation of Confidential Operations Manual 

From the date of the opening of the Franchised Business by Franchisee, the mandatory 
specifications, standards and operating procedures prescribed by Franchisor and communicated to 
Franchisee in writing in the Confidential Operations Manual and otherwise, shall constitute provisions of 
this Agreement as if fully described herein. All references herein to this Agreement shall include the 
provisions of the Confidential Operations Manual and all such mandatory specifications standards and 
operating procedures. 
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11.5 Receipt of Confidential Information 

Franchisee acknowledges that prior to or during the Term, Franchisor may disclose in confidence, 
either orally or in writing, certain trade secrets, know-how, and other confidential information relating to 
the System, Franchisor’s business, Franchisor’s vendor relationships, Franchisor’s stores, or the 
construction, management, operation, or promotion of the Franchised Business (collectively, “Confidential 
Information”), including (i) site selection criteria and methodologies; (ii) methods, formats, systems, 
System Standards, sales and marketing techniques, knowledge and experience used in developing and 
operating Franchised Businesses, including information in the Confidential Operations Manuals; (iii) 
marketing research and promotional, marketing, advertising, public relations, customer relationship 
management and other brand related materials and programs for Franchised Businesses; (iv) knowledge of 
specifications for and suppliers of, and methods of ordering, certain items that Franchised Businesses use 
and/or sell including the proprietary food items and recipes; (v) knowledge of the operating results and 
financial performance of other franchises; (vi) customer information, customer communication and 
customer retention programs, along with data used or generated in connection with those programs; and 
(vii) any other information Franchisor reasonably designates from time to time as confidential or 
proprietary. “Confidential Information” does not include (i) information that is part of the public domain 
or becomes part of the public domain through no fault of Franchisee, (ii) information disclosed to 
Franchisee by a third party having legitimate and unrestricted possession of such information, or (iii) 
information that Franchisee can demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence was within Franchisee’s 
legitimate and unrestricted possession when the parties began discussing the sale of the franchise. 

11.6 Non-Disclosure of Confidential Information 

(i.) Franchisor and Franchisor’s affiliates own all right, title, and interest in and to the 
Confidential Information. Franchisee will not, nor will Franchisee permit any person to, use or disclose any 
Confidential Information (including without limitation all or any portion of the Confidential Operations 
Manuals) to any other person, except to the extent necessary for Franchisee’s professional advisors and 
Franchisee’s employees to perform their functions in the operation of the Franchised Business. Franchisee 
acknowledges that your use of the Confidential Information in any other business would constitute an unfair 
method of competition with Franchisor and Franchisor’s franchisees. Franchisee will be liable to Franchisor 
for any unauthorized use or disclosure of Confidential Information by any employee or other person to 
whom Franchisee discloses Confidential Information. Franchisee will take reasonable precautions to protect 
the Confidential Information from unauthorized use or disclosure and will implement any systems, 
procedures, or training programs that we require. At our request, Franchisee will require anyone who may 
have access to the Confidential Information to execute non-disclosure agreements in a form satisfactory to 
Franchisor that identifies Franchisor as a third-party beneficiary of such covenants with the independent 
right to enforce the agreement. 

(ii.) An individual shall not be held criminally or civilly liable under any Federal or State trade 
secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret that is made in confidence to a Federal, State, or local 
government official or to an attorney solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected 
violation of law. An individual shall not be held criminally or civilly liable under a Federal or State trade 
secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret that is made in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit 
or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal. An individual who files a lawsuit for retaliation by 
an employer for reporting a suspected violation of law may disclose the trade secret to an attorney of the 
individual and use the trade secret information in the court proceeding, if the individual files any document 
containing the trade secret under seal; and does not disclose the trade secret, except pursuant to court order. 
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ARTICLE XII 
INSURANCE 

12.1 Insurance Coverages 

Franchisee shall obtain and place at its sole cost and expense, with an insurer rated “A+” in A.M. 
Best and Company, Inc.’s Directory who is authorized to do business in the state in which the Franchisee’s 
Franchised Business is located, and to keep in full force and effect during the terms of this Agreement, 
insurance coverage on an “occurrence basis” naming Franchisor, its officers, directors and shareholders and 
any supplier of Products, and any designated primary and secondary lessor as co-insureds (such insurance 
policies hereinafter referred to collectively as “Insurance”) in amounts identified in the Confidential 
Operations Manual or an addendum thereto: 

(i.) Comprehensive general liability insurance for bodily injury, death and property damage 
caused by your operation of the Franchised Business, including employment practices liability coverage 
and contractual liability coverage; 

(ii.) “All Risks” coverage for the full cost of replacement of the Franchised Business premises 
and all other property in which the Franchisor may have an interest, with a replacement cost clause attached, 
agreed amount endorsement equal to one hundred (100%) percent replacement the value of the property, 
including buildout, improvement and betterments, equipment , furniture, fixtures and inventory; 

(iii.) Liquor liability coverage in amounts identified in the Confidential Operations Manual or 
an addendum thereto if alcohol will be served. 

(iv.) Employer’s Liability, Workers’ Compensation, and such other insurance as may be 
required by statute or rule of the state or locality in which Franchisee’s Shah’s Halal is located and operated; 

(v.) Business interruption insurance in sufficient amounts to cover 12 months of revenue but 
not less than $100,000. Franchisor shall be named as an additional insured and loss payee in an amount 
equal to the royalties that would have been paid based on the Gross Sales of the Franchised Business for 
the preceding twelve (12) month period, or prorated for such shorter period (if the Franchised Business has 
not been in operation for twelve (12) months), and shall expressly provide that any interest of same therein 
shall not be affected by any breach of Franchisee of any policy provisions for which such certificates 
evidence coverage; and 

(vi.) Cyber Risk coverage; 

(vii.) Products liability and completed operation insurance; 

(viii.) Any other insurance coverage as required by the State, Federal or local municipality in 
which the franchised premises is located, as required by Franchisor, or as required by the lease for the 
Franchised Business premises. 

Franchisee may, with the prior written consent of Franchisor, elect to have reasonable deductibles 
in connection with the coverage required hereunder. 
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12.2 Additional Provisions 

The insurance shall cover the acts or omissions of each and every one of the persons who perform 
services of whatever nature at the Franchised Business, and shall protect against all acts of any persons who 
patronize the Franchised Business and shall contain a waiver of subrogation against Franchisor. 

12.3 Certificates of Insurance 

Prior to the opening of the Franchised Business, Franchisee will deliver to Franchisor certificates 
of the Insurance, together with the copies of the actual policies issued, and will promptly pay all premiums 
thereon as and when the same become due. All policies shall provide that they are non-cancelable as to 
Franchisor in the absence of thirty (30) days’ written notice to Franchisor. Franchisor shall have the right, 
but shall not be obligated, to pay premiums due and unpaid by Franchisee or else to obtain substitute 
coverage in the case of cancellation. Any cost thereof to Franchisor shall be added to the Royalty Fees 
otherwise payable to Franchisor under this Agreement, provided, however, that same shall be due and 
payable to Franchisor by the Franchisee within five (5) days of demand therefor. 

12.4 Changes in Insurance Coverages 

Franchisor reserves the right to demand that Franchisee obtain Insurance from time to time which 
is different in coverage, risks, amount or otherwise from the foregoing in order to protect fully the parties 
having insurable interests in the Franchised Business, provided such Insurance is reasonably common in 
the area for similar operations. 

12.5 Notification of Claim 

Franchisee shall immediately notify Franchisor, in writing, of any accidents, injury, occurrence or 
claim that might give rise to a liability or claim against Franchisor or which could materially affect 
Franchisee’s business, and such notice shall be provided no later than the date upon which Franchisee 
notifies his/her insurance carrier. 

12.6 Franchisor May Purchase Insurance 

If Franchisee fails to obtain or maintain the required insurance, or fails to provide certificates to 
Franchisor upon Franchisor’s request, then Franchisor may obtain insurance on behalf of the franchisee 
from any vendor of Franchisor’s choosing. Franchisee shall be required to reimburse Franchisor for the cost 
of the premium(s) plus a two thousand five-hundred-dollar ($2,500) fee to cover Franchisor’s 
administrative time and costs. Insurance reimbursement (including the $2,500 fee) shall be payable upon 
demand from Franchisor, and interest shall begin to accrue (pursuant to Section 5.5 of this Agreement) 
upon the fifth day after demand if the Franchisee has not reimbursed Franchisor. 

 

REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY. 

 



 

23-38 
Shah’s Halal FDD (2024) 

313520804v.1 

ARTICLE XIII 
RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES; INDEMNIFICATION 

13.1 Independent Business 

You acknowledge that by executing this Agreement you are agreeing to establish and operate an 
independent Franchised Business, the success of which depends on, among other things, your individual 
ability to operate your business, attract and retain qualified staff, and otherwise operate all phases of an 
independent business over which you will have substantial control.  As an independent business owner, you 
agree that: (i) the relationship created by this Agreement is not a relationship between principal and agent, 
or that it is a fiduciary relationship and any act or omission of either party shall not bind or obligate the 
other except as expressly stated in this Agreement; (ii) you are not an employee of Franchisor and will not 
earn any wages, nor be eligible for or receive any of the other benefits normally provided to employees, but 
rather your income will solely be the profits you earn from the operation of the Franchised Business; (iii) 
Franchisor is not the employer or co-employer of any employee that you hire; (iv) all management of the 
Franchised Business are at your discretion and are your responsibility; (v) you are responsible for ensuring 
that the Franchised Business operates in accordance with the law of the state, county, city, and town in 
which you operate; and (vi) your independent business judgment will be used to grow and increase sales.  
You understand that should you assert a claim or seek a determination that this Agreement, or any of its 
exhibits or attachments, creates anything but an independent business relationship, including an 
employment relationship, Franchisor may seek a determination that this Agreement is null and void.  You 
also agree that if a court, administrative body, arbitrator, board, or other tribunal enters a judgment that this 
Agreement, or any of its exhibits or attachments, creates anything but an independent business relationship, 
including an employment relationship, then Franchisor shall have the option to terminate this Agreement.  

13.2 Franchisee Has Full Responsibility 

Franchisee recognizes that Franchisor has entered into this Agreement in reliance upon and in 
recognition of the fact that Franchisee will have full responsibility for the management and operation of the 
business and that the amount of profit or loss resulting from the operation of the business will be directly 
and solely attributable to the performance of Franchisee. 

13.3 No Rights in the System, Marks, Etc. 

Except as expressly granted herein, Franchisee recognizes that nothing contained in this Agreement 
shall be construed as giving to Franchisee or to any other person or entity any right or interest in the 
Franchisor’s names, Marks, trade secrets, methods, procedures or techniques developed by Franchisor and 
used in the System. Further, except as specifically stated in Article I hereof, nothing contained herein shall 
be construed as limiting Franchisor’s right, title or interest in the “Shah’s Halal” name, Marks, trade secrets, 
methods, procedures and techniques which are a part of the System or Franchisor’s sole and exclusive right 
to register trade secrets, methods, procedures and techniques. 

13.4 Identification of Independent Ownership 

In all public records and prominently displayed at the Franchised Business and in Franchisee’s 
relationship with third parties, including but not limited to, employees and vendors, as well as on letterheads 
and business forms, Franchisee shall indicate clearly the independent ownership of the Franchised Business, 
and that the operations of same are separate and distinct from the operation of Franchisor’s business. 
Franchisor shall have the absolute right to approve and/or supply any sign displays containing the foregoing. 
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13.5 Taxes 

The Franchisor shall have no liability for any sales, use, excise, gross receipts, property or other 
taxes, whether levied upon Franchisee, the Franchised Business or its assets, or upon Franchisor in 
connection with sales made, services performed or business conducted by Franchisee, except for any taxes 
Franchisor is required by law to collect from Franchisee with respect to purchases from Franchisor or for 
Franchisor’s own income tax liability. 

13.6 Indemnification by Franchisee 

Franchisee agrees to indemnify and hold the Franchisor and its subsidiaries, affiliates, stockholders, 
directors, officers, employees, agents and assignees harmless against, and to reimburse them for, any loss, 
liability, taxes or damages (actual or consequential) and all reasonable costs and expenses of defending any 
claim brought against any of them or any action in which any of them is named as a party (including, 
without limitation, reasonable accountants’, attorneys’ and expert witness fees, costs of investigation and 
proof of facts, court costs, other litigation expenses and travel and living expenses) which any of them may 
suffer, sustain or incur by reason of, arising from or in connection with Franchisee’s ownership or operation 
of the Franchised Business, which is due solely to Franchisee’s negligence, breach of contract or other civil 
wrongs, unless such loss, liability or damage is solely due to the negligence of the Franchisor (or any of its 
affiliates, i.e., any company controlling, controlled by, or under common control with the Franchisor) in 
producing, handling or storing the proprietary food items sold to Franchisee (provided Franchisor shall 
have established that Franchisee inspected such proprietary food items in accordance with the procedures 
stated in the Confidential Operations Manual and could not have reasonably discovered the adulteration or 
other defect in such proprietary food items which was the case of such loss, liability or damage). Franchisee 
acknowledges and agrees that any action or inaction by any third party (e.g., an independent carrier) which 
is not an affiliate of the Franchisor in connection with handling or storing the Products shall not be 
attributable to or constitute negligence of the Franchisor. 

13.7 Indemnification by Franchisor 

The Franchisor agrees to indemnify and hold Franchisee harmless against, and to reimburse him/her for, 
any loss, liability or damage (actual or consequential) and all reasonable costs and expenses of defending 
any claim brought against him/her or any action in which he/she is named as a party (including, without 
limitation, reasonable accountants’, attorneys’ and expert witness fees, costs of investigation and proof of 
facts, court costs, other litigation expenses and travel and living expenses) which he/she may suffer, sustain 
or incur solely by reason of, arising from or in connection with the negligence of the Franchisor (or any of 
its affiliates, i.e., any company controlling, controlled by or under common control with the Franchisor) in 
producing, handling or storing the proprietary products (provided Franchisee shall have established that 
Franchisee inspected such Products in accordance with the procedures stated in the Confidential Operations 
Manual and could not have reasonably discovered the adulteration or other defect in such Products which 
was the cause of such loss, liability or damage). Franchisee acknowledges and agrees that any action or 
inaction by any third party (e.g., an independent carrier) which is not an affiliate of the Franchisor in 
connection with handling or storing proprietary food items shall not be attributable to or constitute 
negligence of the Franchisor. 
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ARTICLE XIV 
COVENANTS NOT TO COMPETE 

14.1 In-Term Covenants 

During the term of this Agreement, or any extension thereof, neither Franchisee, nor any partner, 
if the Franchisee is a partnership, nor any shareholder or member, if the Franchisee is a corporation or 
limited liability company, shall either directly or indirectly for himself or herself or on behalf of, or in 
conjunction with any other person, persons, partnership, association or corporation own, maintain, engage 
in, participate or have any interest in the operation of any fast-casual restaurant or any enterprise selling 
Halal foods or middle-eastern cuisine including, but not limited to, walk-in or carry-out formats, food carts 
or vending machines (a “Competitive Business”), provided, however, that this prohibition shall not apply 
to the ownership by the Franchisee of additional Shah’s Halal restaurants. 

14.2 Post-Term Covenants 

For a period of two (2) years following termination, expiration, or non-renewal of this Agreement, 
except where the termination occurs due to the fault or action of the Franchisor and not due to default of 
the Franchisee or any partner, if the Franchisee is a partnership, or any shareholder or member, if the 
Franchisee is a corporation or limited liability company, the Franchisee shall not, except with respect to the 
ownership or operation by Franchisee of additional Shah’s Halal restaurants either directly or indirectly for 
himself or on the behalf of, or in conjunction with, any other person, persons, partnership, association or 
corporation, own, maintain, engage in, participate in, or have any interest in the operation of any 
Competitive Business, or which distributes, produces or sells the Products within (x), your Protected 
Territory as defined in Exhibit A; (y) the Protected Territory any other franchisee of Franchisor Business 
locations; or (z) the Protected Territory (as would be defined by the terms of Exhibit A) for any store 
operated by Franchisor.  The restrictions of this Section shall not be applicable to the ownership of shares 
of a class of securities listed on a stock exchange or traded on the over-the-counter market that represents 
five percent (5%) or less of the number of shares of that class of securities issued and outstanding. 

14.3 Failure to Comply 

In the event Franchisee fails or refuses to comply with the in-term or post-term covenants of this 
Article, even if such failure or refusal is based upon a claim that the laws of any particular jurisdiction 
excuse such non-compliance or make the provision of said paragraph unenforceable in whole or in part, 
and provided that the jurisdiction in which the Franchised Business is located permits, Franchisee hereby 
separately covenants and agrees that while this Agreement is in effect and for two (2) years after its 
termination, except where termination occurs due to the fault or action of Franchisor and not due to default 
of Franchisee, Franchisor shall have the right to require that all sales made in the operation of any business 
operated in violation of this Article XIV shall be reported to Franchisor and Franchisee agrees to pay 
Franchisor upon demand, the weekly fee of Five Hundred Dollars ($500) and Three Thousand Dollars 
($3,000) if the violation is not corrected within ninety (90) days, at the times and in the manner specified 
in Article V hereof all without being deemed to revive, modify or expand this Agreement. The covenants 
of this Article shall survive the termination or expiration of this Agreement. 

14.4 Confidential Information 

Franchisee shall not, during the term of this Agreement or after its termination or non-renewal, 
communicate or divulge to any other person, persons, partnership, corporation or other entity (and shall 
not, after termination or non-renewal, communicate and retain) use any information or knowledge 
concerning the methods of operation used in a Franchised Business, which shall constitute Confidential 
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Information as set forth herein, nor shall Franchisee disclose or divulge, in whole or in part, (nor shall 
Franchisee retain, after termination or non-renewal) any trade secrets of Franchisor or its affiliated 
companies or subsidiaries thereof. Additionally, Franchisee shall not, during the term of this Agreement or 
after its termination or non-renewal, use any such Confidential Information or trade secrets other than as 
necessary in connection with Franchisee’s operation of the Franchised Business. Franchisee agrees to use 
the utmost diligence to guard and protect such Confidential Information and trade secrets from disclosure 
to or use by others (except solely as necessary to operate the Franchised Business), including by requiring 
any of Franchisee’s employees to be bound by non-disclosure obligations at least as protective as this 
covenant. 

14.5 Unenforceability of Covenants 

The parties agree that the covenants contained in this Article are intended to be and shall be 
construed as independent of any other covenant or provision of this Agreement.  If all or any portion of a 
covenant in this Article is held unreasonable or unenforceable by a court or agency having valid jurisdiction, 
Franchisee expressly agrees to be bound by any lesser covenant subsumed with the terms of such covenant 
that imposes the maximum duty permitted by law, as if the resulting covenant were separately stated and 
made a part of this Article. 

14.6 Acknowledgements and Injunctive Relief 

Franchisee acknowledges that the foregoing restrictions are essential conditions of Franchisor’s 
willingness to enter into this Agreement with Franchisee; are supported by fair, reasonable, and mutually-
agreed upon consideration; are reasonable and enforceable in every respect; are not vague or indefinite; are 
designed and are necessary to protect the legitimate business interests of Franchisor; and that compliance 
with such covenants will not prevent Franchisee from earning a livelihood and do not place undue restraint 
on Franchisee, nor are they in conflict with any public interest. Franchisee acknowledges that Franchisee 
has read the covenants contained herein, fully understands them, and has voluntarily agreed to comply with 
them without any force or duress. Franchisee agrees that in the event of a breach of covenants contained in 
this Article, the damage to Franchisor would be difficult to ascertain, and in addition to the liquidated 
damages payable to Franchisor as hereinafter provided for the breach of any or all of said covenants, 
Franchisor shall be entitled to seek injunctive and/or other equitable relief against the violation of any said 
covenants, without posting a bond or proving actual damages, together with reasonable attorneys’ fees and 
costs. 

14.7 Enforceability 

Covenants contained in this Article shall be construed as severable and independent and shall be 
interpreted and applied consistent with the requirements of reasonableness and equity. Any judicial 
reformation of these covenants consistent with this interpretation shall be enforceable as though contained 
herein and shall not affect any other provisions or terms of this Agreement. 

REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY. 
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ARTICLE XV 
MODIFICATION OF THE SYSTEM 

Franchisee understands and agrees that the System must not remain static if it is to meet, without 
limitation, presently unforeseen changes in technology, competitive circumstances, demographics, 
populations, consumer trends, societal trends, other market variables and the needs of customers, and to 
best serve the interests of Franchisor, Franchisee and all other franchisees. Accordingly, Franchisee 
expressly understands and agrees that Franchisor may from time to time change the components of the 
System, including, but not limited to, altering the products, programs, services, methods, standards, forms, 
policies and procedures of that System; abandoning the System altogether in favor of another system in 
connection with a merger, acquisition, other business combination or for other reasons; adding to, deleting 
from or modifying those programs and services which the Franchised Business is authorized to offer; 
modifying or substituting entirely the building, premises, equipment, signage, trade dress, décor, color 
schemes and uniform specifications and all other unit construction, design, appearance and operation 
attributes which Franchisee is required to observe hereunder; and changing, improving or modifying the 
Marks. Subject to the other provisions of this Agreement, including the restrictions contained in Section 
8.3, Franchisee expressly agrees to abide by any such modifications, changes, additions, deletions and 
alterations, provided, however, that such changes are system-wide in nature do not materially and 
unreasonably increase Franchisee’s economic obligations hereunder. 

Franchisee shall accept, use and effectuate any such changes or modifications to, or substitution of, 
the System as if they were part of the System at the time that this Agreement was executed. 

Except as provided herein, Franchisor shall not be liable to Franchisee for any expenses, losses or 
damages sustained by Franchisee as a result of any of the modifications contemplated hereby. Franchisee 
hereby covenants not to commence or join in any litigation or other proceeding against Franchisor or any 
third party complaining of any such modifications or seeking expenses, losses or damages caused thereby. 
Finally, Franchisee expressly waives any claims, demands or damages arising from or related to the 
foregoing activities including, without limitation, any claim of breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duty, 
fraud, and/or breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. 

REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY. 
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ARTICLE XVI 
FRANCHISEE 

The term “Franchisee” shall include all persons who succeed to the interest of the original 
Franchisee by transfer or operation of law and shall be deemed to include not only the individual or entity 
defined as “Franchisee” in the introductory paragraph of this Agreement, but shall also include partners of 
the entity that executes this Agreement, in the event said entity is a partnership, all shareholders, officers 
and directors owning more than a twenty (20%) percent ownership interest in the entity that executes this 
Agreement, in the event said entity is a corporation, and all members and managers owning more than a 
twenty percent (20%) ownership interest in the entity that executes this Agreement, in the event said entity 
is a limited liability company. By their signatures hereto, all partners, shareholders, officers, directors, 
members and managers of the entity that signs this Agreement as Franchisee acknowledges and accepts the 
duties and obligations imposed upon each of them, individually, by the terms of this Agreement. The 
singular usage includes the plural and the neuter and masculine usages include the other and the feminine. 

REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY. 
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ARTICLE XVII 
TERMINATION 

17.1 Events of Default 

Franchisor may terminate this Agreement upon the occurrence of any of the following events of 
default: 

(i.) Failure by Franchisee to make complete and timely payment of any and all fees and billings 
due Franchisor or any of its subsidiary or affiliated corporations; 

(ii.) Failure to comply with the reporting or record keeping requirements of this Agreement, 
and/or the intentional under-reporting of Gross Sales; 

(iii.) The misstatement by Franchisee of any material fact, or failure to disclose or the 
understatement of any material fact in any report furnished to the Franchisor pursuant to this Agreement or 
the Confidential Operations Manual, whether or not such misstatement or failure to disclose or 
understatement is intentional; 

(iv.) A breach by Franchisee of any provision of this Agreement, any material provision of the 
Confidential Operations Manual, or any other agreement between Franchisor and Franchisee or any of its 
subsidiary or affiliated corporations; 

(v.) Franchisee’s engaging in any conduct or practice that, in the sole discretion of Franchisor, 
is detrimental or harmful to the good name, goodwill or reputation of Franchisor or its products or other 
franchisees or the public; 

(vi.) Franchisee’s engaging in any conduct or practice that is a fraud upon consumers, or is an 
unfair, unethical, or deceptive trade, act or practice; 

(vii.) Any pledge or attempted pledge of Franchisor’s credit by Franchisee, or an attempt by 
Franchisee to bind Franchisor to any obligation; 

(viii.) Failure by Franchisee to participate in the advertising, promotional, or marketing activities, 
services, and programs that are established by Franchisor or the Marketing Fund; 

(ix.) Unauthorized or improper use by Franchisee of the Marks; 

(x.) Misuse or unauthorized disclosure by Franchisee of the Confidential Operations Manual, 
information or materials; 

(xi.) Failure to use or sell any of the proprietary food items to the exclusion of those of any 
competitors and the failure to perform all of the services required by Franchisor, including but not limited 
to the forwarding of copies of all health or sanitation or other regulatory agency reports to Franchisor 
immediately upon receipt thereof; 

(xii.) Failure to open the Franchised Business at the location designated by Franchisee within 
the time specified in the lease or this Agreement; 

(xiii.) Except as otherwise provided herein, failure by Franchisee to purchase his/her entire 
requirement of any of the items from sources of supply designated by Franchisor and to sell the same to the 
consuming public using his/her best efforts; 
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(xiv.) Failure to correct any local, state or municipal health or sanitation law or code violation 
within twenty-four (24) hours after being cited for such violation, except if Franchisee cannot effect a cure 
within said time frame, but has, in good faith, initiated a cure of such violations; or 

(xv.) Sale of the food items to other than the retail customer (ultimate consumer), without 
Franchisor’s prior consent. 

17.2 Notice of Termination 

To terminate Franchisee for default of this Agreement pursuant to Section 17.1 above, Franchisor 
shall first provide Franchisee with written notice of termination, which notice shall specify the reason for 
and the Effective Date of Termination. This Agreement shall terminate on the date specified therein, which 
shall not be less than seven (7) days from the posted day of the notice (or such longer period as provided 
by State law), unless: 

(i.) Franchisee cures the default or reason for termination during the notice period; 

(ii.) Franchisee has in good faith, initiated a cure of the default or reason for termination within 
the notice period, and such default or reason cannot be completely cured during the notice period because 
of factors reasonably beyond the exclusive control of Franchisee, in which event Franchisor, by notice, 
shall permit Franchisee a reasonable opportunity, in light of such factors, to effect a complete cure; or 

(iii.) The provisions of Sections 17.2(a) and (b) notwithstanding, this Agreement shall 
nonetheless terminate if the default or reason for termination has been stated in two (2) prior notices of 
termination within any prior twelve (12) month period, and/or if two (2) or more health code violations 
have been committed within any prior twelve (12) month period, or if Franchisee is terminated as a result 
of under-reporting Gross Sales by five percent (5%) or more. 

17.3 Immediate Termination 

Upon written notice to Franchisee, Franchisor may, without right to cure, immediately terminate 
this Agreement upon the occurrence of any of the following events of default: 

(i.) Any action by Franchisee, any of his/her partners, if Franchisee is a partnership, or any of 
its officers, directors or stockholders, if Franchisee is a corporation, or any of its members or managers, if 
Franchisee is a limited liability company, which results in: 

(1) An affirmative act of insolvency; 

(2) An assignment for the benefit of creditors; 

(3) The filing of a petition under any bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, or moratorium law, 
or any law for the relief of, or relating to, debtors, except with respect to any relief permitted 
under the Federal Bankruptcy Code; or 

(4) Violation of the Anti-Terrorism Laws, as described in Article XXXVII hereof. 

(ii.) The filing of any involuntary petition under any bankruptcy statute against Franchisee, any 
of its partners, any of its stockholders owning at least twenty-five (25%) percent of any class of stock, or 
any of its members owning at least twenty-five percent (25%) of any class of membership interests, or the 
appointment of any receiver or trustee to take possession of property of Franchisee, any of its partners, or 
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any of its stockholders owning twenty-five (25%) percent of any class of stock of Franchisee, or any of its 
members owning at least twenty-five percent (25%) of any class of membership interests; 

(iii.) Failure by Franchisee to satisfy fully a civil judgment obtained against Franchisee for a 
period of more than thirty (30) days after all rights of appeal have been exhausted, or execution of such a 
judgment, execution of a lien, or foreclosure by a secured party or mortgage against Franchisee’s property, 
which judgment, execution of a lien, or foreclosure by a secured party or mortgage would have an adverse 
or detrimental effect upon Franchisee’s franchised operation; 

(iv.) Conviction of Franchisee, or any partner of Franchisee, or any officer, director, stockholder 
or member owning at least twenty-five (25%) percent of any class of equity interest of Franchisee, or the 
manager of Franchisee’s franchise, of any crime which in the opinion of Franchisor would adversely affect 
the goodwill or interest of Franchisee or the Franchised Business; 

(v.) The uncured default by Franchisee under any lease of the Franchised Business which could 
possibly result in the loss by Franchisee of the right to possess for any reason whatsoever; 

(vi.) A final judgment or the unappealed decision of a court, regulatory officer, agency, or quasi-
regulatory agency that results in the temporary or permanent suspensions or revocation of any permits or 
licenses, possession of which is a prerequisite to the operation of Franchisee’s business or is required under 
applicable law; 

(vii.) The direct or indirect assignment, transfer, sale or encumbrance by Franchisee of this 
Agreement or franchise or any of his/her rights or privileges contrary to this Agreement, or any attempt by 
Franchisee to sell, assign, transfer or encumber the Franchised Business contrary to the terms of this 
Agreement; 

(viii.) Failure by Franchisee to remain open for business as required by this Agreement or as may 
be required by the Confidential Operating Manual, as may be limited by local law or the prime landlord, or 
the abandonment or vacating by Franchisee of his/her Franchised Business or for three (3) or more 
consecutive days; or 

(ix.) Dissolution, judicial or otherwise, or liquidation of Franchisee, if Franchisee is a 
corporation, limited liability company or partnership. 

17.4 Cross-Defaults, Non-Exclusive Remedies, Etc. 

(i.) Any default by Franchisee (or any person/company affiliated with Franchisee) under this 
Agreement may be regarded as a default under any other agreement between Franchisor (or any affiliate of 
Franchisor) and Franchisee (or any affiliate of Franchisee). Any default by Franchisee (or any 
person/company affiliated with Franchisee) under any other agreement, including, but not limited to, any 
lease and/or sublease, between Franchisor (or any affiliate of Franchisor) and Franchisee (or any 
person/company affiliated with Franchisee), and any default by Franchisee (or any person/company 
affiliated with Franchisee) under any obligation to Franchisor (or any affiliate of Franchisor) may be 
regarded as a default under this Agreement. Any default by Franchisee (or any person/company affiliated 
with Franchisee) under any lease, sublease, loan agreement, security interest or otherwise, whether with 
Franchisor, any affiliate of Franchisor and/or any third party may be regarded as a default under this 
Agreement and/or any other agreement between Franchisor (or any affiliate of Franchisor) and Franchisee 
(or any affiliate of Franchisee). 
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(ii.) In each of the foregoing cases, Franchisor (and any affiliate of Franchisor) will have all 
remedies allowed at law, including termination of Franchisee’s rights (and/or those of any person/company 
affiliated with Franchisee) and Franchisor’s (and/or Franchisor’s affiliates’) obligations. No right or remedy 
which Franchisor may have (including termination) is exclusive of any other right or remedy provided 
under law or equity and Franchisor may pursue any rights and/or remedies available. 

17.5 Other Remedies 

If any events occur which give Franchisor the right to terminate this Agreement, Franchisor may, 
at its sole election and upon delivery of written notice to Franchisee, take any or all of the following actions 
without terminating this Agreement: 

(i.) temporarily or permanently reduce the size of the Protected Area or temporarily or 
permanently suspend your protected rights within the Protected Area; 

(ii.) temporarily remove information concerning the Franchised Business from the system 
website and/or stop Franchisee or the Franchised Business’ participation in any other programs or benefits 
offered on or through any of Franchisor’s marketing efforts; 

(iii.) suspend Franchisee’s right to participate in one or more programs or benefits that the 
Marketing Fund provides; 

(iv.) suspend any other services that Franchisor or Franchisor’s affiliate provides to Franchisee 
under this Agreement or any other agreement; 

(v.) suspend or terminate any temporary or permanent fee reductions to which Franchisor and 
Franchisee might have agreed (whether as a policy, in an amendment to this Agreement, or otherwise); 

(vi.) suspend Franchisor’s performance of, or compliance with, any of Franchisor’s obligations 
to you under this Agreement or other agreements; 

(vii.) undertake or perform on Franchisee’s behalf any obligation or duty that Franchisee is 
required to, but fail to, perform under this Agreement, in which case Franchisee will reimburse Franchisor 
upon demand for all costs and expenses that Franchisor reasonably incurs in performing any such obligation 
or duty; and/or 

(viii.) enter the Franchised Business’ premises and assume the management of the Franchised 
Business or appoint a third party (who may be our affiliate) to manage the Franchised Business. All funds 
from the operation of the Franchised Business while Franchisor or Franchisor’s appointee assumes its 
management will be kept in a separate account, and all of the expenses of the Franchised Business will be 
charged to that account. Franchisor or Franchisor’s appointee may charge you (in addition to the amounts 
due under this Agreement) a management fee equal to [three percent (3%)] of the Franchised Business’ 
Gross Sales during the period of management, plus any direct out-of-pocket costs and expenses. Franchisor 
or Franchisor’s appointee has a duty to utilize only reasonable efforts and will not be liable to Franchisee 
for any debts, losses, or obligations the Franchised Business incurs, or to any of Franchisee’s creditors for 
any products or services the Franchised Business purchases, while managing it. Franchisee shall not take 
any action or fail to take any action that would interfere with Franchisor or Franchisor’s appointee’s 
exclusive right to manage the Franchised Business and may, in Franchisor’s sole discretion, be prohibited 
from visiting the Franchised Business so as to not interfere with its operations. Franchisor (or Franchisor’s 
appointee’s) management of the Franchised Business will continue for intervals lasting up to 90 days each 
(and, in any event, for no more than a total of one year), and Franchisor will during each interval periodically 
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evaluate whether Franchisee is capable of resuming the Franchised Business’ operation and periodically 
discuss the Franchised Business’ status with Franchisee. 

17.6 Description of Default 

The description of any default in any notice that Franchisor transmits to Franchisee will in no way 
preclude Franchisor from specifying additional or supplemental defaults under this Agreement or any 
related agreements in any action, proceeding, hearing or lawsuit relating to this Agreement or the 
termination of this Agreement. 

17.7 Exercise of Other Remedies 

Franchisor’s exercise of Franchisor’s rights under Section 17.5. (Other Remedies) will not (a) be a 
defense for Franchisee to Franchisor’s enforcement of any other provision of this Agreement or waive or 
release Franchisee from any of Franchisee’s other obligations under this Agreement, (b) constitute an actual 
or constructive termination of this Agreement, or (c) be Franchisor’s sole or exclusive remedy for 
Franchisee’s default. Franchisee must continue to pay all fees and otherwise comply with all of Franchisee’s 
obligations under this Agreement (except as set forth in Section 17.5(h) (Franchisor’s assumption of 
management)) following Franchisor’s exercise of any of these rights. If Franchisor exercises any of 
Franchisor’s rights under Section 17.5, we may thereafter terminate this Agreement without providing 
Franchisee any additional corrective or cure period, unless the default giving rise to Franchisor’s right to 
terminate this Agreement has been cured to Franchisor’s reasonable satisfaction. 

17.8 Continuance of Business Relations 

Any continuance of business relations between Franchisee and Franchisor after the termination or 
expiration of this Agreement will not constitute, and may not be construed as, a reinstatement, renewal, 
extension or continuation of this Agreement unless Franchisee and Franchisor agree in writing to any such 
renewal, extension or continuation. 

17.9 Notice Required by Law 

If any valid, applicable law or regulation of a competent governmental authority with jurisdiction 
over this Agreement or the parties to this Agreement limits Franchisor’s rights to terminate this Agreement 
or requires longer notice or cure periods than those set forth above, then this Agreement will be considered 
modified to conform to the minimum notice, cure periods or restrictions upon termination required by such 
laws and regulations. Franchisor will not, however, be precluded from contesting the validity, enforceability 
or application of the laws or regulations in any action, proceeding, hearing or dispute relating to this 
Agreement or the termination of this Agreement. 

17.10 Franchisor’s Right to Send Notifications of Termination 

Before or on the expiration or termination of this Agreement, Franchisor may give notice that the Franchised 
Business is leaving the System and take any other action related to customers, suppliers and all other 
individuals or entities affected by such expiration or termination or which require or desire an identification 
of our System locations. 
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ARTICLE XVIII 
RIGHTS AND DUTIES OF THE PARTIES UPON EXPIRATION OR TERMINATION 

18.1 Effective Date of Termination 

For the purpose of this Agreement, the “Effective Date of Termination” shall be the date indicated 
in any notice of termination sent pursuant to Section 17.2 or 17.3 of this Agreement or the day after the 
Initial Term, as stated in Section 4.1 of this Agreement. 

18.2 Payment of Amounts Owed 

Upon the Effective Date of Termination, Franchisee shall no longer be an authorized franchisee 
and Franchisee shall pay all sums of money due Franchisor or any of its subsidiary or affiliated corporations 
within fifteen (15) days of the Effective Date of Termination, unless Franchisor gives written notice of an 
extension of this period. 

18.3 Discontinue Use of Marks; Change of Corporate Name 

Upon the Effective Date of Termination, Franchisee shall discontinue the use of all Marks owned 
by or associated with Franchisor and all similar names and marks, or any other designation or mark 
associating Franchisee with the System. If Franchisee is a corporation, limited liability company or 
partnership and, notwithstanding the prohibition of utilizing the Marks or the “Shah’s Halal” name in its 
corporate or partnership name, has used the Marks or the  “Shah’s Halal” name or any names, marks or 
designations that associate Franchisee with Franchisor in its corporate or partnership name, Franchisee 
shall, within fifteen (15) days of the Effective Date of Termination, take all necessary steps to eliminate 
“Shah’s Halal” from its corporate or partnership name, at his/her own cost and expense. 

18.4 Signage 

Upon the Effective Date of Termination, Franchisee shall cease displaying and using all signs, 
stationery, letterheads, forms, manuals, printed matter, advertising, and other material containing the Marks, 
“Shah’s Halal” or any other names, marks, or designations that associate Franchisee with the System. 

18.5 No Further Acts 

After the Effective Date of Termination, Franchisee shall refrain from taking any action indicating 
or implying that he/she is an authorized franchisee. 

18.6 Financial Records and Reports 

(i.) Franchisee shall maintain all financial records and reports required pursuant to this 
Agreement or the Confidential Operations Manual for a period of not less than three (3) years after the 
Effective Date of Termination. Franchisee shall permit Franchisor to make final inspection of Franchisee’s 
financial records, books, tax returns, and other accounting records within three (3) years of the Effective 
Date of Termination. 

(ii.) Within fifteen (15) days of termination, Franchisee shall transfer or make available to 
Franchisor all Franchised Business data (including but not limited to sales, labor, cost of goods, marketing, 
and all other business data) from any server or computer used in connection with the Franchised Business.  
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18.7 Vacate Premises 

Upon the Effective Date of Termination, Franchisee shall, pursuant to the lease or conditional lease 
assignment and upon demand of Franchisor, vacate and surrender the Franchised Business premises in 
accordance with the terms and conditions under the terms of the lease, and/or conditional lease assignment. 

18.8 Websites, Telephone Numbers, and Listings 

Upon the Effective Date of Termination, Franchisee shall cease all use of any websites, telephone 
numbers used by Franchisee while conducting business as a Shah’s Halal franchise and shall promptly 
execute such documents or take such steps necessary to remove Franchisee’s listing as a Shah’s Halal 
franchise from the “Yellow Pages”, all other telephone directories, all other trade or other business 
directories, and any URL or websites. 

18.9 Return of Confidential Operations Manual, Etc. 

Within fifteen (15) days from the Effective Date of Termination of this Agreement, Franchisee 
shall immediately turn over to Franchisor all manuals, including the Confidential Operations Manual, 
records, files, instructions, recipes, correspondence, any and all materials relating to the operation of the 
Franchised Business in Franchisee’s possession, and all copies of such written materials, including 
electronic copies (all of which are acknowledged to be Franchisor’s property), and shall retain no copy or 
record of any of the foregoing, except only Franchisee’s copy of this Agreement and of any correspondence 
between the parties, and any other documents which the Franchisee reasonably needs for compliance with 
any provision of law and the records described in Section 18.6 hereof. 

18.10 Franchisor’s Right to Purchase 

Franchisor shall have the right (but not the duty) to be exercised by notice of intent to do so within 
ten (10) days after the Effective Date of Termination, to purchase any or all of the signs, advertising 
material, supplies, equipment and any items bearing the Marks at Franchisee’s cost or fair market value, 
whichever is less. If the parties cannot agree on fair market value within a reasonable time, an independent 
qualified appraiser shall be designated by each party and their determination shall be binding on both 
parties. If these appraisers are unable to arrive at a fair market value, they will designate a third, approved 
appraiser whose determination shall be binding upon both parties. If Franchisor elects to exercise any option 
to purchase herein provided, it shall have the right to set off all amounts due from Franchisee under this 
Agreement, and the cost of the appraisal, if any, against any payment therefor. 

18.11 Rights are Cumulative 

No right or remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to Franchisor is exclusive of any other right 
or remedy herein or by law or equity provided or permitted, but each shall be cumulative of every other 
right or remedy given hereunder. 

18.12 Survival of Obligations 

Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to relieve Franchisee of any obligations or 
responsibilities or liabilities incurred by Franchisee during the term of this Agreement or any renewals 
hereof, or his/her lease and which obligations, responsibilities or liabilities shall survive the termination, 
expiration or non-renewal of this Agreement or lease. 
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18.13 Liquidated Damages 

(i.) If Franchisor terminates this Agreement with cause, Franchisee must pay Franchisor 
liquidated damages equal to the average value of the Royalty Fees Franchisee paid (per month) to 
Franchisor during the twelve (12) months before the termination multiplied by (i) twenty-four (24), being 
the number of months in two (2) full years or (ii) the number of months remaining during the term of this 
Agreement, whichever is higher. 

(ii.) The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that it would be impracticable to determine 
precisely the damages Franchisor would incur from this Agreement’s termination and the loss of cash flow 
from Royalty Fees due to, among other things, the complications of determining what costs, if any, 
Franchisor might have saved and how much the Royalty Fees would have grown over what would have 
been this Agreement’s remaining term. The parties hereto consider these liquidated damages provision to 
be a reasonable, good faith pre-estimate of those damages. 

(iii.) The liquidated damages provision only covers Franchisor’s damages from the loss of cash 
flow from the Royalty Fees. It does not cover any other damages, including damages to Franchisor’s 
reputation with the public and landlords and damages arising from a violation of any provision of this 
Agreement other than the Royalty Fee section. Franchisee and each of its owners agree that the liquidated 
damages provision does not give Franchisor an adequate remedy at law for any default under, or for the 
enforcement of, any provision of this Agreement other than the Royalty Fee section. 
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ARTICLE XIX 
COMMENCEMENT AND HOURS OF OPERATION 

Franchisee recognizes that continuous and daily operation of the Franchised Business is essential 
to the adequate promotion of the Franchised Business and that any failure to provide such availability affects 
Franchisor both locally and nationally. Franchisee shall be open and conduct business during normal and 
customary business hours in the market where the Franchise Business is located or as prescribed in the 
Confidential Operations Manual, or as required by any lease if different, except where prohibited or 
otherwise regulated by a governmental authority, including any state or local licensing authority, and shall 
otherwise conduct the Franchised Business in accordance with generally accepted business standards.  
These requirements may be changed by Franchisor from time to time, and upon reasonable notice to 
Franchisee and may differ from one franchisee to another based upon the specific characteristics of a 
particular location. 
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ARTICLE XX 
TRANSFERABILITY OF INTEREST 

20.1 No Transfer Without Franchisor’s Consent 

Franchisee understands and acknowledges that the rights and duties created by this Agreement are 
personal to him/her (or to Franchisee’s owners or partners if Franchisee is a corporation, a limited liability 
company or a partnership), therefore neither this Agreement nor the franchise granted hereby shall be 
assignable or transferable by Franchisee, nor may the same be mortgaged, pledged or encumbered by 
him/her without the express prior written consent of Franchisor, and any purported assignment, mortgage, 
pledge or encumbrance thereof, without the prior written consent of Franchisor, shall be null and void. The 
issuance or transfer of any stock (including by way of any public stock offering), membership interest(s) or 
partnership interest(s) in Franchisee, or its merger, a consolidation or dissolution, if the Franchisee is a 
corporation, limited liability company or a partnership, shall be deemed an assignment of this Agreement 
and of the franchise granted herein. 

20.2 Transfer to a Corporate Entity 

If Franchisee is an individual, Franchisor hereby consents, upon thirty (30) days’ prior written 
notice, to the assignment by Franchisee of all of his/her rights and benefits under this Agreement to a 
corporation or limited liability company of which Franchisee owns at least a majority of the voting and 
equity stock or membership interests, provided that: 

(i.) Such entity is newly organized and its activities and corporate purposes are confined 
exclusively to acting as a Shah’s Halal franchise under this Agreement; 

(ii.) Such entity and all stockholders or members thereof execute a Transfer of Franchise to a 
Corporation or Limited Liability Company form, or such other form as shall be provided or approved by 
Franchisor, in which they jointly and severally assume all of the past and future obligations of Franchisee 
under this Agreement, to the same extent as if they had originally executed this Agreement as Franchisee; 

(iii.) Franchisee or his/her designated manager actively manages such entity and continues to 
devote his/her best efforts and full and exclusive time to the day-to-day operation and development of the 
franchise and the business of the Franchised Business and Franchisee shall remain personally liable in all 
respects under this Agreement, including but not limited to payment for the purchase of any of the Products, 
jointly and severally with such entity and any and all other stockholders or members thereof; and 

(iv.) All certificates of such entity bear the following legend, which shall be printed legibly and 
conspicuously on the front of each such certificate: 

“The transfer of this certificate is subject to the terms and conditions 
of a certain Franchise Agreement entered into with Shah’s Halal 
Franchising Inc., dated _________, 20__”. 

20.3 Franchisor’s Right of First Refusal 

Subject to Franchisor’s approval rights in Section 20.1, in the event Franchisee, any stockholder, 
member or partner of a corporate, limited liability company or partnership Franchisee, or any legal heir or 
legatee of any deceased Franchisee, or of any deceased stockholder, member or partner of any corporate, 
limited liability company or partnership Franchisee, desires to effect any sale or assignment of any 
partnership, stock or other interest in this Agreement, or of Franchisee’s rights and benefits under this 
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Agreement, including, without limitation, the franchise granted hereby, and/or the ownership for the 
Franchised Business franchised hereby, Franchisee or such other authorized person or party shall give 
Franchisor written notice of all of the terms of any such bona fide offer within fifteen (15) days after receipt 
of such offer, including providing Franchisor with all other documents and data required prior to the 
Franchisor approving the sale.  Franchisor shall have the right of first refusal, for a period of fifteen (15) 
days after receipt of such notice, to notify Franchisee or such other person or party of Franchisor’s desire 
to exercise such option under the same terms and conditions as the aforesaid bona fide offer.  If Franchisor 
fails to exercise such option in the time period allotted, then Franchisee shall be free to contract with the 
person who made such bona fide offer solely on the same terms and conditions thereof, subject, of course, 
to Franchisee’s compliance with all of the other terms and provisions of this Agreement.  In the event the 
terms of such bona fide offer change, then Franchisee shall be obligated to re-offer the franchise to 
Franchisor for an additional fifteen (15) day period. 

20.4 Conditions to Transfer 

In addition to all of the other conditions stated in Sections 20.2 and 20.3 hereof which pertain to 
the right of Franchisee to assign, transfer or sell the license created hereunder, Franchisee hereby agrees 
that any and all rights of assignment, transfer or sale by Franchisee of this franchise and the rights therein 
are conditioned upon compliance with each of the following: 

(i.) Any such assignment, transfer, or sale shall be subject to the approval by Franchisor of 
such assignee and of the moral and credit background of such assignee and any and all stockholders or 
partners thereof, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld; 

(ii.) The assignee, transferee, or purchaser, and all stockholders, members or partners thereof if 
same is a corporation, limited liability company or partnership, shall at Franchisor’s option either personally 
assume in writing all of the obligations of Franchisee, past disclosed or undisclosed and under this 
Agreement, or execute the then-current Franchise Agreement, in the form used by Franchisor; 

(iii.) Franchisee, such assignee, transferee or purchaser and any and all stockholders, members 
or partners thereof shall execute a general release in favor of Franchisor, its officers, directors, and 
employees of any and all claims and causes of action that they may have against Franchisor or its subsidiary 
or affiliated corporations in any way relating to this Agreement or the performance or non-performance 
thereof by Franchisor; 

(iv.) All prior obligations and debts of Franchisee or corporate assignee of Franchisee owed to 
Franchisor under or in connection with this Agreement shall be paid concurrently with such assignment; 

(v.) Franchisee must not be in default under this Agreement or any renewals thereof or of any 
lease agreement to which Franchisee is a party; 

(vi.) Assignee, transferee or purchaser shall not be in the same business as Franchisor either as 
a franchisor, licensor, independent operator or franchisee of any chain or network which is similar in nature 
or in competition with Franchisor except that the assignee, transferee or purchaser may be an existing 
franchisee of Franchisor; 

(vii.) Prior to the effective date of the assignment, transfer or sale, the assignee, transferee, or 
purchaser must satisfactorily complete the Franchisor’s training program required of all new franchisees; 

(viii.) Assignee, transferee, or purchaser shall, prior to any such assignment, pay to Franchisor a 
non-refundable transfer fee equal to [fifty percent (50%)] of the then-current Initial Franchise Fee to 
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reimburse Franchisor for its legal and accounting fees, credit investigation, training expenses, and other 
charges and expenses in connection with such assignment, transfer or sale; and 

(ix.) Franchisee shall enter into an agreement with the Franchisor agreeing to subordinate such 
assignee’s, transferee’s or purchaser’s obligations to the Franchisor, including, without limitation, any 
Royalty Fees and Advertising Fees, and any obligations of such assignee, transferee or purchaser to make 
installment payments of the purchase price to Franchisee. 

20.5 Franchisor’s Right to Transfer 

(i.) Franchisor shall have the right, without the need for Franchisee’s consent, to assign, 
transfer or sell its rights under this Agreement to any person, partnership, corporation or other legal entity 
provided that the transferee agrees in writing to assume all obligations undertaken by Franchisor herein and 
Franchisee receives a statement from both Franchisor and its transferee to that effect. Upon such assignment 
and assumption, Franchisor shall be under no further obligation hereunder, except for accrued liabilities, if 
any. Franchisee further agrees and affirms that Franchisor may go public; may engage in a private 
placement of some or all of its securities; may merge, acquire other corporations, or be acquired by another 
corporation; and/or may undertake a refinancing, recapitalization, leveraged buyout or other economic or 
financial restructuring. With regard to any of the above sales, assignments and dispositions, Franchisee 
expressly and specifically waives any claims, demands or damages arising from or related to the loss of 
Franchisor’s name, Marks (or any variation thereof) and System and/or the loss of association with or 
identification of Shah’s Halal as Franchisor under this Agreement. Franchisee specifically waives any and 
all other claims, demands or damages arising from or related to the foregoing merger, acquisition and other 
business combination activities including, without limitation, any claim of divided loyalty, breach of 
fiduciary duty, fraud, breach of contract or breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. 

(ii.) Franchisee agrees that Franchisor has the right, now or in the future, to purchase, merge, 
acquire or affiliate with an existing competitive or non-competitive franchise network, chain or any other 
business, regardless of the location of that chain’s or business’ facilities, and to operate, franchise or license 
those businesses and/or facilities as “Shah’s Halal” operating under the Marks or any other marks following 
Franchisor’s purchase, merger, acquisition or affiliation, regardless of the location of these facilities, except 
that if such businesses are located within any Protected Territory granted to Franchisee, those businesses 
will not change their names to “Shah’s Halal.” 

(iii.) If Franchisor assigns its rights in this Agreement, nothing herein shall be deemed to require 
Franchisor to remain in the restaurant business or to offer or sell any products or services to Franchisee. 

20.6 Notice of Offer 

In addition to the requirements of this Article, Franchisee must promptly (“promptly” being herein 
defined as within fifteen (15) days of receipt of an offer to buy) give Franchisor additional written notice 
whenever Franchisee has received a bona fide offer from a third party to buy Franchisee’s business 
franchised hereunder. Franchisee must also give Franchisor written notice simultaneously with any offer to 
sell the Franchised Business made by, for, or on behalf of Franchisee. The purpose of this Subsection is to 
enable Franchisor to comply with any applicable state or federal franchise disclosure law or rules. 
Franchisee agrees to indemnify and hold Franchisor harmless for Franchisee’s failure to comply with this 
Subsection. 
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20.7 No Waiver of Claims 

The Franchisor’s consent to an assignment of any interest subject to the restrictions hereof shall not 
constitute a waiver of any claims it may have against the assignor, nor shall it be deemed a waiver of the 
Franchisor’s right to demand exact compliance with any of the terms or conditions of this Agreement by 
the assignee, transferee or purchaser. 

20.8 Public Offering 

(i.) In the event Franchisee shall, subject to the restrictions and conditions of transfer contained 
in this Article, attempt to raise or secure funds by the sale of securities (including, without limitation, 
common or preferred stock, bonds, debentures or general or limited partnership interests) in Franchisee or 
any affiliates of Franchisee, Franchisee, recognizing that the written information used with respect thereto 
may reflect upon the Franchisor, agrees to submit any such written information to the Franchisor prior to 
its inclusion in any registration statement, prospectus or similar Disclosure Document or memorandum and 
to obtain the written consent of the Franchisor to the method of financing prior to any offering or sale of 
such securities. For each proposed offering, Franchisee shall pay Franchisor a non-refundable fee in an 
amount not less than Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000) and not more than Fifty Thousand Dollars ($50,000) 
to reimburse Franchisor for its reasonable costs and expenses associated with reviewing the proposed 
offering, including, without limitation, legal and accounting fees. Written consent of the Franchisor 
pursuant to this Section 20.8 shall not imply or constitute the approval of the Franchisor with respect to the 
method of financing, the offering literature submitted to the Franchisor or any other aspect of the offering. 
No information respecting the Franchisor or any of its affiliates shall be included in any securities disclosure 
document, unless such information has been furnished by the Franchisor, in writing, pursuant to the written 
request of the Franchisee, in which the Franchisee states the specific purpose for which the information is 
to be used. Should the Franchisor, in its sole discretion, object to any reference to the Franchisor or any of 
its affiliates or any of their businesses in such offering literature or prospectus, such literature or prospectus 
shall not be used unless and until the objections of the Franchisor are withdrawn. The Franchisor assumes 
no responsibility for the offering whatsoever. 

(ii.) The prospectus or other literature utilized in any such offering shall contain the following 
language in bold-face type on the first textual page thereof: 

“NEITHER SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING INC.  NOR ANY OF ITS 
AFFILIATES ASSUMES ANY RESPONSIBILITY WITH RESPECT 
TO THIS OFFERING AND/OR THE ADEQUACY OR ACCURACY 
OF THE INFORMATION PRESENTED HEREIN, INCLUDING ANY 
STATEMENTS MADE WITH RESPECT TO ANY OF THEM. 
NEITHER SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING INC. NOR ANY OF ITS 
AFFILIATES ENDORSES OR MAKES ANY RECOMMENDATION 
WITH RESPECT TO THE INVESTMENT CONTEMPLATED BY 
THIS OFFERING.”  

(iii.) Franchisee and each of its owners agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless the 
Franchisor and its affiliates, and their respective officers, directors, employees and agents, from any and all 
claims, demands, liabilities, and all costs and expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ 
fees) incurred in the defense of such claims, demands or liabilities, arising from the offer or sale of such 
securities, whether asserted by a purchaser of any such security or by a governmental agency. The 
Franchisor shall have the right (but not the obligation) to defend any such claims, demands or liabilities 
and/or to participate in the defense of any action to which the Franchisor or any of its affiliates or any of 
their respective officers, directors, employees or agents is named as a party.  
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ARTICLE XXI 
DEATH OR INCAPACITY OF FRANCHISEE 

In the event of the death or permanent incapacity or disability of Franchisee, the designated and 
approved Operating Manager or the controlling shareholder or member of a Franchisee is unable to operate 
the Franchised Business the Franchisor shall consent to a transfer of said Franchisee’s interest to his/her 
heirs, beneficiaries or family designees, (hereinafter referred to in this Article as “Transferee”) without 
payment of a transfer fee, subject to the following conditions: 

(i.) The Transferee must complete, and be approved through, Franchisor’s standard franchise 
selection process including satisfactorily demonstrating to Franchisor that he meets the financial character 
and managerial criteria as Franchisor shall then be applying in considering applications for new franchisees; 

(ii.) The Transferee shall agree, in writing, to personally assume liability for and to perform all 
the terms and conditions of this Agreement to the same extent as the original Franchisee; and 

(iii.) If the Transferee is not approved, the Franchisee or his/her legal representative shall use 
his/her best efforts to sell the Franchised Business to a party acceptable to Franchisor within twelve (12) 
months from the date of the Franchisee’s death or permanent incapacity or disability and Franchisor shall 
have the option, but not the obligation, to operate and/or manage the Franchised Business for the account 
of Franchisee’s estate until the deceased or incapacitated Franchisee’s interest is transferred to another party 
acceptable to Franchisor. Should Franchisor elect to operate and/or manage the Franchised Business, 
Franchisor shall make a complete accounting and shall forward fifty percent (50%) of the net income for 
the operation of the Franchised Business to Franchisee’s estate. If the conveyance of the Franchised 
Business to a party acceptable to Franchisor has not taken place within the twelve (12) month period, 
Franchisor shall have the option but not the duty to purchase the Franchised Business and its equipment 
therein at the fair market value thereof as determined by independent qualified appraisers selected by the 
Franchisor and the estate. In the event that these appraisers cannot agree on a fair market value, a third 
appraiser shall be selected by the other two appraisers and his/her determination shall be binding on both 
parties. However, if the Franchisor chooses not to repurchase the Franchised Business, then it may elect to 
terminate this Agreement, in which event the franchised business hereunder will automatically revert back 
to the Franchisor, with the Franchisor being obligated to purchase the equipment and trade fixtures at their 
book value, as stated in the last certified financial statement of Franchisee. 
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ARTICLE XXII 
OPERATION IN THE EVENT OF ABSENCE OR DISABILITY 

In order to prevent any interruption of the Franchised Business’ operations which would cause 
harm to the Franchised Business, thereby depreciating the value thereof, Franchisee authorizes Franchisor, 
who may, at its option, in the event that Franchisee is absent for any reason or is incapacitated by reason of 
illness and is unable, in the sole and reasonable judgment of Franchisor, to operate the Franchised Business, 
for so long as Franchisor deems necessary and practical, and without waiver of any other rights or remedies 
Franchisor may have under this Agreement. All monies from the operation of the Franchised Business 
during such period of operation by Franchisor shall be kept in a separate account and the expenses of the 
Franchised Business, including reasonable compensation and expenses for Franchisor’s representative, 
shall be charged to said account. If, as herein provided, Franchisor temporarily operates the Franchised 
Business franchised herein for Franchisee, Franchisee agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Franchisor 
and any representative of Franchisor who may act hereunder, from any and all acts which Franchisor may 
perform, as regards the interests of Franchisee or third parties. 
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ARTICLE XXIII 
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

In the event that Franchisee is in default under any provisions of this Agreement, Franchisor shall 
be entitled to seek a permanent injunction and any preliminary or temporary equitable relief in connection 
therewith in order to restrain the violation of this Agreement by Franchisee or any person acting for him/her 
or in his/her behalf. Franchisee agrees that Franchisor will not be required to prove actual damages or post 
a bond or other security in seeking or obtaining injunctive relief (both preliminary and permanent) and/or 
specific performance with respect to this Agreement. In addition, Franchisor shall be entitled to its 
reasonable attorneys’ fees and courts costs in connection therewith or in connection with any other remedy 
sought by Franchisor, provided Franchisor is the prevailing party. This remedy shall be cumulative to any 
other remedy available to Franchisor. 

Franchisee agrees that it is impossible to measure in money the damages which Franchisor will 
sustain in the event of Franchisee’s breach of this Agreement and, therefore, in the event Franchisor 
institutes injunctive proceedings under Section 8.10, Articles III, XI, XIV, XVIII, XX and this Article, 
Franchisee hereby waives the defense that Franchisor has an adequate remedy at law. 
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ARTICLE XXIV 
RISK OF OPERATIONS 

FRANCHISEE RECOGNIZES THAT THERE ARE MANY UNCERTAINTIES AND RISKS OF 
THIS BUSINESS AND, THEREFORE, FRANCHISEE AGREES AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT, 
EXCEPT AS SPECIFICALLY STATED IN THIS AGREEMENT, NO REPRESENTATIONS, 
WARRANTIES, GUARANTEES OR AGREEMENTS HAVE BEEN MADE TO FRANCHISEE, 
EITHER BY FRANCHISOR OR BY ANYONE ACTING ON ITS BEHALF OR PURPORTING TO 
REPRESENT IT, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THE PROSPECTS FOR SUCCESSFUL 
OPERATIONS, THE LEVEL OF BUSINESS OR PROFITS THAT FRANCHISEE MIGHT 
REASONABLY EXPECT, OR THE DESIRABILITY, PROFITABILITY OR EXPECTED CUSTOMER 
VOLUME OF THE FRANCHISED BUSINESS. FRANCHISEE HEREBY ACKNOWLEDGES THAT 
ALL SUCH FACTORS ARE NECESSARILY DEPENDENT UPON VARIABLES WHICH ARE 
BEYOND FRANCHISOR’S CONTROL, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, THE ABILITY, 
MOTIVATION, AMOUNT AND QUALITY OF EFFORT EXPENDED BY FRANCHISEE. 
FRANCHISEE THEREFORE RELEASES FRANCHISOR, ITS SUBSIDIARY OR AFFILIATED 
CORPORATIONS, OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, AFFILIATES AND EMPLOYEES FROM ANY 
CLAIMS, SUITS AND LIABILITY RELATING TO THE OPERATION OF THE FRANCHISED 
BUSINESS INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THE RESULTS OF ITS OPERATIONS, EXCEPT 
TO THE EXTENT THAT THE SAME IS PREDICATED UPON THE BREACH OF A SPECIFIC 
WRITTEN OBLIGATION OF FRANCHISOR CONTAINED IN THIS AGREEMENT. 

REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY. 

 



 

23-61 
Shah’s Halal FDD (2024) 

313520804v.1 

ARTICLE XXV 
OTHER OBLIGATIONS 

Nothing contained in this Agreement shall inhibit or limit the unrestricted right of Franchisor to 
enter into or engage in any business or in the sale itself, or the licensing to others for the sale, of the 
proprietary food items other than the limitations imposed upon Franchisor by Article I hereof; Franchisee 
shall have no rights, benefits or entitlement with respect thereto. 
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ARTICLE XXVI 
FORCE MAJEURE 

Neither party shall be responsible to the other for non-performance or delay in performance 
occasioned by causes beyond its control, including without limitation, the generality of the foregoing acts 
or omission of other party, acts of civil or military authority, strikes, lockouts, embargoes, pandemics, 
insurrections or acts of God, inability of Franchisor to purchase, deliver and/or manufacture of any of the 
proprietary food items, provided that inability of a party to obtain funds shall be deemed to be a cause 
within the control of such party. If any such delay occurs, any applicable time period shall be automatically 
extended for a period equal to the time lost, provided that the party affected makes reasonable efforts to 
correct the reason for such delay and gives to the other party prompt notice of any such delay. 
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ARTICLE XXVII 
WAIVER OF VIOLATION OR DEFAULT 

Waiver by Franchisor or Franchisee of any violation or default hereunder shall not alter or impair 
either party’s right with respect to any subsequent violation or default, nor shall any delay or omission on 
the part of either party to exercise any right arising from such violation or default alter or impair such party’s 
rights as to the same or any future violation or default. An acceptance by Franchisor of any payment from 
Franchisee after the date on which such payment is due shall not operate as a waiver of Franchisee’s default 
or violation hereunder, nor alter or impair Franchisor’s rights with respect to such violation or default. 
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ARTICLE XXVIII 
NOTICE AND TIME 

All communications required or permitted to be given hereunder shall be in writing and shall be 
deemed to have been duly given when delivered personally, by electronic mail or by fax transmission if 
received before 5:00 p.m. EST, if it is received after 5:00 p.m. EST it shall be deemed duly given on the 
next business day; or one (1) business day after being sent by overnight commercial courier service for next 
business day delivery, or five (5) days after being deposited in the United States mail, for certified or 
registered delivery, return receipt requested, postage prepaid. Notice to Franchisor shall be addressed to: 

Shah’s Halal Franchising Inc. 
6500 New Horizons Blvd. 
Amityville, NY 11701 
Email: franchise@shahshalalfood.com  

Notice to Franchisee shall be addressed to the location of the Restaurant unless another 
address is defined on Contract Schedule: 

Either party may designate another address at any time by written notice to the other. Additionally, 
all payments and reports required to be made by Franchisee under this Agreement shall be given to 
Franchisor at the above address, except that regular reports may be sent by regular mail or electronic mail. 

Time is of the essence in this Agreement with respect to each and every provision in which time is 
a factor. Whenever this Agreement refers to a period of days, the first day to be counted shall be the first 
day following the designated action or event. For any period of five (5) or fewer days, only business days 
(excluding Saturdays, Sundays and national holidays) shall be counted. Unless expressly stated otherwise, 
any period longer than five (5) days shall be measured by calendar days, except that if the last day of any 
such period is not a business day, the period shall automatically be extended to the next business day. 
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ARTICLE XXIX 
APPLICABLE LAW AND VENUE 

29.1 Acceptance by Franchisor; Applicable Law 

This Agreement takes effect upon its acceptance and execution by the Franchisor, and shall be 
governed, interpreted and construed under the laws of the State of New York, which laws shall prevail in 
the event of any conflict of law. 

29.2 Rights are Cumulative 

No right or remedy conferred upon or reserved to the Franchisor or Franchisee by this Agreement 
is intended to be, nor shall be deemed, exclusive of any other right or remedy herein or by law or equity 
provided or permitted, but each shall be cumulative of every other right or remedy. 

29.3 Venue 

Franchisee and Franchisee’s owners must file any suit against Franchisor or Franchisor’s affiliates, 
and Franchisor or Franchisor’s affiliates may file any suit against you, in federal courts in the United States 
District Court of New York or state courts in Nassau County, New York or in federal or state courts with 
jurisdiction over the county in which our principal place of business is located at the time any litigation 
commences. The parties waive all questions of personal jurisdiction and venue for the purpose of carrying 
out this provision. 

29.4 RICO Statute 

The parties hereto agree to waive, now and forever, any and all rights either may have under the 
federal statute known as RICO. 

29.5 Punitive Damages 

Except as explicitly set forth in this section, the parties hereby waive to the fullest extent permitted 
by law, any right to or claim for any punitive or exemplary damages against the other and agree that in the 
event of a dispute between them each shall be limited to the recovery of any actual damages sustained by 
it. Notwithstanding the foregoing, we do not waive recovery of punitive or exemplary damages, or recovery 
of attorneys’ fees, based on or relating to any misuse, disclosure, copying, or unlawful retention by you, or 
by those in association with you or under your control, of any Confidential Information (including but not 
limited to trade secrets). The parties irrevocably waive trial by jury in any action, proceeding or 
counterclaim, whether at law or in equity, brought by either of them. 

29.6 Attorneys’ Fees 

In the event Franchisor is required to employ legal counsel or to incur other expense to enforce any 
obligation of Franchisee hereunder, or to defend against any claim, demand, action or proceeding by reason 
of Franchisee’s failure to perform any obligation imposed upon Franchisee by this Agreement, Franchisor 
shall be entitled to recover from Franchisee the amount of all reasonable attorneys’ fees of such counsel 
and all other expenses incurred in enforcing such obligation or in defending against such claim, demand, 
action, or proceeding, whether incurred prior to or in preparation for or contemplation of the filing of such 
action or thereafter. 
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29.7 Franchisee May Not Withhold Payments 

Franchisee agrees that he will not, on grounds of the alleged non-performance by Franchisor of any 
of its obligations hereunder, withhold payment of any Royalty Fee, advertising contributions or any other 
amounts due to Franchisor. 

29.8 Dispute Resolution. 

Both we and you waive and agree not to include in any pleading or arbitration demand: class action 
claims; demand for trial by jury; claims for lost profits (expressly excluding any fees due to us now or in 
the future under this Agreement); or claims for multiple, or exemplary damages. If any pleading is filed 
that contains any of these claims or a jury demand, or if a court determines that all or any part of the 
waivers are ineffective, then the pleading shall be dismissed with prejudice, leaving the pleading party to 
its arbitration remedy. No claim by either of us can be consolidated with the claims of any other party. If 
such claims and demands cannot be waived by law, then the parties agree that any recovery will not exceed 
two (2) times actual damages. Claims for punitive damages are addressed in Section 29.5.  

Either of us, as plaintiff, may choose to submit a dispute to a court or to arbitration administered 
by the American Arbitration Association (“AAA”) under its Commercial Arbitration Rules (or by another 
nationally established arbitration association acceptable to you and us) and under the Federal Rules of 
Evidence. The plaintiff’s election to arbitrate or to submit the dispute to the court system, including any 
compulsory counterclaims, is binding on the parties except that we shall have the option to submit to a 
court any of the following actions: to collect fees due under this Agreement; for injunctive relief; to protect 
our intellectual property, including Proprietary Marks; and to terminate this Agreement for a default. For 
any arbitration, the arbitrator(s) shall issue a reasoned award, with findings of fact and conclusions of law. 
The arbitration award and the decision on any appeal will be conclusive and binding on the parties. Actions 
to enforce an express obligation to pay money may be brought under the Expedited Procedures of the 
AAA’s Commercial Arbitration Rules. The place of arbitration shall be in the state in which the Restaurant 
is located. The Federal Arbitration Act shall govern, excluding all state arbitration law. Massachusetts’s 
law shall govern all other issues. 

Disputes concerning the validity or scope of this Section, including whether a dispute is subject to 
arbitration, are beyond the authority of the arbitrator(s) and shall be determined by a court of competent 
jurisdiction pursuant to the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §1 et seq., as amended from time to time. 
The provisions of this Section shall continue in full force and effect subsequent to any expiration or 
termination of this Agreement. 

Either of us may appeal the final award of the arbitrator(s) to the appropriate U.S. District Court. 
The Court’s review of the arbitrator’s findings of fact shall be under the clearly erroneous standard, and 
the Court’s review of all legal rulings shall be de novo. If it is determined that this provision for federal 
court review is not enforceable, then either party may appeal the arbitrator’s final award to a panel of three 
arbitrators chosen under AAA procedures, employing the same standards of review stated immediately 
above. 
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ARTICLE XXX 
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS 

Independent Investigation. FRANCHISEE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT HE/SHE HAS 
CONDUCTED AN INDEPENDENT INVESTIGATION OF THE FRANCHISED BUSINESS, AND 
RECOGNIZES THAT THE BUSINESS VENTURE CONTEMPLATED BY THIS AGREEMENT 
INVOLVES BUSINESS RISKS AND THAT ITS SUCCESS WILL BE LARGELY DEPENDENT 
UPON THE ABILITY OF FRANCHISEE OPERATING AS AN INDEPENDENT BUSINESS.  THE 
FRANCHISOR EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS THE MAKING OF, AND FRANCHISEE 
ACKNOWLEDGES THAT HE/SHE HAS NOT RECEIVED, ANY WARRANTY OR GUARANTEE, 
EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, AS TO THE POTENTIAL VOLUME, PROFITS, OR SUCCESS OF THE 
BUSINESS VENTURE CONTEMPLATED BY THIS AGREEMENT. 
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ARTICLE XXXI 
ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

This Agreement, together with all exhibits and addenda attached hereto, constitutes the entire 
agreement between Franchisor and Franchisee with respect to the subject matter hereof, and this Agreement 
supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements between Franchisor and Franchisee in connection 
with the subject matter of this Agreement. Nothing in this or any related agreement, however, is intended 
to disclaim the representations made by Franchisor in the Franchise Disclosure Document that was 
furnished to Franchisee by Franchisor. In the event of any conflict between the terms of this Agreement 
and the terms of the Area Development Agreement, if applicable, or any other Franchise Agreement, the 
terms of this Agreement shall prevail. No officer, employee or other servant or agent of Franchisor or 
Franchisee is authorized to make any representation, warranty or other promise not contained in this 
Agreement. No change, termination or attempted waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall 
be binding upon Franchisor or Franchisee unless in writing and signed by Franchisor and Franchisee. 
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ARTICLE XXXII 
JOINT AND SEVERAL OBLIGATIONS 

If the Franchisee consists of more than one (1) person, their liability under this Agreement shall be 
deemed to be joint and several. 
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ARTICLE XXXIII 
SECURITY INTEREST 

Franchisee hereby grants to Franchisor a security interest in all of Franchisee’s interest in all 
leasehold improvements, furniture, furnishings, fixtures, equipment, inventory and supplies located at or 
used in connection with the Franchised Business, now or hereafter leased or acquired, together with all 
attachments, accessions, accessories, additions, substitutions and replacements therefore, and all cash and 
non-cash proceeds derived from insurance or the disposition of such collateral, to secure payment and 
performance of all debts, liabilities and obligations of any kind, whenever and however incurred, of 
Franchisee to Franchisor. Franchisee authorizes Franchisor to file all Uniform Commercial Code financing 
statements and other documents necessary or desirable to evidence, perfect and continue the priority of such 
security interests under the Uniform Commercial Code. For such purposes, the address of Franchisee and 
Franchisor are stated in Article XXVIII of this Agreement. 
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ARTICLE XXXIV 
COUNTERPART; PARAGRAPH HEADINGS; PRONOUNS 

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, all of which when taken together 
shall constitute one and the same instrument. A signature to this Agreement transmitted electronically via 
DocuSign or a similar electronic process shall have the same authority, effect and enforceability as an 
original signature. The paragraph headings in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only and 
shall not be deemed to alter or affect any provision thereof. Each pronoun used herein shall be deemed to 
include the other number of genders. 
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ARTICLE XXXV 
SEVERABILITY AND CONSTRUCTION 

Each section, part, term and provision of this Agreement shall be considered severable, and if, for 
any reason, any section, part, term or provision herein is determined to be invalid and contrary to, or in 
conflict with, any existing or future law or regulation, such shall not impair the operation of, or affect the 
remaining portions, parts, terms or provisions of this Agreement, and the latter will continue to be given 
full force and effect and bind the parties hereto, and said invalid sections, parts, terms or provisions shall 
be deemed not to be a part of this Agreement, provided, however, that if Franchisor determines that said 
finding of illegality adversely affects the basic consideration of this Agreement Franchisor and Franchisee 
may terminate this Agreement. 

Anything to the contrary herein notwithstanding, nothing in this Agreement is intended, nor shall 
be deemed, to confer upon any person or legal entity, other than Franchisor or Franchisee and such of their 
respective successors and assigns as may be contemplated by this Agreement, any rights or remedies under 
or by reason hereof. 

Franchisee expressly agrees to be bound by any promise or covenant imposing the maximum duty 
permitted by law, which is subsumed within the terms of any provision hereof as though it were separately 
articulated in and made a part of this Agreement, that may result from striking from any of the provisions 
hereof any portion or portions which a court may hold to be unreasonable and unenforceable in a final 
decision to which Franchisor is a party, or from reducing the scope of any promise or covenant to the extent 
required to comply with such a court order. 

All captions herein are intended solely for the convenience of the parties, and none shall be deemed 
to affect the meaning or construction of any provision hereof. 

This Agreement shall be executed in duplicate and each copy so executed shall be deemed an 
original. 
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ARTICLE XXXVI 
MISCELLANEOUS 

36.1 Compliance With Anti-Terrorism Laws 

Franchisee and its owners agree to comply, and to assist Franchisor to the fullest extent possible in 
Franchisor’s efforts to comply, with Anti-Terrorism Laws (defined below). In connection with that 
compliance, Franchisee and its owners certify, represent, and warrant that none of its property or interests 
is subject to being blocked under, and that Franchisee and its owners otherwise are not in violation of, any 
of the Anti-Terrorism Laws. “Anti-Terrorism Laws” mean Executive Order 13224 issued by the President 
of the United States, the USA PATRIOT Act, and all other present and future federal, state, and local laws, 
ordinances, regulations, policies, lists, and other requirements of any governmental authority addressing or 
in any way relating to terrorist acts and acts of war. Any violation of the Anti-Terrorism Laws by Franchisee 
or its owners, or any blocking of Franchisee’s or its owners’ assets under the Anti-Terrorism Laws, shall 
constitute good cause for immediate termination of this Agreement, as provided in Subsection 17.3(a)(iv) 
above. 

36.2 Electronic Signatures 

This Franchise Agreement and any other documents to be delivered in connection herewith and 
therewith may be electronically signed, that any digital or electronic signatures (including pdf, facsimile or 
electronically imaged signatures provided by DocuSign or any other digital signature provider) appearing 
on this Franchise Agreement or such other documents are the same as handwritten signatures for the 
purposes of validity, enforceability and admissibility, and that delivery of any such electronic signature to, 
or a signed copy of, this Franchise Agreement and such other documents may be made by facsimile, email 
or other electronic transmission. 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement under seal on the 
date first written above. 

 
 
 
 
 

SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING INC. 
 
 
By:  
Name:  
Title:  
 
 

 
 
 
 

FRANCHISEE 
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SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING INC. 

FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

EXHIBIT “A” 

The approved Franchisee’s Location shall be as follows: 

______________________________________________________________________________ 
(If no location is indicated here, the parties shall sign a revised Exhibit A when the location has 
been approved by the Franchisor in accordance with the Franchise Agreement.) 

The Franchisee’s Protected Territory shall be a _____-mile are defined by the shortest driving 
distance using Google Maps.  Except for Non-Traditional Sites, as defined in Section 1.4, 
Franchisor agrees not to establish another Franchised Business within Franchisee’s Protected 
Territory. 

________________________________ 

 SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING INC. 
 
 
By:  
Name:  
 
 

 FRANCHISEE 
 
 
By:  
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SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING, INC. 

FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

EXHIBIT “B”  
 

GUARANTY  

In consideration of the execution by Franchisor of the Franchise Agreement (the “Franchise 
Agreement”) dated the _____day of _____, 20__, between Shah’s Halal Franchising Inc. (“Franchisor”) 
and  (“Franchisee”) and for other good and valuable consideration, each of the undersigned, for 
themselves, their heirs, successors, and assigns, do jointly, individually and severally hereby absolutely and 
unconditionally guarantee the payment of all amounts and the performance of all of the covenants, terms, 
conditions, agreements and undertakings contained and set forth in said Franchise Agreement and in any 
other agreement(s) by and between Franchisee and Franchisor. 

If more than one person has executed this Guaranty, the term “the undersigned”, as used herein, 
shall refer to each such person, and the liability of each of the undersigned hereunder shall be joint and 
several and primary as sureties. 

The undersigned, individually and jointly, hereby agree to be personally bound by each and every 
covenant, term, condition, agreement and undertaking contained and set forth in said Franchise Agreement 
and any other agreement(s) by and between Franchisee and Franchisor, including but not limited to those 
in Articles XI, XIV, XVIII and XX and agree that this Guaranty shall be construed as though the 
undersigned and each of them executed agreement(s) containing the identical terms and conditions of the 
Franchise Agreement and any other agreement(s) by and between Franchisee and Franchisor. 

The undersigned hereby agree, furthermore, that without the consent of or notice to any of the 
undersigned and without affecting any of the obligations of the undersigned hereunder: (a) any term, 
covenant or condition of the Franchise Agreement may be amended, compromised, released or otherwise 
altered by Franchisor and Franchisee, and the undersigned do guarantee and promise to perform all the 
obligations of Franchisee under the Agreement as so amended, compromised, released or altered; (b) any 
guarantor of or party to the Franchise Agreement may be released, substituted or added; (c) any right or 
remedy under the Agreement, this Guaranty or any other instrument or agreement between Franchisor and 
Franchisee may be exercised, not exercised, impaired, modified, limited, destroyed or suspended; and, (d) 
Franchisor or any other person may deal in any manner with Franchisee, any of the undersigned, any party 
to the Franchise Agreement or any other person. 

Should Franchisee be in breach or default under the Franchise Agreement or any other agreement(s) 
by and between Franchisee and Franchisor, Franchisor may proceed directly against any or each of the 
undersigned without first proceeding against Franchisee and without proceeding against or naming in such 
suit any other Franchisee, signatory to the Franchise Agreement or any others of the undersigned. The 
undersigned agree to bear any and all Franchisor’s costs of collection hereunder, including all court costs 
and expenses, attorneys’ fees, costs of or resulting from delays; travel, food, lodging and other living 
expenses necessitated by the need or desire to appear before courts or tribunals (including arbitration 
tribunals), and all other costs of collection. 

Notice to or demand upon Franchisee or any of the undersigned shall be deemed notice to or 
demand upon Franchisee and all of the undersigned, and no notice or demand need be made to or upon any 
or all of the undersigned. The cessation of or release from liability of Franchisee or any of the undersigned 
shall not relieve any other Guarantors from liability hereunder, under the Franchise Agreement, or under 
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any other agreement(s) between Franchisor and Franchisee, except to the extent that the breach or default 
has been remedied or moneys owed have been paid. 

Any waiver, extension of time or other indulgence granted by Franchisor or its agents, successors 
or assigns, with respect to the Franchise Agreement or any other agreement(s) by and between Franchisee 
and Franchisor, shall in no way modify or amend this Guaranty, which shall be continuing, absolute, 
unconditional and irrevocable. 

It is understood and agreed by the undersigned that the provisions, covenants and conditions of this 
Guaranty shall inure to the benefit of the Franchisor, its successors and assigns. This Guaranty may be 
assigned by Franchisor voluntarily or by operation of law without reducing or modifying the liability of the 
undersigned hereunder. 

This Guaranty is to be exclusively construed in accordance with and/or governed by the law of the 
State of New York without recourse to New York (or any other) choice of law or conflicts of law principles. 
If, however, any provision of this Guaranty would not be enforceable under the laws of New York, and if 
the business franchised under the Franchise Agreement is located outside of New York and the provision 
would be enforceable under the laws of the state in which the franchised business is located, then the 
provision (and only that provision) will be interpreted and construed under the laws of that state. Nothing 
in this Guaranty is intended to invoke the application of any franchise, business opportunity, antitrust, 
“implied covenant”, unfair competition, fiduciary or any other doctrine of law of the State of New York or 
any other state, which would not otherwise apply. 

Any litigation arising out of or related to this Guaranty will be instituted exclusively in a court of 
competent jurisdiction in Nassau County, New York. The undersigned agree that any dispute as to the venue 
for this litigation will be submitted to and resolved exclusively by a court of competent jurisdiction situated 
in Nassau County, New York. The undersigned hereby waive and covenant never to assert or claim that 
said venue is for any reason improper, inconvenient, prejudicial or otherwise inappropriate (including, 
without limitation, any claim under the judicial doctrine of forum non conveniens). 

Should any one or more provisions of this Guaranty be determined to be illegal or unenforceable, 
all other provisions shall nevertheless be effective. 

[Signature page follows] 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned has executed this Guaranty effective as of the 
date of the Franchise Agreement. 

    
Signature 

  
Printed Name 

  

  
Address 

 

    
Signature 

  
Printed Name 

  

  
Address 

 

    
Signature 

  
Printed Name 

  

  
Address 
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SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING INC. 
 

FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 
 

EXHIBIT “C” 
 

Conditional Lease Assignment Provisions 

The clauses referred to in Article 2.1 of the attached Franchise Agreement are as follows: 

(i) The premises being leased hereunder shall be used solely for the operation of an 
“Shah’s Halal” restaurant, during the time that the Franchise Agreement is still in effect. 

(ii) Lessor has examined Franchisor’s standard design concepts and specifications and 
consents to Lessee’s use of same and of the Marks and such signage as the Franchisor may prescribe 
for the Franchised Business. 

(iii) Lessee may not assign all or any part of its occupancy rights, or extend the term or 
renew the lease, without Franchisor’s prior written consent. 

(iv) Lessor shall furnish Franchisor a copy of the executed lease, including all 
attachments thereto and related agreements, if any, within five (5) days after its execution, and no 
change or amendment to such lease affecting the above terms and conditions shall be effective 
without Franchisor’s prior written approval. 

(v) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Lease, it is expressly 
understood and agreed that if the Franchise Agreement dated the ______ day of ______________, 
20__ between the Lessee and the Franchisor expires or is terminated for any reason whatsoever, 
the Lessee’s rights hereunder shall, at the option of the Franchisor, be transferred and assigned to 
it. Said option may be exercised by the Franchisor giving the Lessor notice in writing within thirty 
(30) days following the expiration or termination of the said Franchise Agreement, such notice to 
specify, inter alia, the date of such expiration or termination. The Lessee acknowledges and agrees 
that the Lessor may rely upon such notice and shall not be required to inquire into the due execution 
thereof or the accuracy of the statements set forth therein. It is further agreed that such notice shall, 
without further act or formality, operate as an effective assignment of the Lessee’s right hereunder 
to the Franchisor and the assumption by the Franchisor of the covenants herein required to be 
observed or performed by the Lessee. The Franchisor shall thereafter have the right to assign or 
sublet the Premises to such person as it may designate, provided that in such event that this clause 
be contained therein. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Franchisor shall, forthwith upon exercise 
of such option, execute such documents evidencing its agreement to thereafter keep and perform 
or cause to be kept or performed all of the obligations of the Lessee arising under this Lease from 
and after the time of the exercise of such option. 

(vi) In the event Franchisor elects not to exercise the above option, Lessor shall permit 
Franchisor to enter the premises in order to make any modification necessary to protect the Marks. 

(vii) The Lessor shall give written notice to the Franchisor (concurrently with the giving 
of such notice to the Lessee) of any default by the Lessee under the Lease and the Franchisor shall 
have, after the expiration of the period during which the Lessee may cure such default, an additional 
fifteen (15) days to cure, at its sole option, any such default, providing that if such default arises by 
reason of the bankruptcy or insolvency of the Lessee or the appointment of a receiver over the 
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Lessee’s assets or part thereof, the Franchisor shall have the right to assume this Lease upon 
payment of any arrears of rental to such date. In the event of any such assumption, the Lessee shall 
cease to have any further rights hereunder. 

(viii) The Lessor acknowledges that the said Franchise Agreement contains a right on 
the part of the Franchisor, in the event of expiration or termination of the said Franchise Agreement 
for any reason whatsoever, to enter the premises hereby demised and to operate the Franchised 
Business for the account of the Lessee for a period as set forth in the said Franchise Agreement. 
The Lessor further acknowledges that such entry by the Franchisor shall not constitute an 
assignment of this Lease, nor a subletting of the premises hereby demised. 

(ix) The Lessor acknowledges that the Franchisor is executing this Lease solely for the 
purpose of acknowledging the provisions contained in the foregoing clauses (i) to (iv) and agrees 
that such execution by the Franchisor shall in no way be construed so as to obligate the Franchisor 
for the performance of any of the terms, conditions, obligations and covenants contained herein, 
except as specifically set forth in clause (i). 

The foregoing provisions shall be incorporated into Franchisee’s lease agreement. 
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SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING INC. 
 

FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

EXHIBIT “D” 
 

SITE LOCATION ADDENDUM 

Site Location 

Shah’s Halal Franchising Inc. (hereinafter “Franchisor”) and ______________________ 
(hereinafter “Franchisee) have this date __________________, 20___, entered into a certain Franchise 
Agreement, (hereinafter “Franchise Agreement”) and desire to supplement its terms as set out below. The 
parties hereto therefore agree as follows: 

A. Site Selection 

Within ninety (90) days after execution of this Addendum, Franchisee shall acquire, by lease or 
purchase, at Franchisee’s expense and subject to Franchisor’s approval as hereinafter provided, a location 
for the franchised business. Such location shall be within the following geographic area (which is described 
solely for the purpose of selecting a site for the franchised business): 

  
  
  

B. Guidelines and Evaluation 

In connection with Franchisee’s selection of a site for the franchised business, Franchisor shall 
furnish to Franchisee the following: 

1. Site selection counseling and assistance as Franchisor may deem advisable for a 
site. 

2. Such on-site evaluation as Franchisor may deem advisable in response to 
Franchisee’s request for site approval; provided, however, that Franchisor shall not provide on-site 
evaluation for any proposed site prior to the receipt of a market feasibility study for such site 
prepared by Franchisee pursuant to Paragraph C. hereof. If on-site evaluation is deemed necessary 
and appropriate by Franchisor (on its own initiative or at Franchisee’s request), Franchisee shall 
reimburse Franchisor for all reasonable expenses incurred by Franchisor in connection with such 
on-site evaluation, including, without limitation, the cost of travel, lodging and meals, following 
Franchisee’s approval in advance of same. 

C. Site Approval 

Prior to the acquisition by lease or purchase of any proposed location for the franchised business, 
Franchisee shall submit to Franchisor, in the form specified by Franchisor, a description of the proposed 
location, a market feasibility study for the proposed location, and such other information or materials as 
Franchisor may reasonably require, together with a letter of intent or other evidence satisfactory to 
Franchisor which confirms Franchisee’s favorable prospects for obtaining the proposed location. 
Recognizing that time is of the essence, Franchisee agrees that it must submit such information and material 
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for the proposed location to Franchisor for its approval no later than ninety (90) days after the execution of 
the Franchise Agreement. Franchisor shall have fifteen (15) days after receipt of such information and 
materials from Franchisee to approve or disapprove, at its sole discretion, the proposed location as the 
location for the franchised business. The proposed location shall not be deemed approved unless written 
notice of approval is given to Franchisee by Franchisor. 

D. Lease Provisions 

The lease for the premises of the franchised business shall be submitted to Franchisor for its written 
approval prior to execution by Franchisee and the Lessor, and shall contain the following terms and 
conditions: 

1. That the premises shall be used only for the operation of the franchised business. 

2. That the landlord has examined Franchisor’s standard design concepts and 
consents to Franchisee’s use of such Proprietary Marks and signage as Franchisor may prescribe 
for the franchised business. 

3. That the landlord agrees to furnish Franchisor with copies of any and all letters and 
notices sent to Franchisee pertaining to the lease and premises, at the same time that such letters 
and notices are sent to Franchisee. 

4. That Franchisee may not assign all or any part of its occupancy rights, or extend 
the term or renew the lease, without Franchisor’s prior written consent. 

5. That Franchisor shall have the right to enter the premises to make any modification 
necessary to protect Franchisor’s Proprietary Marks or to cure any default under the lease or under 
this Agreement. 

6. That Franchisor shall have the option to assume Franchisee’s occupancy rights, 
and the right to assign for all or any part of the remaining term, upon Franchisee’s default or 
termination under such lease or under this Agreement. 

7. That Franchisor shall be furnished a copy of the executed lease five (5) days after 
its execution, and no change or amendment to such lease affecting the above terms and conditions 
shall be effective without Franchisor’s prior written approval. 

E. Relocation 

Upon Franchisor’s approval of a location for the franchised business, or upon execution of this 
Agreement, whichever occurs earlier, the street address of the approved location of the franchised business 
shall be recorded and shall be attached as Exhibit “A” to this Agreement. Franchisee shall not relocate the 
franchised business without the express prior written consent of Franchisor. 

F. Construction 

Franchisee shall commence construction or leasehold improvements (hereinafter “Construction”) 
of the franchise business within fifteen (15) days after Franchisee executes this addendum, executes a lease, 
or obtains the right to possession of the premises, whichever occurs latest. Franchisee shall provide written 
notice to Franchisor of the date Construction of the franchised business commences within five (5) days 
after commencement. Franchisee shall maintain continuous Construction of the franchised business 
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premises and shall complete Construction, including all exterior and interior carpentry, electrical, painting 
and finishing work, and installation of all furnishings, fixtures, equipment, and signs, in accordance with 
the approved plans and specifications at Franchisee’s expense, within one hundred and twenty (120) days 
after commencement (exclusive of the time lost by reason of strikes, lockouts, fire and other casualties and 
acts of God). Each week during the Construction period, Franchisee and Franchisee’s architect or general 
contractor shall certify in writing to Franchisor that all work is proceeding substantially on schedule, and 
in accordance with the approved plans and specifications and all applicable laws, regulations ordinances 
and restrictive covenants. Franchisee further agrees that Franchisor and its agents shall have the right to 
inspect the Construction at all reasonable times. 

G. Permits and Approvals 

Before or upon completion of Construction, Franchisee shall obtain, and shall furnish to Franchisor 
copies of, all necessary permits, approvals, and certificates required for occupancy of the premises and 
operation of the franchised business. Franchisee shall obtain Franchisor’s approval for opening and shall 
open the franchised business within six (6) months after the date of commencement of Construction. 

H. Time of Essence 

Franchisee and Franchisor agree that time is of the essence in Franchisee’s performance of its 
obligations hereunder. Any failure by Franchisee to meet the time limits imposed under this Addendum 
shall constitute a default under the Franchise Agreement, for which Franchisor may terminate this 
Agreement upon notice to Franchisee. 

I. Effect of Franchise Agreement 

This Addendum shall be considered an integral part of the Franchise Agreement between the parties 
hereto, and the terms of this Addendum shall be controlling with respect to the subject matter hereof. Except 
as modified or supplemented by this Addendum, the terms of the Franchise Agreement are hereby ratified 
and confirmed. 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have duly executed, sealed and delivered this 
Addendum in triplicate on the day and year first above written. 

 SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING INC. 
 
 
By:  
Name:  
 
 

 FRANCHISEE 
 
 
By:  
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SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING, INC. 

FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

EXHIBIT “E” 
 

INTERNET WEB SITES AND LISTINGS AGREEMENT and  
TELEPHONE LISTING AGREEMENT 
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INTERNET WEB SITES AND LISTINGS AGREEMENT 

THIS INTERNET WEB SITES AND LISTINGS AGREEMENT (the “Internet Listing 
Agreement”) is made and entered into as of______ (the “Effective Date”) between SHAH’S HALAL 
FRANCHISING INC., a New York corporation (the “Franchisor”), and , _______________ (the 
“Franchisee”). 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, Franchisee desires to enter into a Franchise Agreement with Franchisor for a “Shah’s 
Halal” Restaurant (the “Franchise Agreement”); and 

WHEREAS, Franchisor would not enter into the Franchise Agreement without Franchisee’s 
agreement to enter into, comply with, and be bound by all the terms and provisions of this Internet Listing 
Agreement; 

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual promises and 
covenants contained herein, and in further consideration of the Franchise Agreement and the mutual 
promises and covenants contained therein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and 
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

1. DEFINITIONS 

All terms used but not otherwise defined in this Internet Listing Agreement shall have the meanings 
set forth in the Franchise Agreement. “Termination” of the Franchise Agreement shall include, but shall 
not be limited to, the voluntary termination, involuntary termination, or natural expiration thereof. 

2. TRANSFER; APPOINTMENT 

2.1 Interest in Internet Web Sites and Listings. Franchisee may acquire (whether in accordance 
with or in violation of the Franchise Agreement) during the term of the Franchise Agreement, certain right, 
title, and interest in and to certain domain names, hypertext markup language, uniform resource locator 
addresses, and access to corresponding Internet web sites, and the right to hyperlink to certain web sites 
and listings on various Internet search engines (collectively, the “Internet Web Sites and Listings”) related 
to the Restaurant or the Proprietary Marks (all of which right, title, and interest is referred to herein as 
“Franchisee’s Interest”). 

2.2 Transfer. On Termination of the Franchise Agreement, or on periodic request of 
Franchisor, Franchisee will immediately direct all Internet Service Providers, domain name registries, 
Internet search engines, and other listing agencies (collectively, the “Internet Companies”) with which 
Franchisee has Internet Web Sites and Listings: (i) to transfer all of Franchisee’s Interest in such Internet 
Web Sites and Listings to Franchisor; and (ii) to execute such documents and take such actions as may be 
necessary to effectuate such transfer. In the event Franchisor does not desire to accept any or all such 
Internet Web Sites and Listings, Franchisee will immediately direct the Internet Companies to terminate 
such Internet Web Sites and Listings or will take such other actions with respect to the Internet Web Sites 
and Listings as Franchisor directs. 

2.3 Appointment; Power of Attorney. Franchisee hereby constitutes and appoints Franchisor 
and any officer or agent of Franchisor, for Franchisor’s benefit under the Franchise Agreement and this 
Internet Listing Agreement or otherwise, with full power of substitution, as Franchisee’s true and lawful 
attorney-in-fact with full power and authority in Franchisee’s place and stead, and in Franchisee’s name or 
the name of any affiliated person or affiliated company of Franchisee, to take any and all appropriate action 
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and to execute and deliver any and all documents that may be necessary or desirable to accomplish the 
purposes of this Internet Listing Agreement. Franchisee further agrees that this appointment constitutes a 
power coupled with an interest and is irrevocable until Franchisee has satisfied all of its obligations under 
the Franchise Agreement and any and all other agreements to which Franchisee and any of its affiliates on 
the one hand, and Franchisor and any of its affiliates on the other, are parties, including without limitation 
this Internet Listing Agreement. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Franchisee hereby grants 
to Franchisor the power and right to do the following: 

2.3.1 Direct the Internet Companies to transfer all Franchisee’s Interest in and to the 
Internet Web Sites and Listings to Franchisor; 

2.3.2 Direct the Internet Companies to terminate any or all of the Internet Web Sites and 
Listings; and 

2.3.3 Execute the Internet Companies’ standard assignment forms or other documents in 
order to affect such transfer or termination of Franchisee’s Interest. 

2.4 Certification of Termination. Franchisee hereby directs the Internet Companies to accept, 
as conclusive proof of Termination of the Franchise Agreement, Franchisor’s written statement, signed by 
an officer or agent of Franchisor, that the Franchise Agreement has terminated. 

2.5 Cessation of Obligations. After the Internet Companies have duly transferred all 
Franchisee’s Interest in such Internet Web Sites and Listings to Franchisor, as between Franchisee and 
Franchisor, Franchisee will have no further interest in, or obligations under, such Internet Web Sites and 
Listings. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Franchisee will remain liable to each and all of the Internet 
Companies for the sums Franchisee is obligated to pay such Internet Companies for obligations Franchisee 
incurred before the date Franchisor duly accepted the transfer of such Interest, or for any other obligations 
not subject to the Franchise Agreement or this Internet Listing Agreement. 

3. MISCELLANEOUS 

3.1 Release. Franchisee hereby releases, remises, acquits, and forever discharges each and all 
of the Internet Companies and each and all of their parent corporations, subsidiaries, affiliates, directors, 
officers, stockholders, employees, and agents, and the successors and assigns of any of them, from any and 
all rights, demands, claims, damage, losses, costs, expenses, actions, and causes of action whatsoever, 
whether in tort or in contract, at law or in equity, known or unknown, contingent or fixed, suspected or 
unsuspected, arising out of, asserted in, assertable in, or in any way related to this Internet Listing 
Agreement. 

3.2 Indemnification. Franchisee is solely responsible for all costs and expenses related to its 
performance, its nonperformance, and Franchisor’s enforcement of this Agreement, which costs and 
expenses Franchisee will pay Franchisor in full, without defense or setoff, on demand. Franchisee agrees 
that it will indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Franchisor and its affiliates, and its and their directors, 
officers, shareholders, partners, members, employees, agents, and attorneys, and the successors and assigns 
of any and all of them, from and against, and will reimburse Franchisor and any and all of them for, any 
and all loss, losses, damage, damages, claims, debts, demands, or obligations that are related to or are based 
on this Internet Listing Agreement. 

3.3 No Duty. The powers conferred on Franchisor hereunder are solely to protect Franchisor’s 
interests and shall not impose any duty on Franchisor to exercise any such powers.  Franchisee expressly 
agrees that in no event shall Franchisor be obligated to accept the transfer of any or all of Franchisee’s 
Interest in any or all such Internet Web Sites and Listings. 
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3.4 Further Assurances. Franchisee agrees that at any time after the date of this Internet Listing 
Agreement, Franchisee will perform such acts and execute and deliver such documents as may be necessary 
to assist in or accomplish the purposes of this Internet Listing Agreement. 

3.5 Successors, Assigns, and Affiliates. All Franchisor’s rights and powers, and all 
Franchisee’s obligations, under this Internet Listing Agreement shall be binding on Franchisee’s successors, 
assigns, and affiliated persons or entities as if they had duly executed this Internet Listing Agreement. 

3.6 Effect on Other Agreements. Except as otherwise provided in this Internet Listing 
Agreement, all provisions of the Franchise Agreement and attachments, exhibits and schedules thereto shall 
remain in effect as set forth therein. 

3.7 Survival. This Internet Listing Agreement shall survive the Termination of the Franchise 
Agreement. 

3.8 Joint and Several Obligations. All Franchisee’s obligations under this Internet Listing 
Agreement shall be joint and several. 

3.9 Governing Law. This Internet Listing Agreement shall be governed by and construed under 
the laws of the State of New York, without regard to the application of New York conflict of law rules. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed or caused their duly authorized 
representatives to execute this Agreement as of the Effective Date. 

SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING, INC. FRANCHISEE 

By:  By:  

Name:  Name:  
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TELEPHONE LISTING AGREEMENT 

THIS TELEPHONE LISTING AGREEMENT (the “Telephone Listing Agreement”) is made 
and entered into as of (the “Effective Date”), by and between SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING INC., 
a New York corporation (the “Franchisor”), and _____, a limited liability company/corporation/individual 
(the “Franchisee”). 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, Franchisee desires to enter into a Franchise Agreement with Franchisor for the 
operation of a “Shah’s Halal” Restaurant (the “Franchise Agreement”); and 

WHEREAS, Franchisor would not enter into the Franchise Agreement without Franchisee’s 
agreement to enter into, comply with, and be bound by all the terms and provisions of this Telephone Listing 
Agreement; 

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual promises and 
covenants contained herein, and in further consideration of the Franchise Agreement and the mutual 
promises and covenants contained therein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and 
sufficiency of all of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

1. DEFINITIONS 

All terms used but not otherwise defined in this Telephone Listing Agreement shall have the 
meanings set forth in the Franchise Agreement. “Termination” of the Franchise Agreement shall include, 
but shall not be limited to, the voluntary termination, involuntary termination, or natural expiration thereof. 

2. TRANSFER; APPOINTMENT 

2.1 Interest in Telephone Numbers and Listings. Franchisee has, or will acquire during the 
term of the Franchise Agreement, certain right, title, and interest in and to those certain telephone numbers 
and regular, classified, yellow-page, and other telephone directory listings (collectively, the “Telephone 
Numbers and Listings”) related to the Restaurant or the Proprietary Marks (all of which right, title, and 
interest is referred to herein as “Franchisee’s Interest”). 

2.2 Transfer. On Termination of the Franchise Agreement, if Franchisor directs Franchisee to 
do so, Franchisee will immediately direct all telephone companies, telephone directory publishers, and 
telephone directory listing agencies (collectively, the “Telephone Companies”) with which Franchisee has 
Telephone Numbers and Listings: (i) to transfer all Franchisee’s Interest in such Telephone Numbers and 
Listings to Franchisor; and (ii) to execute such documents and take such actions as may be necessary to 
effectuate such transfer. In the event Franchisor does not desire to accept any or all such Telephone 
Numbers and Listings, Franchisee will immediately direct the Telephone Companies to terminate such 
Telephone Numbers and Listings or will take such other actions with respect to the Telephone Numbers 
and Listings as Franchisor directs. 

2.3 Appointment; Power of Attorney. Franchisee hereby constitutes and appoints Franchisor 
and any officer or agent of Franchisor, for Franchisor’s benefit under the Franchise Agreement and this 
Telephone Listing Agreement or otherwise, with full power of substitution, as Franchisee’s true and lawful 
attorney-in-fact with full power and authority in Franchisee’s place and stead, and in Franchisee’s name or 
the name of any affiliated person or affiliated company of Franchisee, on Termination of the Franchise 
Agreement, to take any and all appropriate action and to execute and deliver any and all documents that 



 

6 
Shah’s Halal Franchise Agreement (2024) 

313520804v.1 

may be necessary or desirable to accomplish the purposes of this Telephone Listing Agreement. Franchisee 
further agrees that this appointment constitutes a power coupled with an interest and is irrevocable until 
Franchisee has satisfied all of its obligations under the Franchise Agreement and any and all other 
agreements to which Franchisee and any of its affiliates on the one hand, and Franchisor and any of its 
affiliates on the other, are parties, including, without limitation, this Telephone Listing Agreement. Without 
limiting the generality of the foregoing, Franchisee hereby grants to Franchisor the power and right to do 
the following: 

2.3.1 Direct the Telephone Companies to transfer all Franchisee’s Interest in and to the 
Telephone Numbers and Listings to Franchisor; 

2.3.2 Direct the Telephone Companies to terminate any or all of the Telephone Numbers 
and Listings; and 

2.3.3 Execute the Telephone Companies’ standard assignment forms or other documents 
in order to affect such transfer or termination of Franchisee’s Interest. 

2.4 Certification of Termination. Franchisee hereby directs the Telephone Companies that they 
shall accept, as conclusive proof of Termination of the Franchise Agreement, Franchisor’s written 
statement, signed by an officer or agent of Franchisor that the Franchise Agreement has terminated. 

2.5 Cessation of Obligations. After the Telephone Companies have duly transferred all 
Franchisee’s Interest in such Telephone Numbers and Listings to Franchisor, as between Franchisee and 
Franchisor, Franchisee will have no further Interest in, or obligations under, such Telephone Numbers and 
Listings. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Franchisee will remain liable to each and all of the Telephone 
Companies for the sums Franchisee is obligated to pay such Telephone Companies for obligations 
Franchisee incurred before the date Franchisor duly accepted the transfer of such Interest, or for any other 
obligations not subject to the Franchise Agreement or this Telephone Listing Agreement. 

3. MISCELLANEOUS 

3.1 Release. Franchisee hereby releases, remises, acquits, and forever discharges each and all 
of the Telephone Companies and each and all of their parent corporations, subsidiaries, affiliates, directors, 
officers, stockholders, employees, and agents, and the successors and assigns of any of them, from any and 
all rights, demands, claims, damage, losses, costs, expenses, actions, and causes of action whatsoever, 
whether in tort or in contract, at law or in equity, known or unknown, contingent or fixed, suspected or 
unsuspected, arising out of, asserted in, assertable in, or in any way related to this Telephone Listing 
Agreement. 

3.2 Indemnification. Franchisee is solely responsible for all costs and expenses related to 
Franchisee’s performance, Franchisee’s nonperformance, and Franchisor’s enforcement of this Agreement, 
which costs and expenses Franchisee will pay Franchisor in full, without defense or setoff, on demand. 
Franchisee agrees that it will indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Franchisor and its affiliates, and the 
directors, officers, shareholders, partners, members, employees, agents, and attorneys of Franchisor and its 
affiliates, and the successors and assigns of any and all of them, from and against, and will reimburse 
Franchisor and any and all of them for, any and all loss, losses, damage, damages, claims, debts, demands, 
or obligations that are related to or are based on this Telephone Listing Agreement. 

3.3 No Duty. The powers conferred on Franchisor under this Telephone Listing Agreement are 
solely to protect Franchisor’s interests and shall not impose any duty on Franchisor to exercise any such 
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powers. Franchisee expressly agrees that in no event shall Franchisor be obligated to accept the transfer of 
any or all of Franchisee’s Interest in any or all such Telephone Numbers and Listings. 

3.4 Further Assurances. Franchisee agrees that at any time after the date hereof, it will perform 
such acts and execute and deliver such documents as may be necessary to assist in or accomplish the 
purposes of this Telephone Listing Agreement. 

3.5 Successors, Assigns, and Affiliates. All Franchisor’s rights and powers, and all 
Franchisee’s obligations, under this Telephone Listing Agreement shall be binding on Franchisee’s 
successors, assigns, and affiliated persons or entities as if they had duly executed this Telephone Listing 
Agreement. 

3.6 Effect on Other Agreements. Except as otherwise provided in this Telephone Listing 
Agreement, all provisions of the Franchise Agreement and all attachments, exhibits and schedules thereto 
shall remain in effect as set forth therein. 

3.7 Survival. This Telephone Listing Agreement shall survive the Termination of the Franchise 
Agreement. 

3.8 Joint and Several Obligations. All Franchisee’s obligations under this Telephone Listing 
Agreement shall be joint and several. 

3.9 Governing Law. This Telephone Listing Agreement shall be governed by and construed 
under the laws of the State of New York without regard to the application of New York conflict of law 
rules. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have duly executed and delivered this Telephone 
Listing Agreement as of the Effective Date. 

SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING, INC. FRANCHISEE 

By:  By:  

Name:  Name:  
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SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING INC. 
 

FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

EXHIBIT “F” 
STATE SPECIFIC ADDENDA 

CALIFORNIA ADDENDUM TO FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

1. California franchisee should not complete Questions 9-15 of the Questionnaire annexed to the 
Franchise Agreement as Exhibit J, and if they do, Franchisor will destroy and disregard it. 

2. No disclaimer, questionnaire, clause, or statement signed by a franchisee in connection with the 
commencement of the franchise relationship that serve to disclaim the franchisor’s representations 
shall be construed or interpreted as waiving any claim of fraud in the inducement, whether common 
law or statutory, or as disclaiming reliance on or the right to rely upon any statement made or 
information provided by any franchisor, broker or other person acting on behalf of the franchisor 
that was a material inducement to a franchisee’s investment. This provision supersedes any other 
or inconsistent term of any document executed in connection with the franchise. 

3. Section 4.01 of the Franchisee Agreement shall be amended to add the following language: 

“Notwithstanding the foregoing, payment of the Initial Franchise Fee shall be deferred until we 
have satisfied our pre-opening obligations and you have commenced operation of your Shah’s Halal 
Restaurant.” 

Dated:       FRANCHISEE: 

       
(Name of Entity) 

By:        

Its:        

(Title) 

       

(Print Name) 

Dated:        SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING INC. 
By:        
Name:     
Title:    
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HAWAII ADDENDUM TO FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

1. Section 4.01 of the Franchisee Agreement shall be amended to add the following language: 

“Notwithstanding the foregoing, payment of the Initial Franchise Fee shall be deferred until we 
have satisfied our pre-opening obligations and you have commenced operation of your Shah’s Halal 
Restaurant.” 

2. The franchise agreement and any document signed in connection with the franchise are 
supplemented with the following language: 

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgment signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection 
with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims 
under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming 
reliance on any statement by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf of 
franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with 
the franchise. 

3. The following sections of the Franchise Agreement are hereby deleted: 22.1.1 – 22.1.6, 22.1.8 and 
22.1.12. 

Dated:       FRANCHISEE: 

       
(Name of Entity) 

By:        

Its:        

(Title) 

       

(Print Name) 

Dated:        SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING INC. 
By:        
Name:     
Title:    
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ILLINOIS ADDENDUM TO FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

1. In conformance with Section 4 of the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act, any provision in a franchise 
agreement that designates jurisdiction and venue in a forum outside of the State of Illinois is void. 
However, a franchise agreement may provide for arbitration to take place outside of Illinois. 

2. Illinois law will govern all Illinois Franchise Agreements. 

3. Franchisees’ rights upon termination and non-renewal are set forth in Section 19 and 20 of the 
Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act. 

4. Section 41 of the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act states that “any condition, stipulation, or 
provision purporting to bind any person acquiring any franchise to waive compliance with any 
provision of this Act is void”. 

5. Section 4.01 of the Franchisee Agreement shall be amended to add the following language: 

“Notwithstanding the foregoing, payment of the Initial Franchise Fee shall be deferred until we 
have satisfied our pre-opening obligations and you have commenced operation of your Shah’s Halal 
Restaurant.” 

6. Section 22.1 (“Your Acknowledgments”) is deleted from all Illinois Franchise Agreements. 

7. Pursuant to Section 200.508 of the Illinois Administrative Rules promulgated under Section 15 of 
the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act, payment of the Initial Franchise Fee and all other fees owed 
to Franchisor or its affiliates, by the Franchisee, are deferred until such time as all initial obligations 
owed to the Franchisee under the Franchise Agreement or other agreements have been fulfilled by 
Franchisor and the Franchisee has commenced doing business pursuant to the Franchise 
Agreement. The Illinois Attorney General’s Office imposed this deferral requirement due to 
Franchisor’s financial condition. 

8. The Franchise Agreement and any document signed in connection with the franchise are 
supplemented with the following language: 

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgment signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection 
with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims 
under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming 
reliance on any statement by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf of 
franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with 
the franchise. 

9. The following sections of the Franchise Agreement are hereby deleted: 22.1.1 – 22.1.6, 22.1.8 and 
22.1.12. 

[Signature page follows.] 

Dated:        FRANCHISEE: 
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(Name of Entity) 

By:        

Its:        

(Title) 

       

(Print Name) 

Dated:        SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING INC. 
By:        
Name:     
Title:     
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INDIANA ADDENDUM TO FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in the Franchise Agreement, the following provisions 
will supersede and apply: 

1. The laws of the State of Indiana supersede any provisions of the Franchise Agreement or New York 
law if such provisions are in conflict with Indiana law. The Franchise Agreement will be governed 
by Indiana law, rather than New York law, as stated in Section 24.10.3 of the Franchise Agreement. 

2. Venue for litigation will not be limited to New York, as specified in Section 24.10.4 of the 
Franchise Agreement. 

3. The prohibition by Indiana Code 23-2-2.7-1(7) against unilateral termination of the franchise 
without good cause or in bad faith, good cause being defined therein as a material breach of the 
franchise agreement, will supersede the provisions of Article 17 of the Franchise Agreement in the 
State of Indiana to the extent they may be inconsistent with such prohibition. 

4. No release language set forth in the Franchise Agreement will relieve the Franchisor or any other 
person, directly or indirectly, from liability imposed by the laws concerning franchising of the State 
of Indiana. 

5. Section 10.3 of the Franchise Agreement (“Failure to Comply”) will not apply to franchises offered 
and sold in the State of Indiana. 

6. Section 24.6 of the Franchise Agreement (“Our Withholding of Consent – Your Exclusive 
Remedy”) will not apply to franchises offered and sold in the State of Indiana. 

7. Section 10.2 of the Franchise Agreement is revised to limit the geographical extent of the post-term 
covenant not to compete to Franchisee’s Territory for all franchises sold in the State of Indiana. 

8. Section 24.11 of the Franchise Agreement (“Injunction”) will not apply to franchises offered and 
sold in the State of Indiana. 

9. Section 24.10.5 is deleted from the Franchise Agreement. 

10. Notwithstanding the terms of Article 15 of the Franchise Agreement (“Indemnification”), 
Franchisee will not be required to indemnify Franchisor and the other Indemnitees for any liability 
caused by Franchisee’s proper reliance on or use of procedures or materials provided by Franchisor 
or caused by Franchisor’s negligence. 

[Signature page follows.] 
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Dated:       FRANCHISEE: 

       
(Name of Entity) 

By:        

Its:        

(Title) 

       

(Print Name) 

Dated:        SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING INC. 
By:        
Name:    
Title:     

 

REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY. 
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MARYLAND ADDENDUM TO FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in the Franchise Disclosure Document or Franchise 
Agreement, the following provisions shall supersede and apply to all franchises offered and sold under the 
laws of the State of Maryland. 

1. No release language set forth in Section 3.2.1(g) of the Franchise Agreement (concerning 
requirements for renewal) or Section 14.4.1(n) of the Franchise Agreement (concerning 
requirements for transfer) shall relieve the Franchisor or any other person, directly or indirectly, 
from liability imposed by the laws concerning franchising of the State of Maryland. Sections 
3.2.1(g) and 14.4.1(n) of the Franchise Agreement are each hereby amended to add the following 
language: 

“The release requirement of this Section is not intended to nor shall it act as a release, estoppel or 
waiver of any liability incurred under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law. 
The release required under this Section will not apply to claims arising under the Maryland 
Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law.” 

2. Any claims arising under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Laws must be 
brought within three (3) years after the grant of the Franchise. 

3. Section 4.01 of the Franchisee Agreement shall be amended to add the following language: 

“Notwithstanding the foregoing, payment of the Initial Franchise Fee shall be deferred until we 
have satisfied our pre-opening obligations and you have commenced operation of your Shah’s Halal 
Restaurant.” 

4. Section 24.10.4 of the Franchise Agreement requires venue to be limited to the state, county and 
judicial district in which the Franchisor’s principal place of business is then located. This provision 
is hereby deleted from all Franchise Agreements for residents of the State of Maryland and/or 
franchises to be operated in the State of Maryland. 

5. Section 22.1 (“Your Acknowledgments”) is hereby deleted from all Franchise Agreements for 
residents of the State of Maryland and/or franchises to be operated in the State of Maryland. 

6. The following sentence is added at the end of the last paragraph of Section 1.6 of the Franchise 
Agreement (“Our Reserved Rights”): “The waiver, release and other provisions of this paragraph 
are not intended to act, nor will they act, as a release, estoppel or waiver of any liability incurred 
under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law.” 

7. The following language is added to the last sentence of Section 24.2 of the Franchise Agreement 
(“Integration of Agreement”): “provided, however, that the foregoing is not intended to, nor will 
it, act as a release, estoppel or waiver of any liability incurred under the Maryland Franchise 
Registration and Disclosure Law.” 
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8. The following sentence is added at the end of Section 24.3 of the Franchise Agreement (“No Oral 
Modification”): “This Section is not intended to, nor will it, act as a release, estoppel or waiver of 
any liability incurred under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law.” 

9. The Franchise Agreement and any document signed in connection with the franchise are 
supplemented with the following language: 

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgment signed or agreed to by a franchisee in 
connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) 
waiving any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, 
or (ii) disclaiming reliance on any statement by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person 
acting on behalf of franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document 
executed in connection with the franchise. 

10. The following sections of the Franchise Agreement are hereby deleted: 22.1.1 – 22.1.6, 22.1.8 
and 22.1.12. 

Dated:       FRANCHISEE: 

       
(Name of Entity) 

By:        

Its:        

(Title) 

       

(Print Name) 

Dated:        SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING INC. 
By:        
Name:    
Title:  _______  
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MINNESOTA ADDENDUM TO FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in the Franchise Agreement, the following provisions 
will supersede and apply: 

1. The following language will appear at the end of Section 24.10.4 of the Franchise Agreement 
(“Venue”): 

“Minn. Stat. §80C.21 and Minn. Rule 2860.4400J prohibit Franchisor from requiring litigation to 
be conducted outside Minnesota. In addition, nothing in the franchise disclosure document or 
agreement can abrogate or reduce any of Franchisee’s rights as provided for in Minnesota Statutes, 
Chapter 80C, or Franchisee’s rights to any procedure, forum or remedies provided for by the laws 
of the jurisdiction.” 

2. No release language set forth in the Franchise Agreement will relieve the Franchisor or any other 
person, directly or indirectly, from liability imposed by the laws concerning franchising of the State 
of Minnesota. 

3. Minnesota law provides franchisees with certain termination and non-renewal rights. Minnesota 
Statutes, Section 80C.14, subdivisions 3, 4, and 5 require, except in certain specified cases, that 
franchisee be given 90 days notice of termination (with 60 days to cure) and 180 days’ notice for 
non-renewal of the franchise agreement. 

4. Franchisor will protect Franchisee’s right to use the trademarks, service marks, trade names, 
logotypes or other commercial symbols and/or indemnify Franchisee from any loss, costs or 
expenses arising out of any claim, suit or demand regarding the use of the name. 

5. The second sentence of Section 10.3 of the Franchise Agreement (“Failure to Comply”) is amended 
to read as follows: 

“Accordingly, you consent to the seeking of an injunction prohibiting any conduct by you in 
violation of the terms of the covenants not to compete set forth in this Agreement.” 

6. The third and fourth sentences of Section 24.11 of the Franchise Agreement (“Injunction”) is 
amended to read as follows: 

“You therefore agree that if you engage in this non-compliance, or unauthorized and/or improper 
use of the System or Proprietary Marks, during or after the period of this Agreement, we will be 
entitled to seek both temporary and permanent injunctive relief against you from any court of 
competent jurisdiction, in addition to all other remedies which we may have at law. You consent 
to the seeking of these temporary and permanent injunctions.” 

7. Section 18.3 of the Franchise Agreement (Liquidated Damages) is deleted in its entirety. 

8. The Franchise Agreement and any document signed in connection with the franchise are 
supplemented with the following language: 
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No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgment signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection 
with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims 
under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming 
reliance on any statement by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf of 
franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with 
the franchise. 

9. The following sections of the Franchise Agreement are hereby deleted: 22.1.1 – 22.1.6, 22.1.8 and 
22.1.12. 

Dated:       FRANCHISEE: 

       
(Name of Entity) 

By:        

Its:        

(Title) 

       

(Print Name) 

Dated:        SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING INC. 
By:        
Name:    
Title:    

 

REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY. 

 



 

11 
 

313520804v.1 

NEW YORK ADDENDUM TO FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in the Franchise Disclosure Document or Franchise 
Agreement, the following provisions shall supersede and apply to all franchises offered and sold under the 
laws of the State of New York: 

1. The second paragraph of Section 5.2 of the Franchise Agreement is hereby amended by adding the 
following language after the second sentence: 

“The Operations Manual and any additions, deletions, revisions or Supplements to the Operations 
Manual are material in that they will affect the operation of the franchised Business, but they will 
not conflict with or materially alter your rights and obligations under this Agreement or place an 
excessive economic burden on your operations.” 

2. Sections 3.2.1(g) and 14.4.1(n) of the Franchise Agreement are each hereby amended to include 
the following language immediately following the requirement that Franchisee execute a General 
Release: 

“Provided, however, that all rights enjoyed by Franchisee and any causes of action arising in its 
favor from the provisions of Article 33 of the General Business Law of the State of New York and 
the regulations issued thereunder shall remain in force; it being the intent of this proviso that the 
non-waiver provisions of GBL, Section 687.4 and 687.5 be satisfied.” 

3. Section 4.01 of the Franchisee Agreement shall be amended to add the following language: 

“Notwithstanding the foregoing, payment of the Initial Franchise Fee shall be deferred until we 
have satisfied our pre-opening obligations and you have commenced operation of your Shah’s Halal 
Restaurant.” 

4. The second sentence of Section 10.3 of the Franchise Agreement is hereby amended to read as 
follows: 

“Accordingly, you consent to the seeking of an injunction prohibiting any conduct by you in 
violation of the terms of the covenants not to compete set forth in this Agreement.” 

5. The third and fourth sentences of Section 24.11 of the Franchise Agreement is amended to read as 
follows: 

“You therefore agree that if you engage in this non-compliance, or unauthorized and/or improper 
use of The Shah’s Halal System or Proprietary Marks, during or after the period of this Agreement, 
we will be entitled to seek both temporary and permanent injunctive relief against you from any 
court of competent jurisdiction, in addition to all other remedies which we may have at law. You 
consent to the seeking of these temporary and permanent injunctions.” 

6. The Franchise Agreement and any documents signed in connection with the franchise are 
supplemented with the following language: 
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No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgment signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection 
with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims 
under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming 
reliance on any statement by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf of 
franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with 
the franchise. 

7. The following sections of the Franchise Agreement are hereby deleted: 22.1.1 – 22.1.6, 22.1.8 and 
22.1.12. 

Dated:       FRANCHISEE: 

       
(Name of Entity) 

By:        

Its:        

(Title) 

       

(Print Name) 

Dated:        SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING INC. 
By:        
Name:    
Title:    

 

REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY. 
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NORTH DAKOTA ADDENDUM TO FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in the Franchise Agreement, the following provisions 
will supersede and apply: 

1. The laws of the State of North Dakota supersede any provisions of the Franchise Agreement or 
New York law if such provisions are in conflict with North Dakota law. The Franchise Agreement 
will be governed by North Dakota law, rather than New York law, as stated in Section 28.10.3 of 
the Franchise Agreement. 

2. Any provision in the Franchise Agreement which designates jurisdiction or venue or requires the 
Franchisee to agree to jurisdiction or venue, in a forum outside of North Dakota, is deleted from 
Franchise Agreements issued in the State of North Dakota. The site of any arbitration will be 
agreeable to all parties. 

3. No release language set forth in the Franchise Agreement will relieve the Franchisor or any other 
person, directly or indirectly, from liability imposed by the laws concerning franchising of the State 
of North Dakota. 

4. Covenants restricting competition in the State of North Dakota may be subject to Section 9-08-06 
of the North Dakota Century Code. 

5. Section 4.01 of the Franchisee Agreement shall be amended to add the following language: 

“Notwithstanding the foregoing, payment of the Initial Franchise Fee shall be deferred until we 
have satisfied our pre-opening obligations and you have commenced operation of your Shah’s Halal 
Restaurant.” 

6. Section 24.10.4 of the Franchise Agreement (“Venue”) is deleted from all Franchise Agreements 
used in the State of North Dakota. 

7. The following phrase is deleted from Section 17.04 of all Franchise Agreements used in the State 
of North Dakota: “, and will entitle us to receive the liquidated damages provided by Section 18.3 
(as with any termination of this Agreement by us because of your default or your termination of 
this Agreement for any other reason)” 

8. Section 18.3 is deleted from all Franchise Agreements used in the State of North Dakota, 

9. Section 24.10.5 is deleted from all Franchise Agreements used in the State of North Dakota, 

10. Section 24.10.1 is deleted from all Franchise Agreements used in the State of North Dakota and the 
following language is substituted therefor: 

“The prevailing party will be entitled to recover from the losing party reasonable attorneys’ fees, 
experts’ fees, court costs and all other expenses of litigation, if the prevailing party prevails in any 
action instituted against the losing party to secure or protect its rights under this Agreement, or to 
enforce the terms of this Agreement, or in any action commenced or joined in by the losing party 
against the prevailing party.” 
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11. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Franchise Agreement, if you are a resident of the 
State of North Dakota and/or purchasing a franchise for a Shah’s Halal Restaurant located in the 
State of North Dakota, then you need not pay the Initial Franchise Fee or any of the other initial 
fees or payments to us until your Shah’s Halal Restaurant commences doing business, by which 
time we will have fulfilled our initial obligations to you under the Franchise Agreement and related 
agreements. 

12. The Franchise Agreement and any document signed in connection with the franchise are 
supplemented with the following language: 

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgment signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection 
with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims 
under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming 
reliance on any statement by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf of 
franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with 
the franchise. 

13. The following sections of the Franchise Agreement are hereby deleted: 22.1.1 – 22.1.6, 22.1.8 and 
22.1.12. 

Dated:       FRANCHISEE: 

       
(Name of Entity) 

By:        

Its:        

(Title) 

       

(Print Name) 

Dated:        SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING INC. 
By:        
Name:     
Title:     
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RHODE ISLAND ADDENDUM TO FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in the Franchise Agreement, the following provisions 
shall supersede and apply: 

1. Any provision in the Franchise Agreement which designates the governing law as that of any state 
other than the State of Rhode Island is deleted from Franchise Agreements issued in the State of 
Rhode Island. 

2. §19-28.1.-14 of the Rhode Island Franchise Investment Act provides that “A provision in a 
franchise agreement restricting jurisdiction or venue to a forum outside this state or requiring the 
application of the laws of another state is void with respect to a claim otherwise enforceable under 
this Act.” 

3. Section 4.01 of the Franchisee Agreement shall be amended to add the following language: 

“Notwithstanding the foregoing, payment of the Initial Franchise Fee shall be deferred until we 
have satisfied our pre-opening obligations and you have commenced operation of your Shah’s Halal 
Restaurant.” 

4. The Franchise Agreement and any document signed in connection with the franchise are 
supplemented with the following language: 

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgment signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection 
with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims 
under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming 
reliance on any statement by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf of 
franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with 
the franchise. 

5. The following sections of the Franchise Agreement are hereby deleted: 22.1.1 – 22.1.6, 22.1.8 and 
22.1.12. 

[Signature page follows.] 
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Dated:       FRANCHISEE: 

       
(Name of Entity) 

By:        

Its:        

(Title) 

       

(Print Name) 

Dated:        SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING INC. 
By:        
Name:    
Title:    
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SOUTH DAKOTA ADDENDUM TO FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in the Franchise Agreement, the following provision 
shall supersede and apply: 

1. Section 4.01 of the Franchisee Agreement shall be amended to add the following language: 

“Notwithstanding the foregoing, payment of the Initial Franchise Fee shall be deferred until we 
have satisfied our pre-opening obligations and you have commenced operation of your Shah’s Halal 
Restaurant.” 

2. The Franchise Agreement and any document signed in connection with the franchise are 
supplemented with the following language: 

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgment signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection 
with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims 
under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming 
reliance on any statement by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf of 
franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with 
the franchise. 

3. The following sections of the Franchise Agreement are hereby deleted: 22.1.1 – 22.1.6, 22.1.8 and 
22.1.12. 

Dated:       FRANCHISEE: 

       
(Name of Entity) 

By:        

Its:        

(Title) 

       

(Print Name) 

Dated:        SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING INC. 
By:        
Name:    
Title:    
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VIRGINIA ADDENDUM TO FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in the Franchise Agreement, the following provision 
shall supersede and apply: 

1. Section 4.01 of the Franchisee Agreement shall be amended to add the following language: 

“The Virginia State Corporation Commission’s Division of Securities and Retail Franchising 
requires us to defer payment of the initial franchise fee and other initial payments owed by 
franchisees to the franchisor until the franchisor has completed its pre-opening obligations under 
the franchise agreement.” 

2. The Franchise Agreement and any document signed in connection with the franchise are 
supplemented with the following language: 

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgment signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection 
with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims 
under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming 
reliance on any statement by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf of 
franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with 
the franchise. 

3. The following sections of the Franchise Agreement are hereby deleted: 22.1.1 – 22.1.6, 22.1.8 and 
22.1.12. 

Dated:       FRANCHISEE: 

       
(Name of Entity) 

By:        

Its:        

(Title) 

       

(Print Name) 

Dated:        SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING INC. 
By:        
Name:    
Title:    
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WASHINGTON ADDENDUM TO FRANCHISE AGREEMENT, DISCLOSURE 
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT STATEMENT, AND RELATED AGREEMENTS 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in the Franchise Agreement, Disclosure 
Acknowledgement Statement and Related Agreements, the following provisions will supersede and apply: 

1. In any arbitration or mediation involving a franchise purchased in Washington, the arbitration or 
mediation site will be either in the state of Washington, or in a place mutually agreed upon at the 
time of the arbitration or mediation. In addition, if litigation is not precluded by the Franchise 
Agreement, a franchisee may bring an action or proceeding arising out of or in connection with the 
sale of franchises, or a violation of the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act, in 
Washington. 

2. A release or waiver of rights executed by a Franchisee may not include rights under the Washington 
Franchise Investment Protection Act or any rule or order thereunder except when executed pursuant 
to a negotiated settlement after the Franchise Agreement is in effect and where the parties are 
represented by independent counsel. Provisions such as those which unreasonably restrict or limit 
the statute of limitations period for claims under the Act, or rights or remedies under the Act as 
such as a right to a jury trial, may not be enforceable. 

3. RCW 19.100.180 which may supersede the Franchise Agreement in your relationship with the 
Franchisor including the areas of termination and renewal of your franchise. There may also be 
court decisions which may supersede the Franchise Agreement in your relationship with the 
Franchisor including the areas of termination and renewal of your franchise. 

4. In the event of a conflict of laws, the provisions of the Washington Franchise Investment Protection 
Act, Chapter 19.100 RCW will prevail. 

5. Transfer fees are collectable to the extent that they reflect the Franchisor’s reasonable estimated or 
actual costs in effecting a transfer. 

6. Section 4.01 of the Franchisee Agreement shall be amended to add the following language: 

“In lieu of an impound of franchise fees, the Franchisor will not require or accept the payment of 
any initial franchise fees until the franchisee has (a) received all pre-opening and initial training 
obligations that it is entitled to under the franchise agreement or offering circular, and (b) is open 
for business.” 

7. Pursuant to RCW 49.62.020, a noncompetition covenant is void and unenforceable against an 
employee, including an employee of a franchisee, unless the employee’s earnings from the party 
seeking enforcement, when annualized, exceed $100,000 per year (an amount that will be adjusted 
annually for inflation). In addition, a noncompetition covenant is void and unenforceable against 
an independent contractor of a franchisee under RCW 49.62.030 unless the independent 
contractor’s earnings from the party seeking enforcement, when annualized, exceed $250,000 per 
year (an amount that will be adjusted annually for inflation). As a result, any provisions contained 
in the franchise agreement or elsewhere that conflict with these limitations are void and 
unenforceable in Washington. 
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8. RCW 49.62.060 prohibits a franchisor from restricting, restraining, or prohibiting a franchisee from 
(i) soliciting or hiring any employee of a franchisee of the same franchisor or (ii) soliciting or hiring 
any employee of the franchisor. As a result, any such provisions contained in the franchise 
agreement or elsewhere are void and unenforceable in Washington. 

9. The Franchise Agreement and any document signed in connection with the franchise are 
supplemented with the following language: 

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgment signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection 
with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims 
under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming 
reliance on any statement by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf of 
franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with 
the franchise. 

10. The following sections of the Franchise Agreement are hereby deleted: 22.1.1 – 22.1.6, 22.1.8 and 
22.1.12. 

Dated:       FRANCHISEE: 

       
(Name of Entity) 

By:        

Its:        

(Title) 

       

(Print Name) 

Dated:        SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING INC. 
By:        
Name:    
Title:    
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WISCONSIN ADDENDUM TO FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in the Franchise Agreement, the following provisions 
will supersede and apply: 

1. The Wisconsin Fair Dealership Act, Wisconsin Statutes, Chapter 135 will apply to and govern the 
provisions of the Franchise Agreement. 

2. That Act’s requirement, including the requirements that, in certain circumstances, a franchisee 
receives 90 days’ notice of termination, cancellation, non-renewal or substantial change in 
competitive circumstances, and 60 days to remedy claimed deficiencies, will supersede the 
requirements of Article 17 of the Franchise Agreement to the extent they may be inconsistent with 
the Act’s requirements. 

Dated:       FRANCHISEE: 

       
(Name of Entity) 

By:        

Its:        

(Title) 

       

(Print Name) 

Dated:        SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING INC. 
By:        
Name:    
Title:     
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SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING INC. 
 

FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

EXHIBIT “G” 
FRANCHISEE DISCLOSURE ACKNOWLEDGMENT STATEMENT 

Shah’s Halal Franchising Inc. (the “Franchisor”) and you are preparing to enter into a Franchise 
Agreement for the establishment and operation of a Shah’s Halal restaurant (the “Franchised Business”).  
The purpose of this Questionnaire is to make sure you have received the information necessary and have 
had the opportunity to review and consider such information. 

For franchisees and franchises that are subject to the state franchise disclosure laws in California, 
Hawaii, Illinois, Indiana, Maryland, Michigan, Minnesota, New York, North Dakota, Rhode Island, South 
Dakota, Virginia, Washington or Wisconsin, this questionnaire is not intended and does not constitute 
waiver of any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement; or a 
disclaimer of any reliance on any statement made by any person acting on behalf of the Franchisor. 
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EXHIBIT “H” 
QUESTIONNAIRE 

If you are purchasing an existing store from an existing Franchisee, you may have received 
information from the transferring Franchisee.  That is a separate process.  The questions below do not apply 
to any communications that you had with the transferring Franchisee. 

Please review and respond to each of the following questions. 

1. Are you seeking to enter into the Franchise Agreement in connection with a purchase or transfer of 
an existing Shah’s Halal restaurant from an existing Franchisee? 

Yes _____ No _____ 

2. Did you sign a receipt for the Disclosure Document indicating the date you received it? 

Yes _____ No _____ 

3. Have you entered into what you believe is a binding agreement with the Franchisor concerning the 
establishment of the Franchised Business prior to today? 

Yes _____ No _____ 

The President of the United States of America has issued Executive Order 13224 (the “Executive Order”) 
prohibiting transactions with terrorists and terrorist organizations and that the United States government 
has adopted, and in the future may adopt, other anti-terrorism measures (the “Anti-Terrorism Measures”).  
The Franchisor therefore requires certain certifications that the parties with whom it deals are not directly 
involved in terrorism.  For that reason, you hereby certify that neither you nor any of your employees, 
agents or representatives, nor any other person or entity associated with you, is: 

(i) a person or entity listed in the Annex to the Executive Order; 

(ii) a person or entity otherwise determined by the Executive Order to have committed acts of 
terrorism or to pose a significant risk of committing acts of terrorism; 

(iii) a person or entity who assists, sponsors, or supports terrorists or acts of terrorism; or 

(iv) owned or controlled by terrorists or sponsors of terrorism. 

You further covenant that neither you nor any of your employees, agents or representatives, nor any other 
person or entity associated with you, will during the term of the Franchise Agreement become a person or 
entity described above or otherwise become a target of any Anti-Terrorism Measure. 

Acknowledged this _____ day of ________________, 20____. 

 

  
Print Name of Legal Entity 

  
Signature 

Print Name  
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Title  
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SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING INC. 
 

FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

EXHIBIT “I” 
TRAINING COMPLETION AGREEMENT AND RELEASE 

 
The undersigned is a franchisee of Shah’s Halal Franchising, Inc., a New York corporation 

(“Shah’s Halal” or “Franchisor”), owner or operator of or an investor in a Shah’s Halal franchise, or a 
manager of a Shah’s Halal Restaurant operated by a Shah’s Halal franchisee who is commencing training. 
As part of such training, the undersigned may visit, inspect, train, and work in one or more of the Shah’s 
Halal Restaurants owned or operated by Franchisor, its affiliates, or by one or more Shah’s Halal 
franchisees. As an inducement to cause the owner of such Shah’s Halal Restaurant to permit the undersigned 
to visit, inspect, train and work in such restaurant, THE UNDERSIGNED HEREBY RELEASES, HOLDS 
HARMLESS, AND AGREES TO DEFEND & INDEMNIFY SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING, INC., 
THE OWNER(S) OF SUCH RESTAURANT(S), AND THEIR RESPECTIVE SHAREHOLDERS, 
OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, EMPLOYEES, AGENTS, REPRESENTATIVES, AFFILIATES, 
SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS (COLLECTIVELY, THE “RELEASED & INDEMNIFIED 
PARTIES”), FROM AND AGAINST ANY AND ALL LIABILITY, LOSS, INJURY, DAMAGE, COST 
AND EXPENSE SUFFERED OR INCURRED BY THE UNDERSIGNED AS A RESULT OF ANY 
SUCH VISIT, INSPECTION, TRAINING, OR WORK. IT IS ACKNOWLEDGED THAT THE 
FOREGOING RELEASE AND INDEMNITY IS INTENDED TO BE AS BROAD AND 
COMPREHENSIVE AS PERMITTED BY LAW, AND INCLUDES LIABILITY, COST, DAMAGE, 
INJURY, COST, AND EXPENSE SUFFERED AS A RESULT OR PARTLY AS A RESULT OF ANY 
NEGLIGENCE, ERROR OR OMISSION BY THE RELEASED & INDEMNIFIED PARTIES. The 
undersigned further represents that he has independently obtained or is covered by adequate insurance to 
cover the risk of loss or injury. Some states do not allow the limitations on liability set forth above. 
Accordingly, not all of the limitations set forth in this section may apply to undersigned. 

 
The following language applies to franchises to be located in Maryland or to be granted to Maryland 

residents: The general release included in this consent and release shall not apply to any liability under the 
Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law. 

 
The following language applies to franchises to be located in Washington or to be granted to 

Washington residents: This general release does not waive any liability the franchisor may have under the 
Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act, RCW 19.100, and the rules adopted thereunder.  
 
 
 
  
Printed Name/Title (If applicable) 
 
Date  
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SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING, INC. 
FRANCHISEE AGREEMENT  

EXHIBIT “J” 
EXCLUSIVE SUPPLY AGREEMENT 

This EXCLUSIVE SUPPLY AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is entered and made by and between 
GUL M CORP., a New York corporation, with its principal executive offices located at 138-62 94th Ave., 
Jamaica, NY 11435 (“Company”), and _________, (“Customer”). 

WHEREAS, pursuant to a Franchise Agreement with Shah’s Halal Franchising, Inc. Customer is 
an authorized Franchisee and operates a Shah’s Halal restaurant; 

WHEREAS, Company is the designated Exclusive Supplier of the Franchisee and  sells halal foods 
including halal meats, spice mixes, marinades, marinade mixes, marinated ingredients, restaurant 
equipment and supplies (“Materials”) to Shah’s Halal Franchisees; 

WHEREAS, Company desires to supply the Materials to Customer on the terms and conditions set 
forth in this Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, Customer desires to purchase from Company the Materials on the terms and 
conditions set forth in this Agreement. 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants and premises set forth herein, and for other 
good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties 
hereto agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I 
SALE AND PURCHASE OF MATERIALS 

Section 1.1 Supply of Material. Company hereby agrees to manufacture for, and deliver to Customer, and 
Customer agrees to exclusively purchase from Company, such quantities of the Materials to meet Customer 
requirements based upon such written purchase orders provided pursuant to Section 1.3 hereof. The parties 
hereto acknowledge and agree that Company may manufacture or sell other products to any third party 
without consent of Customer. Customer may only purchase non-Materials halal food, supplies and 
restaurant equipment meeting Company’s standards from Company-approved third-party distributors. 

Section 1.2 Specifications & Regulatory Compliance. 

(a) Company’s Manufacturing operations shall follow current good manufacturing practices 
(“GMP’s”) as promulgated or modified by the United States Food & Drug Administration (“FDA”) 
from time to time and all other applicable federal, state, and local regulatory authorities. 

(b) In the event Customer determines that Company is not in compliance with applicable 
regulatory requirements, including without limitation applicable GMP regulations, Customer shall 
promptly deliver to Company written notice of such non-compliance (“Non-compliance Notice”). 
Company shall create and deliver to Customer an action plan to address any such noncompliance 
(“Action Plan”) within fifteen (15) days of this receipt of the Non-compliance notice. The Action 
Plan shall be mutually agreeable to Customer and Company, including the time period and the 
action(s) necessary to correct any non-compliance by Company. In no event shall the time period 
set forth in the Action Plan to correct any current non-compliance exceed two (2) months from the 



 

2 
Shah’s Halal Franchise Agreement (2024) 

313520804v.1[ 

date of Company’s receipt of the Non-compliance Notice. In the event Company fails to cure any 
such non-compliance within the time period set forth in the Action Plan, Customer shall have the 
right, but not the obligation, to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Article 3 below with respect 
to the Materials affected or to elect to have some or all of the affected Materials supplied by a third-
party supplier pursuant to Section 1.6 below. 

Section 1.3 Purchase Orders. With respect to the Materials, Customer shall deliver to Company at least 
one (1) full calendar quarter prior to the month in which the First Sale (the “Initial Month”) is projected to 
occur, (i) Customer’s rolling non-binding forecast for the twelve (12) month period commencing with the 
first calendar day of the Initial Month, and (ii) with respect to Customer’s first purchase order of Materials, 
a written purchase order and Delivery Dates for the initial sixty (60) day period commencing with the Initial 
Month. Thereafter, commencing with the Initial Month, Customer shall deliver to Company on a monthly 
basis, or at intervals Customer and Company may otherwise mutually agreed upon, but in no event longer 
than ninety (90) days, purchase orders for its quantity requirements for such Materials for the ensuing sixty-
day period. Each written purchase order shall specify the Delivery Date and shall include a reference to this 
Agreement. Company shall acknowledge in writing within three (3) business days after receipt of any 
written purchase orders submitted by Customer (i) its receipt of such purchase order and (ii) its ability to 
inability to fulfill such sixty (60) day forecasts. The terms and conditions of this Agreement will control 
over any terms contained in any Customer written purchase order, written acceptance or acknowledgement 
by Company, invoice or any other document that is not clearly an amendment to this Agreement signed by 
both parties. 

Section 1.4 Deliveries. All Materials delivered to Customer shall be F.O.B. Company’s facilities set forth 
in each written purchase order. Company shall use its best efforts and the latest and most efficient delivery 
systems to deliver the Materials no sooner than five (5) days prior to the applicable Delivery Dates and no 
later than five (5) days after the applicable Delivery Date. Company shall use its best efforts to assist 
Customer in arranging any desired insurance (in amounts that Customer shall determine) and transportation 
to any destination specified in writing from time to time by Customer. All customs, duties, costs, taxes, 
insurance premiums, and other expenses relating to such transportation and delivery, shall be at Customer’s 
expense. 

Section 1.5 Inspection & Rejection of Material. Customer may reject any portion of any shipment of the 
Materials having defects, latent or otherwise. In order to reject a shipment, Customer must (i) give notice 
to Company of Customer’s intent to reject the shipment within seven (7) days of receipt together with a 
written indication of the reasons for such possible rejection. After notice if intention to reject is given, 
Customer and Company shall both examine the Materials in question using mutually agreeable test methods 
to determine the extent and existence, if any, of any nonconformity. If the Materials are determined to be 
nonconforming, Company shall, at its own cost and expense, promptly undertake to replace such 
nonconforming Materials and deliver conforming Materials to Customer. If the Materials are not 
determined to be nonconforming or no such notice of intent to reject is timely received, Customer shall be 
deemed to have accepted such delivery of Material and payment must be made in accordance with the terms 
included in Article 2. 

Section 1.6 Company’s Inability to Perform. If Company fails to timely deliver twenty percent (20%) of 
the amount of any Materials (“Affected Materials”) ordered by Customer as required hereunder for any 
reason excluding force majeure, as measured over any period of twenty (20) or more consecutive days then 
Customer may upon ten (10) days’ prior written notice to Company (as long as Company has not cured 
such default within such time) elect to have such Affected Materials supplied by a third party supplier, 
selected by Customer in its sole discretion, for the next sixty (60) days (“Third Party Period”). Upon the 
expiration of the Third-Party Period, Company shall recommence supplying the Affected Materials to 
Customer. However, if after the expiration of the Third Party Period, Company is still unable to timely 
deliver the Affected Materials subsequently ordered by Customer, then Customer may, at its sole discretion, 
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(i) continue to have the Affected Materials supplied by a third party supplier and terminate this Agreement 
with respect to the Affected Materials or (ii) continue to have the Affected Materials supplied by a third 
party supplier for indefinite consecutive periods of sixty (60) days until Company is able to timely delivery 
the Affected Materials ordered by Customer. 

ARTICLE II 
PRICING & PAYMENT 

Section 2.1 Unit Pricing. Customer shall pay to Company the unit pricing set forth in Company’s price list 
for all Products. Company agrees to keep Pricing commercially reasonable and competitive in accordance 
with the market conditions and industry standards. 

Section 2.2 Price Increase. The Unit Pricing may be adjusted by Company on a semi-annual basis, 
effective on each anniversary date of this Agreement, upon thirty (30) days prior written notice from 
Company to Customer. Such adjustment shall be based on actual increases or decreases in relevant labor 
and/or materials costs and in no event shall Unit Pricing be adjusted more than ten percent (10%) in any 
calendar year. 

Section 2.3 Taxes & Duty. All taxes, duties and other amounts assessed by government authorities on the 
Materials upon or after sale to Customer are the responsibility of Customer, and Customer shall reimburse 
Company for any such taxes, duties or other amounts paid by Company 

Section 2.4 Method of Payment. Company shall invoice Customer for all Materials upon tender for 
Delivery. All payments shall be due to Company in United States dollars on a Cash on Delivery (C.O.D.) 
basis. 

Section 2.5 Personal Guaranty. In order to induce Company to enter into this Agreement, the shareholders 
or members of Customer (“Guarantors”), and all of them, hereby guaranty, unconditionally and absolutely, 
to Licensor, its successors and assigns, as evidenced by the Personal Guaranty attached hereto and 
incorporated by reference. 

ARTICLE III 
TERM & TERMINATION 

Section 3.1 Term. Unless terminated pursuant to Sections 1.2(a) and 1.6 above or by either party pursuant 
to the other provisions of this Article, this Agreement shall continue in effect until ten (10) years from the 
date first set forth above (“Initial Term”). The parties agree that the term of this Agreement is to run 
concurrently and equal to the term of a certain Limited Intellectual Property License Agreement (“License 
Agreement”) of even date herewith entered into between the Customer and Shah’s Halal Food Partners, 
Inc. After the Initial Term and in the event the License Agreement is renewed for the Place of Business, 
this Agreement shall automatically renew for the same number of years as in the License Agreement unless 
agreed in writing otherwise. 

Section 3.2 Termination for Cause. This Agreement may be terminated in its entirety by either party upon 
the occurrence of an “Event of Default” (as defined below) by delivering to the defaulting party at least 
thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of the written notice of termination (“Notice of Termination”) 
describing the Event of Default. For the purposes of Section 3.2, an Event of Default is any of the following 
events: 

(a) Failure by Customer to make any payment when due and the failure of Customer to pay 
such delinquent amount plus any other non-delinquent amounts due and payable at such time within 
thirty (30) days of Customer’s receipt of the Notice of Termination; 
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(b) Filing by either party hereto for bankruptcy, receivership, assignment for the benefit of 
creditors of all or a substantial portion of the assets of such party or other admission by such party 
of its inability to pay its debts as they mature; 

(c) The filing of an involuntary petition for bankruptcy, reorganization, receivership or similar 
proceeding against either party hereto which proceeding is not dismissed within sixty (60) days; 

(d) If either party hereto breaches any material provision of this Agreement and fails to cure 
such breach within sixty (60) days of written notice describing the breach; or 

(e) If Company is at any time not in compliance with any of the applicable regulatory 
requirements, including but not limited to GMPs. 

Section 3.3 No Liability for Termination. Neither party shall incur any liability whatsoever for any 
damage, loss or expenses of any kind suffered or incurred by the other arising from or incident to any 
termination of the Agreement by such party which complies with the terms of this Agreement, whether or 
not such party is aware of any such damage, loss or expenses. 

Section 3.4 Effect of Termination. Upon termination of his Agreement, Company shall continue to fulfill, 
subject to the terms of Article 1, all firm orders accepted by it prior to the effective date of termination, and 
Customer shall be obligated to pay for all Materials ordered or delivered prior to the date of termination, 
subject to the terms of Article 2 of this Agreement. 

Section 3.5 Return of Property. Upon expiration or termination of this Agreement, each party shall return 
to the other party any information, confidential materials, technical materials, samples, correspondence, 
specifications and other documents or materials belonging to the other party, together with any copies 
thereof (the “Properties”); provided, however, that each party shall have the right to retain such Properties 
to perform its obligations remaining hereunder after the expiration or termination of the Agreement. 

ARTICLE IV 
REPRESENTATIONS & WARRANTIES 

Section 4.1 No Rights Created. Customer and Company hereby agree that nothing in this Agreement shall 
give either party any right, title or interest in any information, or any copyrights, trademarks, patents or 
trade secrets of the other party or used by the other party under license from a third party. 

Section 4.2 Rights, Power, Authority and Binding Obligation. Each party hereby represents and warrants 
to the other party that it has full right, power and authority to enter into this Agreement and that this 
Agreement constitutes a valid and binding obligation on such party. 

Section 4.3 Compliance with Law. Company represents and warrants that it is in compliance with all 
applicable laws and regulations (including but not limited to environmental laws and regulations) and other 
orders in connection with entering into this Agreement, manufacturing the Materials and delivering the 
Materials. 

Section 4.4 Company Facilities. Company represents and warrants that the facility used to manufacture 
the Materials or the location where the Materials are produced follows applicable GMP regulations. 

Section 4.5 No Infringement. Company represents and warrants that (i) the materials are free from rights 
or claims of any other person and Customer’s purchase and resale (or holding in inventory) of the Materials 
does not infringe upon or violate any United States or foreign intellectual or industrial property right or 
other right of any third party and (ii) there are no patents issued by any country, or any other prior art, that 
invalidate or would invalidate any of the patents covering the Materials, if any, to Company’s knowledge. 
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Section 4.6 Warranties. Company warrants to Customer that the Materials shipped hereunder will have 
been manufactured in conformance with current GMP’s and applicable laws and regulations. THE 
LIMITED WARRANTY SET FORTH IS IN LIEU OF ALL OTHER WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR 
IMPLIED, INCLUDING ANY WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, WARRANTY OF NON-
INFRINGEMENT AND ANY WARRANTY OF FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. EXCEPT 
FOR THE WARRANTY EXPRESSED IN THIS ARTICLE 4. COMPANY MAKES NO OTHER 
WARRANTY, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WITH RESPECT TO THE MANUFACTURING, 
PACKAGING OR THE PRODUCT. 

ARTICLE V 
CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION 

(a) From time to time during the term hereof, the parties may require from each other certain 
secret confidential information, including knowledge, information, data, know-how, concepts, 
ideas, methods, processes, formulae, trade secrets, procedures, techniques and improvements and 
all other compilation of information (whether or not reduced in writing or in electronic format or 
whether or not patentable or copyrightable) which re or may in any way be related to the Materials 
or to the respective businesses of the parties (“Proprietary Information”). The parties shall keep 
strictly secret and confidential and shall not, either during or after termination of the Agreement, 
without the other party’s written consent disclose to any third parties or use at any time after 
termination of this Agreement any Proprietary Information of the other party, excepting that either 
party may disclose such Proprietary Information to its employees for whom such information is 
necessary for performance of their duties. The parties shall use their best efforts to compel any 
parties to whom they provide Proprietary Information to keep such information confidential in 
accordance with this Article. The parties agree not to use the Proprietary Information of the other 
party commercially or for any other purpose other than for the purpose contemplated by this 
Agreement. 

(b) The obligations undertaken by the parties pursuant to this Article shall not apply to: 

(i) Such information that is generally known to the public at the time of disclosure to 
the other party (“Recipient Party”) or subsequently becomes generally known to the public 
through no breach of Article 5(a) above by the non-disclosing party; 

(ii) Such information that was in the Recipient Party’s possession prior to disclosure 
hereunder; 

(iii) Such information that was obtained by the Recipient Party in good faith from a 
third party lawfully possessing and having a right to disclose same; 

(iv) Such information that the Recipient Party is required by court order to disclose, 
provided that any Recipient Party receiving any subpoena, or governmental, judicial or 
administrative request for any Proprietary Information of the other party shall notify the 
other party of the request immediately, and shall not disclose such information absent the 
other party’s consent or a court order requiring such disclosure; or 

(v) Such information that the Recipient Party affirmatively demonstrates to the other 
party’s reasonable satisfaction, prior to any use or disclosure, that the Propriety Information 
was independently developed by the Recipient Party without the aid, application, reference 
or use in any way of information received from the other party. 

(c) Within thirty (30) days following the termination or expiration of this Agreement or the 
request of a party hereto, each party shall return all Proprietary Information belonging to the other 
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party and copies hereof, and any other records containing such Proprietary Information to the other 
party, except that each party may retain copies of such Proprietary Information to the extent 
necessary to meet its continuing obligations to supply Material under this Agreement. 

(d) Customer and Company acknowledge that any breach or violation of the confidentiality 
provision in Article 5(a) above will result in irreparable and continuing damage to the non-
breaching party for which there may be no adequate remedy at law, and Customer and Company 
agree that in the event of any such breach or violation by either party, the non-breaching party shall 
be entitled to both damages and/or injunctive relief. 

(e) All discoveries, improvements, inventions, and trade secrets developed by Company in the 
performance of this Agreement shall be the sole property of Company. 

ARTICLE VI 
INDEMNIFICATION 

Section 6.1 Indemnification by Customer. Customer shall indemnify, defend and hold Company and its 
officers, directors, employees, and agents (collectively “Company Indemnitees”) harmless from and against 
any and all loss, harm and liability including, without limitation, all costs, damages, settlements, claims, 
suits and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) made against or sustained by any Company 
Indemnitee (collectively “Company Losses”) arising out of or resulting from the death of, or bodily injury 
to, any person which is attributed to the use of a Material by Customer or the incorporation of a Material 
into any Customer product, except to the extent that such Company Losses are caused by the intentional 
misconduct of Company or its employees, agents, contractors or representatives. 

Section 6.2 Indemnification by Company. Company shall indemnify, defend and hold Customer and its 
officers, directors, employees and agents (collectively “Customer Indemnitees”) harmless from and against 
all loss, harm and liability including, without limitation, all costs, damages, settlements, claims, suits, and 
expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) made against or sustained by any Customer Indemnitee 
arising from an infringement of any third party patent right, copyright right, trademark right or other 
intellectual property right or misappropriation of any trade secret (collectively “Customer Losses”) to the 
extent such Customer Losses are finally determined by a court of competent jurisdiction. 

Section 6.3 Limitations to Indemnity. The indemnities of Sections 6.1 and 6.2 shall not apply if the 
indemnified party fails to give the indemnifying party prompt notice of any claim it receives, and such 
failure materially prejudices the indemnifying party. Furthermore, the indemnifying party shall not be liable 
for attorneys’ fees or expenses of litigation of the indemnified party unless the indemnified party gives the 
indemnifying party the opportunity to assume control of the defense or settlement. In no event shall the 
indemnifying party assume control of the defense of the indemnified party without the consent of the 
indemnified party (which consent shall be given at its sole discretion). 

Section 6.4 Settlement. In no event shall the indemnifying party be entitled to settle any of the above-
mentioned claims without the written consent of the indemnified party, which consent shall not be 
reasonably withheld. 

ARTICLE VII 
LIMITATION OF LIABILITY 

IN NO EVENT SHALL COMPANY BE LIABLE TO CUSTOMER FOR ANY SPECIAL, PUNITIVE, 
INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES (INCLUDING DAMAGES FOR LOST 
PROFITS, INFORMATION, AND/OR PRIVACY; BUSINESS INTERRUPTION; PERSONAL 
INJURY, AND ANY OTHER LOSS WHATSOEVER) ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO, IN ANY 
WAY, THE MATERIALS AND COMPANY’S PERFORMANCE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT. 
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COMPANY’S TOTAL LIABILITY UNDER THIS AGREEMENT SHALL IN NO EVENT EXCEED 
THE GREATER OF TOTAL AMOUNTS PAID BY CUSTOMER TO COMPANY HEREUNDER 
DURING THE THREE (3) MONTHS PRIOR TO THE EVENT(S) GIVING RISE TO THE LIABILITY. 
THIS ARTICLE WILL APPLY EVEN IN THE EVENT OF THE FAULT, TORT (INCLUDING 
NEGLIGENCE), MISREPRESENTATION, STRICT LIABILITY, AND/OR BREACH OF CONTRACT 
AND/OR WARRANTY OF COMPANY, AND EVEN IF CUSTOMER HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE 
POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY DAMAGES THAT CUSTOMER 
MAY INCUR FOR ANY REASON WHATSOEVER, EXCEPT FOR THE INDEMNIFICATION 
OBLIGATIONS SET FORTH HEREIN, COMPANY’S ENTIRE LIABILITY, AND CUSTOMER’S 
EXCLUSIVE REMEDY HEREUNDER, WILL BE LIMITED TO THE CUMULATIVE AMOUNTS 
PAID BY CUSTOMER TO COMPANY HEREUNDER DURING THE THREE (3) MONTH PERIOD 
PRECEDING THE LAST EVENT THAT GAVE RISE TO SUCH LIABILITY. THE FOREGOING 
LIMITATIONS, EXCLUSIONS, AND DISCLAIMERS WILL APPLY TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT 
PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, EVEN IF ANY REMEDY FAILS OF ITS ESSENTIAL 
PURPOSE. 

ARTICLE VIII 
MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 8.1 Independent Contractors. The parties to this Agreement are independent contractors. There 
is no relationship of partnership, joint venture, employment, franchise, or agency between the parties. 

Section 8.2 Guaranty. In order to induce Company to enter into this Agreement, the shareholders or 
members of Customer (“Guarantors”), and all of them, hereby guaranty, unconditionally and absolutely, to 
Company, its successors and assigns, as evidenced by the Personal Guaranty attached hereto and 
incorporated by reference. 

Section 8.3 Succession and Assignment. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit 
of the Parties named herein and their respective successors and permitted assigns. Customer may not assign 
either this Agreement or any of its rights, interests, or obligations hereunder without the prior written 
approval of the Company; provided. 

Section 8.4 Force Majeure. Except as to payments required under this Agreement, if any default or delay 
occurs which prevents or materially impairs a party’s performance and is due to a cause beyond the party’s 
reasonable control, and provided that the default or delay is not caused by or the fault of such party, 
including but not limited to an act of God, flood, fire, explosion, earthquake, casualty, accident, war, 
revolution, civil commotion, blockade or embargo, injunction, law, proclamation, order, regulation or 
governmental demand, the affected party shall promptly notify the party in writing of such cause and shall 
exercise diligent efforts to resume performance under this Agreement as soon as possible. Neither party 
will be liable to the other party for any loss or damage due to such cause; and the Term will not be extended 
thereby. Neither party may terminate this Agreement because of such default or delay except upon thirty 
(30) days prior written notice to the other party if the default or delay has existed for five (5) months and is 
continuing at the end of the thirty (30) day notice period. 

Section 8.5 Governing Law and Remedies. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the domestic laws of the State of New York without giving effect to any choice or conflict 
of law provision or rule (whether of the State of New York or any other jurisdiction) that would cause the 
application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than the State of New York. Except as otherwise expressly 
stated in this Agreement, the rights and remedies of a party set forth herein with respect to failure of the 
other to comply with the terms of this Agreement (including, without limitation, rights of full termination 
of this Agreement) are not exclusive, the exercise thereof shall not constitute an election of remedies and 
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the aggrieved party shall in all events be entitled to seek whatever additional remedies may be available in 
law or in equity. 

Section 8.6 Compliance with Law. Each Party shall comply in all material respects with all Requirements 
of Law applicable to its activities under this Agreement. 

Section 8.7 Severability. If any term or other provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or incapable 
of being enforced under any jurisdiction or as a matter of public policy, all other conditions and provisions 
of this Agreement shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect. Upon such determination that any term 
or other provision is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced, the parties to this Agreement shall 
negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the Parties as closely 
as possible in a mutually acceptable manner in order that the transactions contemplated by this Agreement 
be consummated as originally contemplated to the greatest extent possible. 

Section 8.8 Notices. All notices or other communications required or permitted to be given hereunder shall 
be in writing and shall be delivered by hand or sent, postage prepaid, by registered, certified or express mail 
or reputable overnight courier service and shall be deemed given when so delivered by hand, or if mailed, 
three days after mailing (one business day in the case of express mail or overnight courier service), as 
follows: 

(a) if to the Company: 

GUL M CORP.  
138-62 94th Ave.  
Jamaica, NY 11435 

(b) if to Customer, 

___________________ 
___________________ 
___________________ 

Section 8.9 Entire Agreement. This Agreement (including any documents referred to herein) constitutes 
the entire agreement between the Parties and supersedes any prior understandings, agreements, or 
representations by or between the Parties, written or oral, to the extent they related in any way to the subject 
matter hereof. 

Section 8.10 Amendments and Waivers. No amendment of any provision of this Agreement shall be valid 
unless the same shall be in writing and signed by each of the Parties hereto. No waiver by any Party of any 
default, misrepresentation, or breach of warranty or covenant hereunder, whether intentional or not, shall 
be deemed to extend to any prior or subsequent default, misrepresentation, or breach of warranty or 
covenant hereunder or affect in any way any rights arising by virtue of any prior or subsequent such 
occurrence. 

Section 8.11 No Third-Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement shall not confer any rights or remedies upon 
any person other than the Parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns. 

Section 8.12 Headings. The section headings contained in this Agreement are inserted for convenience 
only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. 

Section 8.13 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, and by PDF or 
facsimile, each of which shall be deemed an original but all of which together will constitute one and the 
same instrument. 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Exclusive Supply Agreement to be 
executed by their duly authorized representatives this ______ day of __________ 202__. 

AGREED: AGREED: 
 

GUL M CORP. _____________________________________ 
[Customer] 

 

    
By:  Khalid Mashriqi, President By:    
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SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING INC. 
 

FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 
 

EXHIBIT “K” 
GUARANTY (Exclusive Supplier) 

_____, (“Franchisee”) and the undersigned principal(s)/stockholder(s) of Franchisee, do(es) hereby 
guaranty all of Franchisee’s monetary obligation, including the payment of purchase orders pursuant to the 
Exclusive Supply Agreement by and between GUL M CORP. (“Company”) and Franchisee. 

1. Guaranty. 

Guarantor hereby absolutely, unconditionally and irrevocably 

(a) guarantees the full and punctual payment when due, whether at stated maturity, by required 
prepayment or otherwise; 

(b) indemnifies and holds harmless Licensor for any and all costs and expenses (including 
reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses) incurred by Licensor in enforcing any rights under 
this Guaranty. 

Guarantor(s) expressly acknowledge that Guarantor(s) have read the Franchise Agreement and the 
Exclusive Supply Agreement and understand the same. If there is more than one Guarantor, the terms and 
conditions of this Guaranty shall apply to all Guarantors and they shall all be jointly and severally liable 
for all obligations. The liability of Guarantor(s) is coextensive with that of Franchisee and also joint and 
several and legal action may be brought against Guarantor(s) and carried to final judgment either with or 
without making Franchisee or any assignee or successor thereof as a party thereto. 

This Guaranty constitutes a guaranty of payment when due and not merely of collection, and Guarantor 
specifically agrees that it shall not be necessary or required that Licensor exercise any right, assert any 
claim or demand or enforce any remedy whatsoever against the Franchisee or any other person before or as 
a condition to the obligations of Guarantor hereunder. 

2. Acceleration of Guaranty. 

Guarantor agrees that, in the event of any Default described in the Agreements, and if such Default shall 
occur at a time when any of the Obligations of the Franchisee may not then be due and payable, Guarantor 
agrees that it will pay to Licensor forthwith the full amount which would be payable hereunder by Guarantor 
if all such Obligations were then due and payable. 

3. Guaranty Absolute. 

This Guaranty shall in all respects be a continuing, absolute, unconditional and irrevocable guaranty of 
payment and shall remain in full force and for the full term of the Limited Intellectual Property License 
Agreement and the full term of the Exclusive Supply Agreement referenced above and any extensions of 
either agreement thereof. Guarantor guarantees that the Obligations of Franchisee will be paid Personal 
Guaranty for license fees & invoices strictly in accordance with the terms of the Agreements, regardless of 
any law, regulation or order now or hereafter in effect in any jurisdiction affecting any of such terms or the 
rights of Licensor with respect thereto. 
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4. Reinstatement. 

Guarantor agrees that this Guaranty shall continue to be effective or reinstated, as the case may be, if at any 
time any payment (in whole or part) of any of the Obligations are rescinded or must be restored by Licensor, 
upon the insolvency, bankruptcy or reorganization (or similar event) of the Franchisee, all as though such 
payment had not been made. 

5. Waiver. 

Guarantor hereby waives promptness, diligence, notice of acceptance and any other notice with respect to 
any of the Obligations of the Franchisee and this Guaranty and any requirement that Licensor protect, 
secure, perfect or insure any interest or lien or any property subject thereto, or exhaust any right or take any 
action against Franchisee. 

6. Payments. 

In the event that Franchisee fails to make any payment to Licensor, or fails to perform in any manner with 
regard to said Agreements between the two entities, Guarantor does hereby promise to make all payments 
to Licensor in the same manner as if they were each a principal of said Agreements. 

All payments made by Guarantor shall be in the form of a draft made payable to “GUL M Corp.” as directed 
by the applicable Agreement in Dollars without set-off, counterclaim or other defense and free and clear of 
and without deduction for any Taxes, Guarantor hereby agreeing to comply with and be bound by the 
Agreements in respect of all payments made hereunder and the provisions of which are hereby incorporated 
into and made a part of this Guaranty by this reference as if set forth herein; 

7. Legal Actions, Fees and Costs. 

The liability of Guarantor is coextensive with that of Franchisee and also joint and several and an action or 
suit may be brought against Guarantor, and carried to final judgment and/or completion and recovery had, 
either with or without making Franchisee a party thereto. Guarantor waives any right to require that any 
action be brought against Franchisee. The obligations of Guarantor shall extend with any extension of the 
term of the Agreements and shall apply with respect to the full and faithful performance and observance of 
all the terms and conditions of the Agreements. Guarantor does hereby authorize and empower any attorney 
of any court of record of the State of New York or elsewhere to appear for and to enter judgment against 
him, in favor of Licensor for any sums due under the Agreements plus interest with costs of suit, release of 
errors, without stay of execution, and with reasonable attorney’s fee, and Guarantor hereby waives and 
releases all benefit and relief from any and all appraisement, stay or exemption laws of any state now in 
force or hereafter to be passed. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Guarantor waives all rights to a trial 
by jury in any action related to this Guaranty. 

8. Competency. 

Guarantor, at the time of executing this Guaranty, is over the age of 18 years and of sound mind, memory 
and understanding and not under any restraint or in any respect incompetent to enter into this Guaranty. 

9. Termination. 

The obligations herein shall not be terminated or affected in any way or manner without Licensor’s or 
Company’s written consent. Neither the giving nor withholding by Licensor or Company of any consent or 
approval provided for in this Guaranty shall affect in any way the obligations hereunder of Guarantor. In 
no event shall Guarantor be entitled to make, nor shall Guarantor make, any claim, and Guarantor hereby 
waives any claim, for money damages (nor shall Guarantor claim any money damages by way of set- off, 
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counterclaim or defense) based upon any claim or assertion by Guarantor that Licensor has unreasonably 
withheld or unreasonably delayed its consent or approval to a proposed termination of this Guaranty. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Guarantor(s) has executed and delivered this Personal this _ day of _____ 202_. 

 GUARANTOR(S) 
 
 
  
Signature 
 
 
Printed Name:  
 
Address:  
  
 
 

  
  
Signature 
 
 
Printed Name:  
 
Address:  
  
 
 

  
  
Signature 
 
 
Printed Name:  
 
Address:  
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SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING, INC. 

FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

EXHIBIT “L” 
ELECTRONIC TRANSFER AUTHORIZATION 

Depositor hereby authorizes and requests _____ (the “Depository”) to initiate debit and credit 
entries to Depositor’s LI checking or LI savings account (select one) indicated below drawn by and payable 
to the order of SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING INC. by Electronic Funds Transfer, provided there are 
sufficient funds in said account to pay the amount upon presentation. 

Depositor agrees that the Depository’s rights with respect to each such charge shall be the same as 
if it were a check drawn by the Depository and signed by Depositor. Depositor further agrees that if any 
such charge is dishonored, whether with or without cause and whether intentionally or inadvertently, the 
Depository shall be under no liability whatsoever. 

Depository Name:  

City:  State:  Zip Code:  

Transit/ABA Number:  Account Number:  

This authority is to remain in full force and effect until Company has received written notification 
from me (or either of us) of its termination in such time and in such manner to afford Company and 
Depository a responsible opportunity to act on such request. 

Depositor: (Please Print) 

  

  

  
Dated Signed 

  
Signature(s) of Depositor, as Printed Above 

Please attach a voided blank check, for purposes of setting up Bank and Transit Numbers. 
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SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING, INC. 

FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

EXHIBIT “M” 
POWER OF ATTORNEY  
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IRREVOCABLE POWER OF ATTORNEY 

STATE OF ________________ ) 
) 

COUNTY OF ______________ ) 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS 

That _____, a _____ [state of domicile] [limited liability company / corporation] (“Franchisee”), 
does hereby irrevocably constitute and appoint SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING INC., a New York 
corporation (“Franchisor”), true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent for Franchisee and in Franchisee’s 
name, place and stead to do or cause to be done all things and to sign, execute, acknowledge, certify, deliver, 
accept, record and file all such agreements, certificates, instruments and documents as, in the sole discretion 
of Franchisor, shall be necessary or advisable for the sole purpose of obtaining any and all returns, records, 
reports and other documentation relating to the payment of taxes filed by Franchisee with any state and/or 
federal taxing authority, including, but not limited to, the State Comptroller of the State of _____, hereby 
granting unto Franchisor full power and authority to do and perform any and all acts and things which, in 
the sole discretion of Franchisor, are necessary or advisable to be done as fully to all intents and purposes 
as Franchisee might or could itself do, hereby ratifying and confirming all that Franchisor may lawfully do 
or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney and the powers herein granted. 

During the term of this Power of Attorney, and regardless of whether Franchisee has designated 
any other person to act as its attorney-in-fact and agent, no governmental agency, person, firm or 
corporation dealing with Franchisor, if acting in good faith, shall be required to ascertain the authority of 
Franchisor, nor to see to the performance of the agency, nor be responsible in any way for the proper 
application of documents delivered or funds or property paid or delivered to Franchisor. Any governmental 
agency, person, firm or corporation dealing with Franchisor shall be fully protected in acting and relying 
on a certificate of Franchisor that this Power of Attorney on the date of such certificate has not been revoked 
and is in full force and effect, and Franchisee shall not take any action against any person, firm, corporation 
or agency acting in reliance on such a certificate or a copy of this Power of Attorney. Any instrument or 
document executed on behalf of Franchisee by Franchisor shall be deemed to include such a certificate on 
the part of Franchisor, whether or not expressed. This paragraph shall survive any termination of this Power 
of Attorney. 

This Power of Attorney shall terminate two (2) years following the expiration or termination of that 
certain Franchise Agreement dated as of _____by and between Franchisor and Franchisee. Such 
termination, however, shall not affect the validity of any act or deed that Franchisor may have effected prior 
to such date pursuant to the powers herein granted. 

This instrument is to be construed and interpreted as an irrevocable power of attorney coupled with 
an interest. It is executed and delivered in the State of _____ and the laws of the State of shall govern all 
questions as to the validity of this Power of Attorney and the construction of its provisions. 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Power of Attorney on 

________________ . 

____________________________________a 
___________________________limited liability 
company/corporation/individual 

Witness:  By:  

Name:   

Title:   

STATE OF ________________ ) 
) 

COUNTY OF ______________ ) 

BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, on this day personally appeared _____, of _____, known 
to me to be the person whose name is subscribed to the foregoing instrument, who acknowledged to me 
that s/he executed the same for the purposes and consideration therein expressed and in the capacity therein 
stated. 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND SEAL OF OFFICE this __ day of _____, 20__. 

(SEAL) 
  
Notary Public in and for 
The State of  
My commission expires:  
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SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING, INC. 

FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

EXHIBIT “N” 
AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT (“ADA”) CERTIFICATION 

SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING INC. (“Franchisor”) and __________________ 
(“Franchisee”) are parties to a Franchise Agreement dated for the operation of a Shah’s Halal Restaurant 
at _____ (the “Restaurant”). In accordance with the Franchise Agreement, Franchisee certifies to Franchisor 
that, to the best of Franchisee’s knowledge, the Restaurant and its adjacent areas comply with all applicable 
federal, state and local accessibility laws, statutes, codes, rules, regulations and standards, including but not 
limited to the Americans with Disabilities Act. Franchisee acknowledges that it is an independent business 
and the requirement of this certification by Franchisee does not constitute ownership, control, leasing or 
operation of the Restaurant. Franchisee acknowledges that Franchisor has relied on the information 
contained in this certification. Furthermore, Franchisee acknowledge its obligation under the Franchise 
Agreement to indemnify Franchisor and the officers, directors, and employees of Franchisor in connection 
with any and all claims, losses, costs, expenses, liabilities, compliance costs, and damages incurred by the 
indemnified party(ies) as a result of any matters associated with Franchisee’s compliance with the 
Americans with Disabilities Act, as well as the costs, including attorneys’ fees, related to the same. 

FRANCHISEE: 

  

By:  

Name:  

Title:  
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EXHIBIT E 
 

FORM OF GENERAL RELEASE 

 
THIS AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into this ____ day of, 20___ by and 

between Shah’s Halal Franchising, Inc. (the “Franchisor”), and ________________, hereinafter referred 
to as “Releasor”, wherein the parties hereto, in exchange for good and valuable consideration, the 
sufficiency and receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, and in reliance upon the representations, 
warranties, and comments herein are set forth, do agree as follows: 

1. Release by Releasor:  

Releasor does for itself, its successors and assigns, hereby release and forever discharge 
generally the Franchisor and any affiliate, wholly owned or controlled corporation, subsidiary, successor or 
assign thereof and any shareholder, officer, director, employee, or agent of any of them, from any and all 
claims, demands, damages, injuries, agreements and contracts, indebtedness, accounts of every kind or nature, 
whether presently known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected, disclosed or undisclosed, actual or potential, 
which Releasor may now have, or may hereafter claim to have or to have acquired against them of whatever 
source or origin, arising out of or related to any and all transactions of any kind or character at any time prior 
to and including the date hereof, including generally any and all claims at law or in equity, those arising under 
the common law or state or federal statutes, rules or regulations such as, by way of example only, franchising, 
securities and anti-trust statutes, rules or regulations, in any way arising out of or connected with the 
Agreement, and further promises never from this day forward, directly or indirectly, to institute, prosecute, 
commence, join in, or generally attempt to assert or maintain any action thereon against the Franchisor, any 
affiliate, successor, assign, parent corporation, subsidiary, director, officer, shareholder, employee, agent, 
executor, administrator, estate, trustee or heir, in any court or tribunal of the United States of America, any 
state thereof, or any other jurisdiction for any matter or claim arising before execution of this Agreement. In 
the event Releasor breaches any of the promises covenants, or undertakings made herein by any act or 
omission, Releasor shall pay, by way of indemnification, all costs and expenses of the Franchisor caused by 
the act or omission, including reasonable attorneys’ fees. 

2. Releasor hereto represents and warrants that no portion of any claim, right, demand, 
obligation, debt, guarantee, or cause of action released hereby has been assigned or transferred by Releasor 
party to any other party, firm or entity in any manner including, but not limited to, assignment or transfer by 
subrogation or by operation of law. In the event that any claim, demand or suit shall be made or institute 
against any released party because of any such purported assignment, transfer or subrogation, the assigning 
or transferring party agrees to indemnify and hold such released party free and harmless from and against any 
such claim, demand or suit, including reasonable costs and attorneys’ fees incurred in connection therewith. 
It is further agreed that this indemnification and hold harmless agreement shall not require payment to such 
claimant as a condition precedent to recovery under this paragraph. 

3. Each party acknowledges and warrants that his, her or its execution of this Agreement is 
free and voluntary. 

4. New York law shall govern the validity and interpretation of this Agreement, as well as the 
performance due thereunder. This Agreement is binding upon and inures to the benefit of the respective 
assigns, successors, heirs and legal representatives of the parties hereto. 
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5. In the event that any action is filed to interpret any provision of this Agreement, or to 
enforce any of the terms thereof, the prevailing party shall be entitled to its reasonable attorneys’ fees and 
costs incurred therein, and said action must be filed in the State of New York. 

6. This Agreement may be signed in counterparts, each of which shall be binding against the 
party executing it and considered as the original. 

7. If Releasor is domiciled or has his or her principal place of business in the State of 
California, then Releasor hereby expressly waives and relinquishes all rights and benefits under Section 1542 
of the California Civil Code, which provides: "A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO 
CLAIMS WHICH THE CREDITOR DOES NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT TO EXIST IN HIS FAVOR AT 
THE TIME OF EXECUTING THE RELEASE, WHICH IF KNOWN BY HIM MUST HAVE 
MATERIALLY AFFECTED HIS SETTLEMENT WITH THE DEBTOR." If Releasor is domiciled or has 
his or her principal place of business in the State of Washington, then this GENERAL RELEASE does not 
apply with respect to claims arising under the Washington Investment Protection Act, RCW 19.100, and the 
rules adopted thereunder, except as otherwise permitted under the Washington Investment Protection Act, 
RCW 19.100. If Releasor is domiciled or has his or her principal place of business in the State of Maryland, 
then nothing contained in this release is intended to disclaim or require Releasor to waive reliance on any 
representation that Franchisor made in the Franchise Disclosure Document that Franchisor provided to 
Releasor under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound hereby, have executed 
this agreement effective as of the date first above. 

 RELEASOR: 

             

Name: 

 SHAH’S HALAL FRANCHISING, INC.: 

      By:       

Name:        

Title:       

REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY. 

 

 



 

[EXHIBIT F] 
Shah’s Halal FDD (2024) 

313520804v.1 

EXHIBIT F 
FRANCHISE OPERATIONS MANUAL 
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EXHIBIT G 
LICENSEE ROSTER 

(as of 12/31/2023) 

Licensees Store Address Store Phone # 

Mosajan Hotaky 2699 Merrick Road, Bellmore, NY, 11710 (516) 809-7306 

Abdul Khaksar 
Akbar Shah Khaksar 

522A Walt Whitman Road, Melville, New York (631) 683-4913 

Sayed Ahmad Shirzai 1136 Wantagh Ave, Wantagh, NY, 11793 (516) 785-0425 

Gurash Paiman 4202 A Greenpoint Avenue Sunnyside NY 11104 347-381-0411 

Shorif Rahman 
Mohammed Rahoman 

4 Delaware Ave Albany, NY 12210 (518) 650-6265 

Mohammad Tamim 
Roudy 

86-55 Broadway, Queens NY 11373 (718)-701-8505 

Rian Zaman 2187 Jericho Turnpike, Commack, NY 11725 (315) 285-6417 

Haresh D. Patel 
Dhrumil Patel 
Paresh Patel 
Rinkesh Shethiya 

127 Sunrise Hwy, Freeport, NY 11520 (516) 608-5349 

Jamil Quazi/ QSR LLC 
Rumana Sultana 

975 Main Street, unit 1B, Holbrook, NY 11741 (631) 285-2821 

Abdul Satar Rafiqi 399 New York Avenue, Huntington, NY 11743 (631) 546-1616 

Mehmat Matt Akcay 
Murat Ibrahimadaoglu 
Mustafa Dorak 

500 NY-109, Lindenhurst, NY, 11757 (631) 888-4444 

Haresh D. Patel 
Paresh Patel 

800 Beach St, Long Beach, NY 11561 (516) 992-2381 

Gurash Paiman 2475 Central Park Ave Yonkers, NY 10710  (914) 401-8449 

Joseph M Maffia 
Sarvjeet (Suba) Singh 

JFK travel Plaza Unit 2 Building 125 Jamaica NY 
11430 

718-917-8298 

This is a partnership: we 
pay them to run a shahs 

2150 Hempstead Turnpike Elmont NY 11003 No number 

Gurwinderpal Singh 
Maninder Singh 

5987 Broadway Bronx, NY 10471 631-857-3629 

Pranav Patel 
Bharatkum Limbachia 

755 main St, Paterson, NJ 07503 (973) 881-1234 

Abdul Munim Kark 
Farhan khan 

715 Georges Rd, North Brunswick, NJ 08902 (732) 317-9542 
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Licensees Store Address Store Phone # 

Shorif Rahman 
Yasir Ahmed Choudhury 

412 Semple St, Pittsburgh PA 15213 (412) 802-8222 

Dhrumil Patel 
Haresh D. Patel 
Paresh Patel 
Shirin Patel 
Rinkesh Shethiya 

1535 North 9th street unit 101, Stroudsburg, PA 
18360 

(570) 664-6881 

Shorif Rahman 
Mohammed Rahoman 
Abdur Rahaman Malek 

250 Summit Park Dr. Pittsburgh, PA 15275 (412) 406-2522 

Mitesh Patel 978 liberty St Braintree, MA 02184  (781) 843-5605 

Chokkalingam Manian 
Ramanathan K 
Ramanathan 
Kannan Mani 

90 providence highway Walpole MA 02032 (774) 470 3030 

Niral Patel 
Mitesh Patel 

1124 Boylston St, Boston, MA, 02115 (617) 936-3955 

Niral Patel 
Mitesh Patel 

106 Cambridge Street, Boston MA 02114 (857) 239-9229 

DBRJ Bros LLC 
Tahibullah Salimi 

360 Connecticut Ave. Norwalk, CT 06854 (203) 354-2932 

DBRJ Bros LLC 
Urias Rodriguez Carlos 
Tahibullah Salimi 

116 stone Post Rd Orange, CT 06477 (203) 298-4240 

DBRJ Bros LLC 
Darwaish Shirzai 

1092 Hope St. Stamford, CT 06907 203-355-1426 

DBRJ Bros LLC 
Darwaish Shirzai 

245 Main st, Stamford CT 06901 203-276-1778 

DBRJ Bros LLC 
Urias Rodriguez Carlos 

4615 main st Suite A, Bridgeport, CT 06606 475-422-9083 

DBRJ Bros LLC 
Ravi T. Peddi 
Ramakrishna R. 
Mullapati 
Sharanya R. Pagidi 

344 Main st, Middletown, CT 06457 860-358-9153 

Mohammed Mashriqi 
Jamshed Shirzai 
Rafi Mashriqi 

61 Newtown Rd, Danbury CT 06810 203-826-9839 

Mohammad Shahid 
Naseer 
Nadeem Muhammad 

26670 Center view Drive Unit 7, Millsboro, DE 
19966 

(302) 933-8032 
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Licensees Store Address Store Phone # 

Ashraf 
Jawad Ullah Tajik 

Mohammad Shahid 
Naseer 
Nadeem Muhammad 
Ashraf 

13 Chestnut Hill Plaza, Newark, DE 19713 (302) 294-1829 

Mohammed R Karim 
Mostofa Mohammad 

578 Cranbrook Rd, Cockeysville, MD 21030 (410) 248-4116 

Mohammad Shahid 
Naseer 
Nadeem Muhammad 
Ashraf 
Jawad Ullah Tajik 

111 Truitt St Unit B, Salisbury, MD 21804   (443) 210-2662 

Mohammad Shahid 
Naseer 
Nadeem Muhammad 
Ashraf 
Jawad Ullah Tajik 

8223 Elliot RD #3, Easton MD, 21601 410-690-8657 

Amanullah Noori 
Shershah Popal 
Asadullah Qayum 

14605 Baltimore Avenue unit B, MD 20707 202-760-5802 

Noruallah Powanda 
Shershah Popal 
Asadullah Qayum 
Shah Raufi 

5701 Columbia Pike Suite C, Falls Church, VA 
22042 

 (571) 347-7316 

Atiq Bahrami 
Nadir Harooni 
Hassan Harooni 

8256b Richmond Hwy, Alexandria, VA 22309 571-589-7948 

Mohammad R. Karim 
Adbellah Marhoum 

10689 Sudley Manor Drive Manassas, VA 20109 703-763-3392 

Shershah Popal 
Asadullah Qayum 

1474 North Point Dr. Reston VA 20109 571-375-7812 

Khurram Hameed 
Sohail Hameed 

5450 Peachtree pkwy suit 8B Norcross GA 30092 (678) 292-6426 

Toryali Mashriqi 3000 west capitol Ave west Sacramento CA 95691 (916) 572-0219 
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EXHIBIT H 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

Shah's Halal Food Partners, Inc. 

Financial Statements 

As of December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021  
Together With 

Independent Auditors Report 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Shareholders 

Shah's Halal Food Partners, Inc. 

Amityville, NY 11701 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Shah's Halal Food Partners, Inc.(a New 
York corporation) which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, and 
the related statements of operations and retained earnings, and cash flows for the years then ended, 
and the related notes to the financial statements. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Shah's Halal Food Partners, Inc. as of December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, and 
the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to 
be independent of Shah's Halal Food Partners, Inc. and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about Shah's Halal Food 
Partners, Inc.'s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the financial 
statements are available to be issued. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute 
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, 
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based 
on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the 
audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Shah's Halal Food Partners, Inc.'s 
internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the 
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about Shah's Halal Food Partners, Inc.'s ability 
to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal 
control related matters that we identified during the audit. 

Sincerely, 

 

Rochester, New York  
April 5, 2024 
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SHAH'S HALAL FOOD PARTNERS, INC. 

BALANCE SHEETS 
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 

ASSETS 

CURRENT ASSETS 
2023 2022 2021 

      
Cash and Cash Equivalents $

 737,97
$ 49,126 $ 47,196 

Accounts Receivable 114,944 23,974 48,054 
Prepaid Insurance   1,679 1,525 
Prepaid Income Taxes   23,053 2,711 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 852,917 97,832 99,486 

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
      

Vehicles 130,000     
  130,000     

Less: Accumulated Depreciation (4,333)     
TOTAL PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET 125,667     

OTHER ASSETS 
      

Due from Related Parties, Net 143,790 102,492 77,202 
TOTAL OTHER ASSETS 143,790 102,492 77,202 

TOTAL ASSETS $
 1,122,37

$ 200,324 $ 176,688 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 
      

Accounts Payable $
 5,16

$ 42,265 $ 45,561 
Accrued Payroll 1,514     
Income Taxes Payable 224,964     
Due to Shareholders 60,000 9,716 9,716 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 291,643 51,981 55,277 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 
      

Deferred Tax Liability 73,400 16,600 17,800 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 365,043 68,581 73,077 

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY       
Common Stock 20,000 20,000 20,000 
Retained Earnings 737,331 111,743 83,611 

  757,331 131,743 103,611 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' 
EQUITY 

$
 1,122,37

$ 200,324 $ 176,688 
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SHAH'S HALAL FOOD PARTNERS, INC.   
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND RETAINED EARNINGS  

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 

 
2023 2022 2021 

FRANCHISE FEES COLLECTED $ 1,172,406 $ 412,414 225,832 

OPERATING EXPENSES 
      

Advertising and Promotion 9,270 5,000 14,459 
Automobile Expenses 67   13 
Bank Service Fees 336 375 138 
Charitable Contributions   5,000   
Commissions 30,000     
Computer and Internet 4,170     
Depreciation 4,333     
Dues and Subscriptions 409 2,400 2,830 
Insurance Expense 7,619 14,577 5,955 
Office Expense 289     
Payroll Processing Fees 340     
Payroll Taxes 2,088     
Professional and Legal Fees 73,785 269,225 36,396 
Sponsorship 25,750 50,750 50,000 
Salaries and Wages 24,462     

Trade Marks   9,158 10,600 
  182,918 356,485 120,391 

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS 989,488 55,929 105,441 

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES (313,900) (27,797) (26,566) 

NET INCOME 675,588 28,132 78,875 

Retained Earnings, Beginning of Year 111,743 83,611 64,736 

Less: Shareholder Dividends (50,000) 
  

(60,000) 
Retained Earnings, End of Year $ 737,331 $ 111,743 $ 83,611 

The accompanying notes are an integral 
part of these financial statements 
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SHAH'S HALAL FOOD PARTNERS, INC.   
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 

  2023 2022 2021 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
      

Net Income $ 675,588 $ 28,132 $ 78,875 
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to Net Cash       

Flows From Operating Activities:       
Depreciation Expense 4,333     
Deferred Income Tax Expense (Benefit) 56,800 (1,200) 16,000 

Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities:       
Accounts Receivable (90,970) 24,080 (44,214) 
Prepaid Insurance 1,679 (154) (144) 
Prepaid Income Taxes 23,053 (20,342) (2,711) 
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses (37,100) (3,296) 45,561 
Accrued Payroll 1,514     
Income Tax Payable 224,964     

NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 859,861 27,220 93,367 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
      

Acquisition of Fixed Assets (130,000)     
NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (130,000)     

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
      

Increase (Decrease) in Amounts Due to Shareholders 50,284   (4,000) 
(Increase) Decrease in Amounts Due from Related Parties (41,298) (25,290) (37,288) 
Shareholder Dividends (50,000)   (60,000) 

NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (41,014) (25,290) (101,288) 

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 688,847 1,930 (7,921) 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF 
YEAR 

49,126 47,196 55,117 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR $ 737,973 $ 49,126 $ 47,196 

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information 

9,083 $ 49,339 $ 13,277 Cash Paid for Income Taxes 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral 
part of these financial statements 
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SHAH'S HALAL FOOD PARTNERS, INC.  
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   

DECEMBER 31, 2023, 2022 AND 2021 

Note 1 — Nature of Operations 

Nature of Operations  

Shah's Halal Food Partners, Inc. (the Company) is a New York State Corporation that was 
incorporated in 2017. The Company's mission is to provide high quality Halal food in Long Island, 
New York and surrounding areas through the franchising of individual locations. 

Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Method of Accounting  

The Company prepares its financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the 

United States of America, which means that revenue is recognized when earned and expenses when 
incurred. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents  

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Company considers all highly liquid instruments 
with original maturities of three months or less and investments in money market funds to be cash 
equivalents. At times, bank balances may exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not 
experienced any losses in such accounts and believes it is not exposed to any significant risk. 

Accounts Receivable  

The Company provides credit in the normal course of business to its customers. Accounts receivable 
are stated at the amount that the Company expects to collect from the customer at a future date. The 
Company maintains an allowance for credit losses for amounts that are estimated to be uncollectible 
based on past experience, how long the account has been outstanding, and various collection attempts. 
The estimate for future uncollectible accounts receivable is determined at the inception of the 
customer contract. No allowance for credit losses was deemed necessary at December 31, 2023, 2022 
and 2021. 

Revenue Recognition  

The Company's operating revenues are derived primarily from fees related to franchising their 
restaurant locations. Revenues are generally recognized using the following five-step process, 1) 
identify the contract with a specific customer, 2) identify the performance obligation(s) in the 
contract(s), 3) determine the transaction price, 4) allocate the transaction price to the performance 
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obligation(s) in the contract(s), and 5) recognize revenue as the Company satisfies a performance 
obligation. Revenue from these sales are recognized when the Company bills the customer 
periodically for their franchise fee.  

In the process of performing its contracts with its customers, the Company considers each contract to 
be one performance obligation unless the circumstances dictate otherwise. 

Combined Contract 

The Company evaluates whether two or more contracts should be combined and accounted for as one 
single contract and whether the combined or single contract should be accounted for as more than 
one performance obligation. This evaluation requires significant judgement and the decision to 
combine a group of contracts or separate the combined or single contract into multiple performance 
obligations could change the amount of revenue and profit recorded in a given period. 

Contract Modifications  

Contract modifications are routine in the performance of the Company's contracts. Contracts are often 
modified to account for changes in the contract specifications or requirements. In most instances, 
contract modifications are for services that are not distinct, and therefore, are accounted for as part 
of the existing contract. 

Contract Estimates  

It is reasonably possible that changes in estimates may occur in the near term and those revisions and 
cost and revenue estimates are reflected in the period in which the facts that require the revisions 
become known. 
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SHAH'S HALAL FOOD PARTNERS, INC.  
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   

DECEMBER 31, 2023, 2022 AND 2021 

Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Transaction Price  

The Company includes in the contract estimates additional revenue for submitted contract 
modifications or claims against the borrower when the Company believes it has an enforceable right 
to the modification or claim, the amount can be estimated reliably and its realization is probable. In 
evaluating these criteria, the Company considers the contractual/legal basis for the claim, the cause 
of any additional costs incurred, the reasonableness of those costs and the objective evidence 
available to support the claim. The Company includes award or incentive fees in the estimated 
transaction price when there is a basis to reasonably estimate the amount of the fee. These estimates 
are based on historical award experience, anticipated performance and the Company's best judgment 
at the time. Because of certainty in estimating these amounts, they are included in the transaction 
price of the contracts and the associated remaining performance obligations. 

Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment is stated at cost. Major improvements are charged to property, plant and 
equipment while maintenance and repairs which do not extend the useful lives of the asset are 
expensed currently. For financial reporting purposes, depreciation is computed using the straight-line 
method based on the following estimated useful lives: 

Vehicles 5 years 

Depreciation expense was $4,333 for the year ended December 31, 2023. There was no depreciation 
expense for each of the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021. 

Advertising  

The Company expenses all advertising costs as they are incurred. Advertising expense for the years 
ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 totaled $9,270, $5,000 and $14,459, respectively. 

Income Taxes  

Income taxes are provided for the tax effects of transactions reported in the financial statements and 
consist of taxes currently due plus deferred taxes related primarily to differences between the bases 
of certain assets and liabilities for financial and tax reporting. The deferred taxes represent the future 
tax return consequences of those differences, which will either be deductible or taxable when the 
assets and liabilities are recovered or settled. 
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Use of Estimates  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, and the reported revenues and 
expenses. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates. 

New Accounting Pronouncement 

In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the "FASB") issued Accounting Standards 
Update ("ASU") No. 2016-13, which requires entities to develop an estimate of their allowance for 
credit losses on receivable balances at their fiscal year end and disclose key information regarding 
the estimate. The new standard modifies the previous accounts receivable allowance method, which 
required entities to increase their allowance for doubtful accounts as losses occurred on the 
receivable, and now requires entities to record a loss provision at the origination of the customer 
contract based on Current Expected Credit Losses (CECL). The allowance for credit losses is shown 
net of receivables on the face of the balance sheet. ASU No. 2016-13 is effective for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2022. Management has adopted ASU 2016-13 for the year ended 
December 31, 2023, with retrospective application applied to all periods presented. 

Subsequent Events  

Subsequent events have been evaluated by management through April 5, 2024, which is the date the 
financial statements were available for issuance. 
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SHAH'S HALAL FOOD PARTNERS, INC.  
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   

DECEMBER 31, 2023, 2022 AND 2021  

Note 3 — Related Party Transactions 

At various times throughout the year, the Company will receive and disburse funds to their shareholders. There are 
no set payment terms involved in these transactions, and the Company expects these transactions to be completed 
within the twelve months following the fiscal year-end. Amounts due to the Company's shareholders at December 
31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 totaled $60,000, $9,716 and $9,716, respectively. 

Note 4 — Intercompany Balances 

Amounts due from (due to) related parties have no set repayment terms and are summarized as follows at 
December 31: 

  2023 2022 2021 
Gul M Corp   $ 13,614 $ 38,614 
Shah's Halal Food Corp   (3,000)   
Shah's Halal Foods and Products, Inc.   (26,912) (26,912) 
Shah's Denville, Inc. 30,500     
Shah's Malmo, Inc. 50,000     
Shah's Management,. Inc. 63,290 62,290 10,000 
Shah's Massapequa, Inc.   11,500   
Shah's Stony Brook, Inc.   20,000 20,000 
Shah's Strousburgh, Inc.   15,000   
Shah's White Plains, Inc.   10,000   
Zhiri 7     35,500 

  $143,790 $102,492 $ 77,202 

Note 5 — Commitments 

In October of 2021, the Company entered a sponsorship agreement to receive various sponsorship benefits, 
including an arena concession location and IP rights, for a professional hockey team. The agreement requires bi-
annual payments of $25,000 during the first contract year of July 1, 2021 through June 30, 2022, and bi-annual 
payments of $25,750 during the second contract year of July 1, 2022 through June 30, 2023. The agreement 
includes an option to renew the agreement on a year-by-year basis. Sponsorship payments incurred by the 
Company related to this agreement totaled $25,750, $50,750 and $50,000 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 
2022 and 2021, respectively. 

The Company did not renew the agreement upon expiration.  

Note 6 — Provision for Income Taxes  

The provision for income taxes consisted of the following for the years ended December 31: 

  2023 2022 2021 
Federal $150,300 $ 11,264 $ 7,729 
State and City 106,800 17,733 2,837 
Deferred 56,800 (1,200) 16,000 

  
$313,900 $ 27,797 $ 26,566 
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SHAH'S HALAL FOOD PARTNERS, INC.  
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   

DECEMBER 31, 2023, 2022 AND 2021  

Note 6 - Provision for Income Taxes (Continued) 

The provision for income taxes differs from the amount of income tax determined by applying the 
applicable statutory federal income tax rate (21%) to pre-tax income as follows: 

  2023 2022 2021 
Computed "expected" tax expense $207,792 $ 11,745 $ 22,143 
State/City tax, net of federal benefit 101,620 5,744 10,829 
Other 4,487 10,308 (6,405) 

  $313,900 $ 27,797 $ 26,566 
 

Significant components of the Company's deferred tax liability are as follows at December 31: 

Deferred Income Tax Assets (Liabilities): 
2023 2022 2021 

      
Accounts Receivable $ (39,100) $ (8,200) $ (16,400) 
Prepaid Expenses   (8,400) (1,400) 
Property and Equipment (34,300)     

  $ (73,400) $ (16,600) $ (17,800) 
 

The Company is required to file income tax returns with Federal, New York State and New York City 
taxing authorities. Tax returns remain open for examination by the respective taxing authorities for the 2018 
through 2022 tax years. The Company has determined that it has no uncertain tax positions. 
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EXHIBIT I 
STATE EFFECTIVE DATES 

The following states require that the Franchise disclosure document be registered or filed with the 
state, or be exempt from registration: California, Hawaii, Illinois, Indiana, Maryland, Minnesota, Michigan, 
New York, North Dakota, Rhode Island, South Dakota, Virginia, Washington and Wisconsin. 

This document is registered, on file or exempt from registration in the following states having 
franchise registration and disclosure laws, with the following effective dates: 

STATE EFFECTIVE DATE 
California  
Hawaii  
Illinois  
Indiana  
Maryland  
Michigan  
Minnesota  
New York  
North Dakota   
Rhode Island  
South Dakota  
Virginia  
Washington  
Wisconsin  

 
Other states may require registration, filing, or exemption of a franchise under other laws, such as 

those that regulate the offer and sale of business opportunities or seller-assisted marketing plans. 
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This disclosure document summarizes certain provisions of the franchise agreement and other information in 
plain language. Read this disclosure document and all agreements carefully. 

If Shah’s Halal Franchising Inc. offers you a franchise, it must provide this disclosure document to you 14 
calendar days before you sign a binding agreement with, or make a payment to, the franchisor or an affiliate in connection 
with the proposed franchise sale. New York and Rhode Island require that we give you this disclosure document at the 
earlier of the first personal meeting or 10 business days before the execution of the franchise or other agreement or the 
payment of any consideration that relates to the franchise relationship. Michigan, Oregon, and Wisconsin require that we 
give you this disclosure document at least 10 business days before the execution of any binding franchise or other 
agreement or the payment of any consideration, whichever occurs first. Washington requires that we give you this 
disclosure document at least 14 business days before the execution of any binding franchise or other agreement or the 
payment of any consideration, whichever occurs first. 

If Shah’s Halal Franchising Inc. does not deliver this disclosure document on time or if it contains a false or 
misleading statement, or a material omission, a violation of federal law and state law may have occurred and should be 
reported to the Federal Trade Commission, Washington, DC 20580 and the appropriate state agency listed on Exhibit B. 

The franchisor is Shah’s Halal Franchising Inc., located at 12 Hattie Court Hicksville, NY 11801. Its telephone 
number is (917) 704-7652. 

The issuance date of this disclosure document is April 10, 2024.  

The name, principal business address and telephone number of each franchise seller offering the franchise is as 
follows:  N/A 

Shah’s Halal Franchising Inc. authorizes the agents listed in Exhibit C to receive service of process for it. 

I have received a disclosure document dated as of April 10, 2024 that included the following Exhibits: 

Exhibit A — State Specific Addenda 
Exhibit B — State Administrators 
Exhibit C — Agents for Service of Process 
Exhibit D — Franchise Agreement 
Exhibit E — Form of General Release 
Exhibit F — Operations Manual Table of Contents 
Exhibit G — Franchisee Roster 
Exhibit H — Financial Statements 
Exhibit I — State Effective Dates 
Exhibit J — Receipts 

Date:   
(Do not leave blank) 

 
You may return the signed receipt either by 
electronic signature or by signing, dating and 
mailing it to Shah’s Halal Franchising Inc., 12 
Hattie Court Hicksville, NY 11801 

Signature of Prospective Franchisee: 

Print Name: 
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